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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, DC 20549

FORM 10-K

Xl ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For fiscal year ended December 31, 2008
OR
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to

Commission file number: 0-31659

NOVATEL WIRELESS, INC.

(exact name of registrant as specified in its chaat)

Delaware 86-082467:
(State or Other Jurisdiction (I.LR.S. Employet
of Incorporation or Organization) Identification No.)

9645 Scranton Roa
San Diego, California 92121
(Address of Principal Executive Offices (zip code
Registrant’s telephone number, including area codg858) 320-8800
Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) e Act: None

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) dlfie Act:
Common Stock, par value $.001 per share

Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is a vikelbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405cdbéturities
Act. YesO No

Indicate by check mark if the Registrant is notuiegd to file reports pursuant to Section 13 ort®ecl5(d) of the
Act. YesO No

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant ék)filed all reports required to be filed by Sewti3 or 15(d) of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preagdid months (or for such shorter period that thgi®eant was required
file such reports), and (2) has been subject tb filiog requirements for the past 90 days. ¥ddNo

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquilets pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K it oontained herein,
and will not be contained, to the best of Regidtssknowledge, in definitive proxy or informatiotatements incorporated by
reference in Part Ill of this Form 10-K or any arderent to this Form 10-KXI

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrantlésge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a-accelerated filer, or
smaller reporting company. See the definitionslafde accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” argirfaller reporting
company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Chenk):

Large accelerated fileEl Accelerated fileixI Non-Accelerated filerd Smaller Reporting Companiy]

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrantskell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Bxgje
Act). Yes No

The aggregate market value of the voting commocksteld by non-affiliates of the Registrant, basadhe closing
price of the Registrant’'s common stock on June&2808, as reported by The Nasdaqg Global Select Marlees
approximately $340,721,521. For the purposes efdhiculation, shares owned by officers and dirsdfand their affiliates
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have been excluded. This exclusion is not intendedshall it be deemed, to be an admission thet persons are
affiliates of the Registrant. The Registrant doeshave any non-voting stock issued or outstanding.

The number of shares of the Registrant's commarkstatstanding as of March 1,52009 was 30,401,935.
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of the Registrant’s definitive proxy statt for the 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholderbediled with the
Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to IR&gu 14A are incorporated by reference into Radf this Form 10K
to the extent stated herein.
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Forward-Looking Statements

This report contains forward-looking statementsimithe meaning of Section 27A of the Securities #1933 and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 193 should not place undue reliance on theserstates. These forward-
looking statements include statements that reflecviews of our senior management with respeoutacurrent expectatior
assumptions, estimates and projections about NiowAteless and our industry. Statements that ineltiet words “may,”
“could,” “should,” “would,” “estimate,” “anticipatg “believe,” “expect,” “preliminary,” “intend,” “gan,” “project,”

“outlook,” “will” and similar words and phrases iaiify forward-looking statements. Forward-lookingtements address
matters that involve risks and uncertainties tloaila cause actual results to differ materially frihmase anticipated in these
forward-looking statements as of the date of taport. We believe that these factors include thievidng:

” ”ou " u ” w ”

» the impact of uncertain global economic conditionghe demand for our produc

» our ability to compete in the market for wirelesedilband data access produ

» our ability to introduce and sell new products thainply with evolving industry standards, includi®@ standards
» our ability to develop and maintain strategic rielaships to expand into new marke

» our dependence on a small number of customersdobstantial portion of our revenu

» demand for broadband wireless access to entemetseorks and the Interne

» the outcome of pending or future litigation, indluglthe current class action securities litigatonl intellectual
property litigation;

» the impact of the current global credit crisis ba value and liquidity of the securities in ouréstment portfolio

» our ability to properly manage the growth of ousimess to avoid significant strains on our managemed
operations and disruptions to our busini

» our reliance on third parties to manufacture oedpcts;

» our ability to accurately forecast customer demamdl order sufficient product quantiti

» our reliance on sole source suppliers for some oco@pts used in our produc

» infringement claims with respect to intellectuabperty contained in our produc

» our continued ability to license necessary i-party technology for the development of our prodi

» risks associated with doing business abroad, imutufibreign currency risk

» our ability to hire, retain and manage additionzdlfied personnel to maintain and expand our leggnanc

» our ability to timely comply with public reportingbligations and maintain the listing of our comnsbock on The
Nasdag Global Select Marki

The foregoing factors should not be construed haestive and should be read together with the atfetionary
statements included in this and other reports ieenfith the Securities and Exchange Commissiorudiog the information
in “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in Part | of this repolt one or more events related to these or otis&s ror uncertainties
materialize, or if our underlying assumptions praw®e incorrect, actual results may differ matsritom what we
anticipate.

Trademarks

“Novatel Wireless,” the Novatel Wireless logo, “NifF‘Merlin,” “MobiLink,” “Expedite,” “Ovation,” “C onversa,”
“TotalMobilelnternet,” and “NovaSpeed” are tradeksaof Novatel Wireless, Inc. Other trademarks,déradmes or service
marks used in this report are the property of thespective owners.
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PART |

ltem 1. Business
Overview

We are a provider of wireless broadband accessiaatufor the worldwide mobile communications markaur broad
range of products includes third generation, or8igeless PC card and ExpressCard modems, embeadodeims, USB
modems and other fixemhobile convergence, or FMC, solutions and commuiaica software for wireless network operat
infrastructure providers, distributors, originauggment manufacturers, or OEMs, and vertical markeiridwide. Through
the integration of our hardware and software, saodpcts are designed to operate on a majorityefbrld’s wireless
networks and provide mobile subscribers with seemconvenient high speed access to corporatéic puiad personal
information through the Internet and enterprisevoeks. We also offer software engineering, intégratind design services
to our customers to facilitate the use of our patslu

Our global customer base is comprised of wirelgggators, laptop PC and other OEMs, distributots\arious
companies in other vertical markets. Our currestamer base includes wireless operators and otineleas market
participants such as Orange, Sprint PCS, Telefohiedzon Wireless, Vodafone and OEM partners saagbell, Foxconn,
Panasonic, Sony, and Toshiba. We have stratediadéngy, development and marketing relationshiph wéveral of these
customers.

For the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 ar@] 2d@&nue recognized from sales of our products$221.0
million, $429.9 million, and $218.0 million, respely.

We were incorporated in 1996 under the laws ofStae of Delaware.

Our Strategy

Our objective is to be the leading provider of latm@nd multimedia solutions for the worldwide moldi@mmunications
market. The key elements of our strategy are to:

» Broaden our Product Offerin¢ We intend to diversify and continue to broadenpmnaduct line in the following
areas: wireless PC Card and ExpressCard modemggdeledh modems, Fixed-Mobile Convergence solutioms, a
software services and solutiol

» Expand Our 3G Wireless PC Card and ExpressCard Mo@éferings Worldwid: We intend to continue expanding
our portfolio of 3G wireless PC Card and Expressi@aodem products with leading wireless operators
worldwide. We have introduced fourteen 3G productduding EV-DO, HSDPA and HSUPA products and pian
continue to introduce new products aimed at the gemeration technologie

» Lead the Embedded Mar.. From the beginning of 2005 to the end of 2008 reeeived design wins from six
leading laptop manufacturers and additional maggehaevice manufacturers to embed our 3G prodotigheir
product lines. These wins include Dell and Toshitv®, of the world’s largest laptop PC manufacturérsaddition,
during that period we also received several upgaaders from existing key customers for our nexiegation 3G
products. In the future, we will continue to pursuilitional opportunities with current OEM partnarsl with other
leading OEM partners as we look to achieve theskstrnarket share of the embedded market. For sbow ©EM
partners, we build to order. For others, our tetdgis embedded in specific wireless SKUs or imtoduct lines.
Most of our OEM customers are addressing world-wigdekets and are shipping our EV-DO, HSDPA and HSUP
products

» Capitalize on Our Direct Relationships with Wiredg3perators We intend to continue to capitalize on our dii
relationships with wireless operators in ordemtréase our worldwide market position.

1

file://c:\WINNT\Profiles\hallers\Desktop\Form -K 2008.htn 5/5/201(



Form 1(-K Page6 of 85

Table of Contents

the United States and internationally, we are wagldlosely with wireless operators of EV-DO, UMTSBPA and
HSUPA wireless network:

Leverage Strategic Relationships with Wireless stiguleaders We believe that strategic relationships with v
and mobile computing industry leaders are critioadur ability to leverage sales opportunities andure that our
technology investments address customer needsudhgtrategic relationships, we believe that weinarease
market penetration and differentiate our produgtadressing the resources of others, includingsadeedistributiol
resources, and dedicated sales and marketing cesoand addressing new market opportunities througivation
with our selected partners. We intend to contimigedevelopment and leverage of strategic relatipash our target
market.

Continue to Target Key Vertical Market Opportursteend Penetrate New Marke We believe that ¢-going
developments in wireless technologies will crealdittonal vertical market opportunities and morglagtions for
our products. Currently, we market our broadbanel$s access solutions to key vertical industgyremts by
offering innovative products that are intendednicréase productivity, reduce costs and create tipesa
efficiencies.

Increase the Value of Our Produ. We will continue to add new features and funaldg to our products an
develop new services and software applicationsib@ece the overall value and ease of use thatrodupts provide
to our customers and end ust

Our Products

Our products are designed to operate across 3Gnetwncluding:

Code Division Multiple Acce, or CDMA, 1xEV-DO is designed to be employed by CDMA operatind provide
wireless access speeds comparable to wirelineatiggibscriber line, or DSL, services. Subscribarsattain
wireless access to data at maximum speeds of 2@ tmegabits per second, or Mbps, on CDMA 1xEV-D&y R
networks and 3.1 Mbps on CDMA 1xI-DO Rev A networks

High Speed Downlink Packet Acci or HSDPA is an enhancement of tUniversal Mobile Telecommunicatio
Systemor UMTS,standard which enables packet data transmissittreldMTSdownlink with data transmission at
maximum speeds of up to 14.4 MbptSDPAcan be implemented as an upgrade to culddhit Sinfrastructure.
With UMTS subscribers can attain wireless access to datadmum speeds of up to 384 kilobits per second, o
kbps.UMTES s also referred to as Wideband Code Division MldtAccess, or \-CDMA.

High Speed Uplink Packet Acc, orHSUP/, is another release to the evolving 3G stand&t8&JPA employs an
extremely efficient procedure for sending datalenuplink channel. The theoretical speed for datthe uplink is
5.76 Mbps and the downlink will achieve HSDPA thetiral speeds of up to 14.4 Mb

Enhanced Data Rates for Global Evolut, or EDGE, defines signal modulation schemes that will permich
higher data rates to be achievedi8Mand TDMA networks. Rates up to 384 Kbps are expected whiltlemable
the delivery of multimedia and other broadband iapfibns to mobile phone and computer us

2

file://c:\WINNT\Profiles\hallers\Desktop\Form -K 2008.htn 5/5/201(



Form 1(-K Page7 of 85

Table of Contents

The following table sets forth our current prindipeoduct lines and applications:

Product Applications
Wireless PC Card and ExpressCard Moderr

» Merlin Wireless PC cards and ExpressCards faMa& » Laptop PCs and other platforms supporting
1xEV-DO Rev A PCMCIA and ExpressCard/34/54 interfa

» Merlin Wireless ExpressCards for CDMA 1xEV-DO
Rev A, HSDPA and HSUF

Embedded PCI Express Mini Card Modem:

» Expedite PCI Express Mini Card for HSUPA and » Laptops and wireless devices requiring an
CDMA 1xEV-DO Rev £ integrated solutic

Fixed-Mobile Convergence Solution

» Ovation USB modems for CDMA 1xE-DO Rev A, Laptop PCs and other platforms supporting L
EDGE and HSUP. interface

Merlin Wireless PC Card and ExpressCard Modems

Our Merlin Wireless PC CaradndExpressCard modenpsovide mobile subscribers with secure and corergriigh-
speed wireless access to data including corpguatdic and personal information through the Intéaral enterprise
networks. Each of ouvlerlin Wireless PC CardndExpressCard modent®nnects to
standard laptop PCs and other products employing®®& or ExpressCard/34/54 interfaces, respectivAlyof our modem:
utilize modem manager software and are compatiliteawange of devices including laptop PCs, PDAsbile phones, as
well as operating systems including Microsoft Wingo98, 2000, Millennium Edition, XP, Vista and PetPC. The
following is a representative selection of our entMerlin Wireless PC Car@ndExpressCard modems

* TheMerlin PC720is a dual band (800/1900 MHz) wireless Express@adem designed to provide mobile
broadband connections up to 3.1 Mbps on CDMA 1xEV{Rev A networks in North America and is backward
compatible to legacy CDMA networks. TMerlin PC720incorporates an external flip antenna, maximiziata
speed performance and allowing for stronger netwgakal receptior

* The Merlin XV620 ExpressCard with 3G EV-DO wirelgsshnology, enables mobile broadband connectiprie u
2.4 Mbps and is backward compatible to legacy CDivtworks. The Merlin XV620 incorporates an advandedl
band diversity design which enhances performancadimizing data throughput with a convenient Exétr
Antenna Connecto

» TheMerlin X72( ExpressCard provides high-speed connectivity telE¥Rev A networks with data speeds up to
3.1 Mbps in North America and is backward compatibllegacy CDMA networks. It has an advanced daat
diversity antenna system design that incorporatesxéernal flip antenna, maximizing data speedguarénce and
allowing for stronger network signal reception. Terlin X720contains A-GPS capability allowing the end-user to
retrieve location data from GPS satellit

» TheMerlin XU87(is a tr-band HSDPA/UMTS (850/1900/2100 MHz) and g-band EDGE/GPR:
(850/900/1800/1900 MHz) wireless ExpressCard Modesigned to provide mobile subscribers with higeesh
wireless access to data over 3G UMTS/HSDPA netwdikeMerlin XU870enables mobile broadband connections
up to 7.2 Mbps with software upgrade. TWerlin XU870o0perates on networks in North America, Europe and
countries around the world in supported bai

» TheMerlin X950DExpressCard is a tri-band HSUPA and quad-band EBBRSS wireless modem designed to be
used in both ExpressCard/34 and 54 slots as welitasour adapters in PCMCIA ar

3
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USB slots. TheX950LC enables mobile broadband connections of up tdvbjis and download speeds up to 7.2
Mbps on HSDPA networks, and contains GPS capabilitg Merlin X950Doperates on networks in Europe and
countries around the world in supported bai

Expedite Embedded PCI Express Mini Card Modem©®feivs

Our Expedite Embedded PCI Express Mini Card modamas form factor specification designed for @assgration
into multiple laptop platforms and other wirelegvites. EacliExpedite Embedded PCI Express Mini Card modaables
wireless highspeed streaming video and audio, secure accessitsavith large attachments and other corpordteimation
stored behind firewalls providing reliable conneityi, maximum data throughput and efficient managetrof device power
consumption. The following is a representative @@ of our currenExpedite Embedded PCI Express Mini Card modems

* TheExpedite E76 PCI Express Mini Card includes receiver diversity800 and 1900 MHz band CDMA2000
1XEV-DO and CDMA2000 1X network:

» TheExpedite EU850 PCI Express Mini Card with an integrated SIM ho|ddfers high performance to the user
operates globally on 850, 1900, and 2100 MHz bamddSDPA and UMTS network

» TheExpedite E72 PCI Express Mini Card provides dual band (800/18B{r) wireless access and is designed to
provide mobile broadband connections at speeds 8altMbps on CDMA 1XE-DO Rev A networks

» TheExpedite EU860 PCI Express Mini Card operates globally on 85@0%nd 2100 MHz bands on HSDPA and
UMTS networks with mobile broadband connection sigsagp to 3.6 Mbps on the downlink and up to 384 Kop
the uplink on HSDPA/UMTS capable networ

» TheExpedite EU870 is optimized for Europe and offers diversity, elqaea and operates globally on 850, 1900 and
2100 MHz bands on HSDPA and UMTS networks. Hxpedite EU870Dransmits wireless data at speeds up to 3.6
Mbps on the downlink and up to 384 Kbps on thenkptin HSDPA/UMTS networks

Fixed-Mobile Convergence Solutions

Our OvationUSB product line provides wireless connectivitieithangeably to both desktop and other fixed caimgu
devices and to laptop PCs and other portable cangpdevices. The following is a representative c@a of our current
Ovationproducts:

* TheOvation MC76! Mircro USB Modem, is a micro-sized broadband In&trdevice with high-capacity removable
memory storage. The integrated microSD slot oMi@¥60provides flexible portable storage options without
hindering Internet connection performance. MC76( operates on E-DO Rev A networks

» TheOvation MC990I is a 2-in-1 mobile broadband USB modem with mi@6t& (high capacity) removable
memory, optimized for Europe and North Americawdbwnload rates of 7.2 Mbps and upload speedp t6 5.7
Mbps. TheMC990L operates on the HSDPA, and EDGE netwa

» TheOvation MC930I operates on HSDPA/HSUPA (2100MHz) and EDGE netwavkh download rates of 7
Mbps and upload speeds of up to 2.1 Mi

» TheOvation MC72 operates on EV-DO Rev A networks (backwards coibjgato Rev 0 and 1xRTT) CDMA 800
MHz and CDMA 1900 MHz with connection speeds up.tb Mbps on the downlink and up to 1.8 Mbps on the
uplink on EV-DO Rev A capable networks. TRKC727contains a hot-swappable removable memory viaaSior
up to 4GB and is GPS capak

» TheOvation MC950I offers both receiver diversity (2100 MHz) and diqpga support with download rates of 7.2
Mbps and upload speeds of up to 2.1 Mbps. MC950C is optimized for Europe ar

4
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Japan, and any territories around the world whigipert the 2100 MHz band. Software is includedrendevice so
that users dc't need to install drivers from a C

MobiLink Mobile Communications Suite

Our MobiLink mobile communications software suite, which resimieshe mobile subscriber’'s computing device, is an
object-oriented application that enables a usegato quick and simple access to advanced conngctdatures such as SMS,
multimedia messaging and virtual private networkiMgbilink also offers video telephony and wireless local aesavorks,
or WLAN management capabilitiellobiLink’s graphical user interface and underlying functiagadre designed to be
modular, easily configurable and expandable in omenable our customers to differentiate theadpict offerings.
MobiLinkis engineered to work with all our wireless modems.

Customers

Our end-customer base is comprised of wirelessabpes, OEMSs, distributors and various companiestier vertical
markets. Our current customer base includes wialpsrators and other wireless market participactading Orange,
Sprint PCS, Telefonica, Verizon Wireless, Vodafaned OEM partners such as Dell, Foxconn, Panas8nity, and Toshib:
We have strategic technology, development and niagkeelationships with several of these customers.

Our strong customer relationships provide us withdpportunity to expand our market reach and sales

» Wireless Operators and Distribut«. By working closely with our wireless operator atisitributor customers, we ¢
able to drive demand for our products by combiring expertise in wireless technologies with ourteoers’ sales
and marketing reach over a global subscriber Hasecustomers also provide us with important sesjiéncluding
field trial participation, technical support, wiesk data marketing and access to additional irtdiistibution
channels

* OEMs Our OEM customers integrate our products intdas/that they manufacture and sell through their
direct sales forces and indirect distribution creenOur products are capable of being integratedd broad range
of devices, including laptop PCs, PDAs, M2M devjaawd vehicle location devices. We seek to buildngf
relationships with our OEM partners by working @lyswith them and providing radio frequency, or REsign
consulting, performance optimization, software gméion and customization and application engimeesupport
during the integration of our produc

Strategic Relationships

We continue to develop and maintain strategic imahips with wireless and computing industry leadi&e Alcatel-
Lucent, Dell, QUALCOMM, Sony, Sprint PCS, VerizoniNdless, Vodafone, and Telefonica and major sofwwandors.
Through strategic relationships, we have beentablecrease market penetration by leveraging tkeurses of our channel
partners, including their access to distributiosoreces, increased sales opportunities and mapketrtunities.

Our strategic relationships include technology aratketing relationships with wireless operatorsMJtartners that
integrate our products into other devices, distdlsiand leading hardware and software technologyigers.

Sales and Marketing

We sell our wireless broadband solutions primaolwireless operators either directly or throughtsiic relationships,
as well as to OEM partners and distributors locateddwide. Most of our sales to wireless

5
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operators and OEM partners are sold directly bysales force. To a lesser degree, we also usalaadhsales distribution
model through the use of select distributors. A#igant portion of our revenues comes from a smathber of customers.
Our revenues from sales to Verizon Wireless, Oalefonica, and Sprint PCS represented approxim&&P%, 16.1%,
15.4% and 12.6%, respectively, of our total reverfoe the year ended December 31, 2008.

In order to maintain strong sales relationshipspvevide co-marketing, trade show support, proth@hing and demo
units for merchandising. We are also engaged ifda wariety of activities, such as awareness aad tgeneration programs
as well as product marketing. Other marketingatiities include public relations, seminars, and i@ing with partners.

We are continuing to drive widespread adoptionwfgroducts through increased global marketingraiets and
distribution networks and continued leverage of steategic relationships with wireless industrydiess.

We have operations in the United States, CanadapEwand Asia. The book values of our assets ittlieed States,
Canada, Europe and Asia as of December 31, 2008 $2£&3.5 million, $6.3 million, $892,000 and $5@0fkespectively. As
of December 31, 2007, the book values of our ags¢te United States, Canada and Europe were §28dion, $6.3
million and $1.5 million, respectively.

For the years ended December 31, 2008, 2007 ar@] approximately 36%, 25% and 37%, respectivelygwfrevenue
was derived from international customers. See Rdteour Consolidated Financial Statements fohrexplanation of our
revenue based on geography. In future periods xwect international sales to continue to be an itigmo part of our total
revenue.

Product Research and Development

Our product development efforts are focused onldeugg innovative wireless broadband access saiatto address
opportunities presented by next generation wirehesaorks and improving the functionality, desigw gerformance of our
products. Our research and development expens#fgears ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2866$84.7 million,
$37.6 million and $31.3 million, respectively. Iddition, costs recovered from vendor-funded develept contracts for the
year ended December 31, 2008 were $1.7 millionr&@tere no costs recovered for the years endedniiere31, 2007 an
2006.

We intend to continue to identify and respond to@ustomers’ needs by introducing new product desigith an
emphasis on supporting cutting edge WAN technoleggge-of-use, performance, weight, cost and poareuenption.

We manage our products through a structured liédecgrocess, from identifying initial customer regments through
development and commercial introduction to evenpinalse-out. During product development, emphagikated on time-to-
market, meeting industry standards and custometustespecifications, ease of integration, cost cédn, manufacturability,
quality and reliability.

Our product development efforts leverage our capegise in the following key technology areas:

» Advanced Radio Frequency and Hardware De: Advanced Radio Frequency, or RF, design is thet&elynology
that determines the performance of wireless devidéshave specialized in 800/900/1800/1900 and 21802
designs for digital cellular, packet data and CDkahnology. Our expertise in RF and baseband téabyno
contributes to the performance, cost advantagesiaadl size of our product

» Miniaturization and System Integrati. Small systems integration is the integrationpglzation specific integrated
circuits, or ASICs, RF and baseband integratedits@nd packaging technologi

6
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We will continue to augment our miniaturizationtiaology, working to further reduce the size and oésurrent
and future productt

» Firmware Developmer We have specialized in integrating 3G (HSDPA/HSUW 1xEV-DO) protocol stacks and
customizing the firmware to meet carrier and refgujarequirements. We supply end-to-end WAN modetat®ns
to our customers including the modem hardwarectistomized firmware that runs on the 3G processdrthe
modem manager application that controls the modeenation.

Manufacturing and Operations

We have agreements with LG Innotek Co., Ltd, orlbh@otek, a subsidiary of LG Group, located in Sdgthea, and
with Inventec Appliances Corp., or IAC, locateddhina, for the outsourced manufacturing of our pits. Under our
manufacturing agreements, LG Innotek and IAC previd with services including component procuremenatiuct
manufacturing, final assembly, testing, quality troh fulfillment and delivery. In addition, we hexan agreement with
Mobiltron (Europe) Limited, or Mobiltron, for disbution, fulfillment and repair services relatedotar business in Europe,
Middle East, and Africa, or EMEA.

We outsource our manufacturing in an effort to:

» focus on our core competencies of design, develapraad marketing

* minimize our capital expenditures and lease ohbgat

» realize manufacturing economies of sc

» achieve production scalability by adjusting mantifeing volumes to meet changes in demand;
» access be-in-class manufacturing resourc

We believe that additional assembly line efficiescare realized due to our product architectureoand@dommitment to
process design. Direct materials for our produotssist of custom tooled parts such as printed itibmards, molded plastic
components and fabricated metal components, asawétidustry-standard components such as ASICgoRier amplifiers,
flash memory, transistors, integrated circuitszpielectric filters, duplexers, inductors, resistand capacitors. Many of the
components used in our products are similar toethused in cellular telephone handsets, helpingdage our manufacturing
costs through the use of standard components.

Our operations organization manages our relatipsshith LG Innotek, IAC and Mobiltron as well aset key

suppliers. Our operations team focuses on sup@inahanagement, quality, cost optimization, custoonder management
and new product introduction.

Intellectual Property

Our wireless broadband access solutions rely orbandfit from our portfolio of intellectual propgriwe currently own
31 United States patents, two of which are alsesteged in Canada. In addition, we currently haedtent applications
pending. From time to time we also seek to havepatents registered in selected foreign jurisdigiorhe patents that we
currently own expire at various times between 2808 2016.

We have licensed software and other intellectuaperty for use in our products from third-partigsch as
QUALCOMM. In the case of QUALCOMM, these licensdi®a us to manufacture CDMA, UMTS, HSDPA, HSUPA and
EV-DO-based wireless modems and to sell or distzilbleem worldwide. In connection with such sales,pay royalties to
QUALCOMM. The license from QUALCOMM does not havepecified term and may be terminated by us or by
QUALCOMM for cause or upon the occurrence of otspecified events. In addition, we may terminatelitenses for any
reason upon 60 days prior written notice. We hdse granted to
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QUALCOMM a nontransferable, worldwide, nonexclusifidly-paid and royalty-free license to use, imoection with
wireless communications applications, certain latgal property of ours that is used in our pragwehich incorporate the
CDMA technology licensed to us by QUALCOMM. Thisénse allows QUALCOMM to make, use, sell or dispafsguch
products and the related components.

We also hold a number of trademarks including Meiixpedite, MobiLink, Ovation, and Conversa, eatth its
accompanying designs, as well as the Novatel Wiset@me and logo.

Backlog

We do not believe that backlog is currently a meghil indicator of our future business prospects ttuthe many
variables, some of which are outside of our contebiich could cause the actual volume of our proghgpments to differ
from those that comprise our backlog, and our dégecy on evolving wireless network standards. Addélly, we often
have short lead times between receipt of customeahpse orders and shipment of products. Theref@ealo not believe thi
backlog information is relevant to an understandihgur overall business.

Competition

The market for wireless broadband access soluisorapidly evolving and increasingly highly compise. It is likely to
continue to be significantly affected by the evimntof new wireless technology standards, new pebohtroductions and the
product pricing and other market activities of ity participants. We believe the principal comipetifactors impacting the
market for our products are price, form factor gitn-market, features and functionality, performarguality, and brand. To
maintain and improve our competitive position, wesitncontinue to develop new products and solutiexisand our custom
base, grow our distribution network and leveragestrategic relationships.

Our wireless communications products currently cetapvith a variety of devices, including other wéss modems,
wireless handsets, wireless handheld computingcdevand other wireless devices. Our current anehiat competitors
include:

» wireless data modem providers, such as Huaweip@ptiternational, Sierra Wireless, Kyocera, Pant&adny-
Ericsson, and UTStarcom; a

» wireless handset and infrastructure manufactuseic) as Motorola, Nokia, Siemens and $-Ericsson

We believe that we have advantages over each girduary competitors due in varying measure totfohinical and
engineering design of our products, the broad rafigelutions that we offer, the ease-of-use ofaducts, our ability to
adapt our products to specific customer needs andampetitive pricing. As the market for wireldssadband access
solutions expands, other entrants may seek to ctemyith us either directly or indirectly.
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Employees

As of December 31, 2008, we had 307 employeeqdital) 153 in research and development, 64 in saldanarketing,
47 in operations, and 43 in general and adminig&dtinctions. We also use the services of constdtand temporary
workers from time to time. Our employees are nptesented by any collective bargaining unit anccersider our
relationship with our employees to be good.

Website Access to SEC Filing

We maintain an Internet websitevatvw.novatelwireless.carithe information contained on our website or taat be
accessed through our website does not constitpgetaf this report. We make available, free ofrgeathrough our Internet
website our annual reports on Form 10-K, quarteshorts on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form &#d amendments to
those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Secti(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act284, as amended, or the
Exchange Act, as soon as reasonably practicatdeaé electronically file such material with, orrish it to, the Securities
and Exchange Commission, or SEC.
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Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

Before deciding to purchase, hold or sell our comrsimck, you should carefully consider the risksctdibed below in
addition to the other cautionary statements anllgidescribed elsewhere in this report and in theudwents incorporated by
reference herein and therein. The risks and undatitss described below are those that we curredélgm to be material, a
do not represent all of the risks that we face.ifdaldal risks and uncertainties not presently knawms or that we currently
do not consider material may in the future becoragenial and impair our business operations. If arfithe following risks
actually occur, our business could be materiallyrhad, and our financial condition and results okogtions could be
materially and adversely affected. As a result,tthding price of our securities could decline, aywh might lose all or part
of your investment. You should also refer to theioinformation contained in this Form 10-K, incing our financial
statements and the related notes.

The continuing global financial crisis and currentincertainty in global economic conditions could hawa material advers
effect on our results of operations and financiabndition.

The global financial crisis experienced worldwideidg 2008 is continuing in 2009, and the impacthig crisis on the
U.S. and foreign economies appears to be worseAmg.result, we have experienced a contractidghérdemand for our
products, which has adversely impacted our resfilbperations. Although the U.S. and other govemtshdave taken vario
actions in an attempt to stabilize the financiatkets, it is unclear whether those actions wilklffective. The volatility and
illiquidity of financial and credit markets and thesulting negative economic impact could contirarg] it is possible that the
conditions may be prolonged. If this occurs, demfanaur products may continue to contract, whiohld have a material
adverse effect on our results of operations arahfifal condition.

Additionally, there could be a number of relatefitetis on our business resulting from these econacuoniditions,
including the potential insolvency of one or mof@uor suppliers resulting in product delays, patdrdustomer insolvencies,
an inability on the part of our customers to obtiedit to finance purchases of our products addeed demand by the
ultimate end-users of our products.

Although we continue to monitor market conditiow®, cannot predict future market conditions or timjpact on
demand for our products.

The market for wireless broadband data access pitdus rapidly evolving and highly competitive. Wey be unable to
compete effectively.

The market for wireless broadband data access pradurapidly evolving and highly competitive. \&epect
competition to continue to increase and intendifgny of our competitors or potential competitorgéngignificantly greater
financial, technical, operational and marketingreses than we do. These competitors, for exampdg, be able to respond
more rapidly or more effectively than we can to r@vemerging technologies, changes in customelinergents, supplier
related developments, or a shift in the businesddeape. They also may devote greater or moretieaesources than we
do to the development, promotion, sale, and pdstssgpport of their respective products and sesvice

Many of our current and potential competitors hengre extensive customer bases and broader custsapgljer and
other industry relationships that they can levetagestablish competitive dealings with many of current and potential
customers. Some of these companies also have msiatgished and larger customer support organizaticen we do. In
addition, these companies may adopt more aggregeiiag policies or offer more attractive termsctesstomers than they
currently do or than we are able to, may bundl& t@mpetitive products with broader product offgs and may introduce
new products and enhancements. Current and pdteotigoetitors might merge or otherwise establisbpevative
relationships among themselves or with third parieenhance their products or market positiona Assult, it is possible tr
new competitors or
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new or otherwise enhanced relationships amongiegisbmpetitors may emerge and rapidly acquireiiiggmt market share
to the detriment of our business.

Our wireless communications products currently cetapvith a variety of devices, including other véss modems,
wireless handsets, wireless handheld computingcdsvand other wireless devices. Our current anehiat competitors
include:

» wireless data modem providers, such as Huaweip@jptiternational, Sierra Wireless, Kyocera, Pantacld Sony-
Ericsson; an

» wireless handset providers, such as Motorola, N&i@mens, and So-Ericsson

We expect our competitors to continue to improvefaatures and performance of their current pradact to introduc
new products, services and technologies. Successfulproduct introductions or enhancements by oomrpetitors could
reduce our sales and the market acceptance ofrodugts, cause intense price competition and mek@mducts obsolete.
To remain competitive, we must continue to invégtificant resources (financial, human and otheeyia, among other
things, research and development, sales and megketnd customer support. We cannot be sure thatilveave or will
continue to have sufficient resources to make tiragestments or that we will be able to make tleht®logical advances
necessary for our products to remain competitiverdased competition could result in price redungtidewer or smaller
customer orders, reduced margins and loss of otkahshare. Our failure to compete successfullydeariously harm our
business, financial condition and results of openat

Our failure to predict and comply with evolving vétess industry standards, including 3G standardsyld hurt our ability
to introduce and sell new products.

In our industry, it is critical to our success that accurately anticipate evolving wireless tecbgglstandards and that
our products comply with such standards in relevaspects. We are currently focused on engineeatigigmanufacturing
products that comply with several different 3G Wéss standards. Any failure of our products to clymagth any one of thes
or future applicable standards could prevent cayd&ieir introduction and require costly and tineeguming engineering
changes. Additionally, if an insufficient numberwifeless operators or subscribers adopt the stdada which we engineer
our products, then sales of our new products desidgm those standards could be materially harmed.

If we fail to develop and introduce new productscegssfully, we may lose key customers or produdeos and oul
business could be harmed.

The development of new wireless data products regtechnological innovation and can be difficléhgthy and costl
In addition, wireless operators require that wiseldata systems deployed on their networks comiphytheir own technical
and product performance standards, which may diffen the standards our products are required tet fiee other operators.
This increases the complexity of the product dgwelent and customer approval process. In addit®meintroduce new
products or new versions of our existing produats,current customers may not require or desirg¢gblenological
innovations of these products and may not purctresa or might purchase them in smaller quantities twe had expected.

Further, as part of our strategy, we enter intdreats with some customers pursuant to which weldgvproducts for
later sale to that customer. Our ability to geresfature revenue and operating income under arly soigtracts depends
upon, among other factors, our ability to timelwelep products that are suitable for manufactuiing cost effective mann
and that meet defined product design, technicalpamibrmance specifications. Our ability to maxienthe benefits of these
contracts is subject to the following risks:

* We have priced the products to be sold under tbeseacts based on our estimated development, ptiodyand
warranty costs. If these or other related develagnproduction or support costs are actually highan our
estimated costs, our gross margins and operatimginsaon the corresponding products sold will kses lhan
anticipated
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» If we are unable to commit the necessary engingeprogram management and other resources or leeexsse
unable to successfully develop products as reqliyetthe terms of these contracts, our customersitnegncel the
related contracts, we may not be entitled to recamg costs that we incurred for research and devednt, sales
and marketing, production and otherwise, and we beagubject to additional costs such as contrapeslties

» If we fail to deliver in a timely manner a prodticat is suitable for manufacture in a cost effectivanner or if a
customer determines that a prototype product wigeteld does not meet the agreed-upon specificatioasnay be
unable to commercially launch the product, we mayehto reduce the price we charge for such praflitct
launches, or we may be required to pay damagéretoustomer. These circumstances may also resedciss or
obsolete inventory charges that may materially ichpar financial results

If we are unable to successfully manage these dskseet required delivery specifications or deseiin connection
with one or more of our key contracts, we may lkesg customers or orders and our business coulcivedd.

If we fail to develop and maintain strategic relatiships, we may not be able to penetrate new maul

A key element of our business strategy is to pateetiew markets by developing new products thretigiiegic
relationships with industry leaders in wireless camications. We are currently investing, and ptandntinue to invest,
significant resources to develop these relatiorsshiye believe that our success in penetrating navkets for our products
will depend, in part, on our ability to develop amdintain these relationships and to cultivate @amithl or alternative
relationships. There can be no assurance, howtaatnye will be able to develop additional strategilationships, that
existing relationships will survive and successfalthieve their purposes or that the companieswiithm we have strategic
relationships will not form competing arrangemenith others or determine to compete unilaterallyhvuis.

We expect to continue to depend upon only a smalinber of our customers for a substantial portion ofir revenues. Our
business could be negatively affected by an adversnge in our dealings with these customers.

A significant portion of our revenue comes fronmaadl number of customers. Our top ten customernherbasis of
revenue generated for the years ended Decemb2088&,and 2007 accounted for an aggregate of appatgly 88.9% and
89.2% of our revenue, respectively. Similarly, cewenue could be adversely affected if we are untbtetain the level of
business of any of our significant customers aevdfare unable to diversify our customer base. Weedthat a small number
of customers will continue to account for a subsgportion of our revenue for the foreseeableifetand any impairment of
our relationship with these customers could adWeféect our business.

In addition, a majority of our current customersghase our products pursuant to contracts thabtloequire them to
purchase any specific minimum quantity of unitseotthan the number of units ordered on a sepatathase order. These
customers have no contractual obligation to comtitmupurchase our products and if they do not noetio make purchases
consistent with their historical purchase levels, @venue would decline if we are unable to inseesales from other
existing or new customers.

In light of the limited number of leading wirelesgerators and OEMs that form our primary custonaesebmany of
whom are already customers, it would be difficaltéplace lost revenue resulting from the lossngfsignificant existing
customer or from a material reduction in the volushbusiness we conduct with any significant erigttustomer.
Consolidation among our customers may further cotnate our business to a limited number of custsraed expose us to
increased risks relating to dependence on a linmitedber of customers, which dependence could aelyeaffect our
operating results.

We have had to qualify, and are required to mainair status, as a supplier for each of our custenéis is a lengthy
process that involves the inspection and approya&dath customer of our engineering,
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documentation, manufacturing and quality controlgedures before that customer will place volumedAttempts to
lessen the adverse effect of any loss of, or antgmahreduction in the volume of business we canidiith, any significant
existing customer through the rapid addition of onenore new customers would be difficult becaushese qualification
requirements. Consequently, our business and dapgrassults could be adversely affected by the tdser any material
reduction in the volume of business we conduct vatty existing significant customer.

The sale of our products depends on the demandhimadband wireless access to enterprise networkd tne Internet.

The markets for broadband wireless access solutisngapidly evolving, both technologically and qstitively, and
the successful sale of related products and serdepends in part on the strength of the demandifetess access to both
enterprise networks and the Internet. At times ketatlemand for both wireless products and wiredesess services for the
transmission of data developed at a slower ratewehad anticipated and as a result our prodles séid not generate
sufficient revenue to cover our corresponding ofiregecosts. The failure of these markets to comtitnugrow at the rate that
we currently anticipate may adversely impact trengh in the demand for our products and our contamhirate of growth,
and as a result, our business, financial condaiwh results of operations may be harmed.

The marketability of our products may suffer if watess telecommunications operators do not deliveceptable wireless
services.

The success of our business depends, in part.eoreftacity, affordability, reliability and prevatenof wireless data
networks provided by wireless telecommunicationsragors and on which our products operate. Cugrevekious wireless
telecommunications operators, either individualyaintly with us, sell our products in connectiaith the sale of their
wireless data services to their customers. Growtteimand for wireless data access may be limitédriexample, wireless
telecommunications operators cease or materiatiaitwperations, fail to offer services that custrs consider valuable at
acceptable prices, fail to maintain sufficient azfyato meet demand for wireless data access, detagxpansion of their
wireless networks and services, fail to offer araintain reliable wireless network services or faimarket their services
effectively.

In addition, our future growth depends on the sssfté deployment of next generation wireless dataarks provided
by third parties, including those networks for whige are currently developing products. If these generation networks
are not deployed or widely accepted, or if deploghie delayed, there will be no market for the pratd we are developing
operate on these networks. If any of these evarttgrs, or if for any other reason the demand foeless data access fails to
grow, sales of our products will decline or remstiagnant and our business could be harmed.

If we do not properly manage the development of duisiness, we may experience significant strainsoam managemen
and operations and disruptions in our business.

Various risks arise when companies and industiigskty evolve. If our business or industry developsre quickly thai
our ability to respond, our ability to meet custordemand in a timely and efficient manner coulctballenged. We may al:
experience development, certification or productiefays as we seek to meet increased demand f@roducts or
unanticipated product requirements. Our failurpriaperly manage the developments that we or owsitngd might experienc
could negatively impact our ability to execute am operating plan then in effect and, accordingbuyld have an adverse
impact on our business, our cash flow and restiltperations, and our reputation with our currenpatential customers.
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We currently rely on third parties to manufactureuo products, which exposes us to a number of risksl uncertainties
outside our control.

We currently outsource our manufacturing to LG tekcand Inventec Appliances Corporation. In additommencing
in the first quarter of 2009, we anticipate purdéhgsnd re-selling certain embedded modules matwieat by Foxconn. If
one of these third-party manufacturers were to ggpee delays, disruptions, capacity constraintguality control problems
in its manufacturing operations, product shipmémtsur customers could be delayed or rejected pcastomers could
consequently elect to cancel the underlying progucthase order, which would negatively impactrewenues and our
competitive position and reputation. Further, if are unable to manage successfully our relationstifpa manufacturer, the
quality and availability of our products may bethad. None of our third-party manufacturers is atgl to supply us with a
specific quantity of products, except as may bevigierl in a particular purchase order that we mayrstito them and that
has been accepted. Our third-party manufacturensl emder some circumstances decline to acceptmueghase orders from
us or otherwise reduce their business with us niaaufacturer stopped manufacturing our productarfiy reason or reduced
manufacturing capacity, we may be unable to replaedost manufacturing capacity on a timely anchparatively cost
effective basis, which would adversely impact opemtions. In addition, if a third-party manufaetuwere to negatively
change the payment and other terms under whidrées to manufacture for us and we are unablectdda suitable
alternative manufacturer, our manufacturing costda significantly increase.

Because we outsource the manufacture of all opoantucts, the cost, quality and availability ofrthparty
manufacturing operations are essential to the ssgeproduction and sale of our products. Ouarele on third-party
manufacturers exposes us to a nhumber of risks warieloutside our control, including:

» unexpected increases in manufacturing c¢

» interruptions in shipments if a th-party manufacturer is unable to complete produdtice timely mannei

» inability to control quality of finished product

» inability to control delivery schedule

» inability to control production levels and to meghimum volume commitments to our custom

» inability to control manufacturing yielc

* inability to maintain adequate manufacturing cagyaeind

» inability to secure adequate volumes of acceptadreponents, at suitable prices or in a timely mar

Although we promote ethical business practicesamdperations personnel periodically visit and itarthe
operations of our manufacturers, we do not cottrelmanufacturers or their labor practices. If awnrent manufacturers, or
any other third-party manufacturer which we may insthe future, violate United States or foreigwsaor regulations, we
may be subjected to extra duties, significant mamygpenalties, adverse publicity, the seizure anfititure of products that

we are attempting to import or the loss of our immoivileges. The effects of these factors coeldder the conduct of our
business in a particular country undesirable or@ofical and have a negative impact on our opagagsults.

We might forecast customer demand incorrectly arrder the manufacture of excess or insufficient quities of
particular products.

We have historically placed purchase orders withnoanufacturers at least three months prior testteeduled delivery
of the finished goods to our customer. In someaimsts, due to the length of component lead timesnight need to place
manufacturing orders with our contract manufactisaiely on the basis of our receipt of a goodifhitt non-binding
customer forecast of the quantity and timing of¢bhstomer’s expected purchases from us. Accordjrifgtiye actual number
of units that a customer orders from us on theegisntly issued purchase order differs materiatiynfthe number of units
in respect of which we instructed our
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manufacturer to procure component parts, we mighiriable to obtain adequate quantities of compsriaritme to meet our
customers’ binding delivery requirements or, al&tiwely, we might accumulate excess inventory thatare unable to timely
use or resell, if at all. Our operating results &indncial condition have been in the past, areanily, and may in the future
be materially adversely affected by our abilityntanage our inventory levels and respond to shom-te unexpected shifts
in customer demand as to quantities or the custermpasduct delivery schedule.

We depend on sole source suppliers for some comptngsed in our products. The availability and saléthose finished
products would be harmed if any of these suppliexsiot able to meet our demand and production schledand alternative
suitable components are not available on acceptables, if at all.

Our products contain a variety of components, sofivehich are procured from single suppliers. Thes@ponents
include both tooled parts and industry-standartspaome of which are also used in cellular teleghvandsets. From time to
time, certain components used in our products baea in short supply worldwide or their anticipatetnmercial
introduction has been delayed or their availabhifg been subsequently interrupted for reasong&leutsr control. If there is
a shortage or interruption in the use of any suwehponents, and we cannot obtain a commerciallytectthologically
suitable substitute or make sufficient and timedgign or other product modifications to permit tise of such a substitute,
we may not be able to timely deliver sufficient gtites of our products to satisfy our contractobligations and particular
revenue expectations. Moreover, even if we timebate a substitute part (or locate the originghgcified component from a
parts broker) and its price materially exceedsomsted bill of materials, then our results of ogierss would be adversely
affected.

Third parties may claim that our products, or compents within our products, infringe on their intefictual property
rights. These claims may result in substantial casdiversion of resources and management attentioarm to our
reputation or interference with our current or prgective customer or supplier relations.

Third parties may claim that we, or our customersuppliers, have violated their intellectual prapeights. Defending
an infringement or misappropriation claim, for exde) regardless of the merits or success of thmg¢lzould result in us
incurring substantial costs. These claims could disert our resources and management attentiotamd our reputation.
These claims can be difficult and costly to assessdefend. A successful infringement claim relatedur products could
result in us becoming liable for damages and litigacosts.

In addition, any finding that our products infrinfg in some instances, our custorseeasonable conclusion that a b
fide infringement claim is likely to be made witlspect to such products) could have other negatimsequences. Those
consequences could include prohibiting us fromhierruse of the intellectual property, causing usitaify our product
design, if possible, so it does not infringe, ausiag us to have to license the intellectual priypatrissue, incurring licensing
fees, some of which could be retroactive. Upomdifig of infringement, we or one of our supplieraynalso have to develop
a non-infringing alternative, which if availableutd be costly, and delay or prevent sales of affégroducts.

In January 2009, two putative patent infringemeaines were filed against certain of our customénse case was filed
against several wireless carriers, including Sp¥iextel Corporation and Verizon Wireless, Inc.dagendants alleging,
among other things, that the defendants’ use,aalémportation of specified wireless modem cacicbmputers designed
to be used in conjunction with the defendants’uleilnetworks constitutes infringement of a U.Sepaallegedly owned by
the plaintiff. The other case was filed againsti@@pectrum, L.P. and Sprint Solutions, Inc. aedéants alleging generally
that they have engaged in the manufacture, sapmrinand/or use of products and/or processesctratitutes infringement
of U.S. patents allegedly owned by the plaintiffe\Ate currently evaluating these matters to detexitiie nature and extent
of our obligation to indemnify and/or defend oustamers against these lawsuits.
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Our business depends on our continued ability toelnse necessary third-party technology, which weymat be able to do
or it may be expensive to do so.

We license technology from third parties for theelepment of our products. We have licensed fromatparties, such
as QUALCOMM, software, patents and other intellatproperty for use in our products and from timdime we may elect
or be required to license additional intellectualperty. The primary license from QUALCOMM, for erple, does not have
a specified term and may be terminated by us @UALCOMM for cause or upon the occurrence of ottecified events.
There can be no assurance that we will be ableafatain our third-party licenses or that theserl®s or the technologies
that are the subject of these licenses will nahieesubject of dispute or litigation, or that addial thirdparty licenses will b
available to us on commercially reasonable terfrag,all. The inability to maintain or obtain thigghrty licenses required for
our products or to develop new products and prodaobancements could require us to seek to obtaistiftute technology of
lower quality or performance standards, if suctstsxior at greater cost, which could seriously hammcompetitive position,
revenue and prospects.

We are subject to the risks of doing business inggionally.

In addition to our manufacturing activities in Asésignificant portion of our sales activity haken place in Europe. In
addition, a significant portion of our research degtelopment staff is located in Canada. Our irgonal sales accounted
approximately 36% of our revenue for the year eridedember 31, 2008, 25% for the year ended Dece&ihe&r007, and
37% for the year ended December 31, 2006. Althaugtexperience in marketing, selling, distributangd manufacturing ol
products and services internationally is limite, @xpect to further expand our international satesmarketing activities in
the future. Consequently, we are subject to certsks associated with doing business internatlgniadcluding:

» difficulty in managing sales, research and develepinoperations and post-sales logistics and suppooss these
continents

» changes in a specific coun’s or regiof's political or economic conditions, particularlygmerging markets, ar
changes in diplomatic and trade relationsh

» less effective protection of intellectual propestyd general exposure to different legal procestasdards an
expectations

» trade protection measures and import or exporhéitey requirements

» potentially negative consequences from changesxitatvs;

» increased expenses associated with customizingiptedbr different countrie:

» unexpected changes in regulatory requirementstieguh unanticipated costs and dela
» longer collection cycles and difficulties in coltery accounts receivabl

» longer sales cycle:

* international terrorism

» loss or damage to products in transit; .

» international dock strikes or other transportatiefays.

Any disruption in our ability to obtain product®ifn our foreign manufacturers or in our ability tmduct international
operations and sales could have a material adeéfieset on our business, financial condition andiltssof operations.

To the extent we enter into contracts that are dempated in foreign currencies and do not adequatélgdge that
exposure, fluctuations in exchange rates betweea thnited States dollar and foreign currencies md§egt our operating
results.

A significant amount of our revenues are generfited sales agreements denominated in foreign ccieenand we
expect to enter into additional such agreementseasxpand our international customer base.
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As aresult, we are exposed to changes in foraigreecy exchange rates, and we currently expeciltiBelute value of this
exposure may increase in the future. In particdlactuations in the Euro currency may have a ni@ténpact on our future
operating results and gross margins. We attempiataage this risk, in part, by minimizing the effeof volatility on cash
flows by identifying forecasted transactions expbiethese risks and using foreign exchange forwandracts. Since there
is a high correlation between the hedging instrusiand the underlying exposures, the gains anédass these underlying
exposures are generally offset by reciprocal chaingéhe value of the hedging instruments. We es@dtive financial
instruments as risk management tools and notdalirig or speculative purposes. Nevertheless, tterde no assurance that
we will not incur foreign currency losses or thatefign exchange forward contracts we may entertimteduce the risk of
such losses will be successful.

Our products may contain errors or defects, whichutd prevent or decrease their market acceptance éad to
unanticipated costs or other adverse business cqoneaces.

Our products are technologically complex and mus¢instringent industry, regulatory and customeuiregnents. We
must develop our hardware and software productsktyuio keep pace with the rapidly changing andhtedogically
advanced wireless communications market. Prodscsphisticated as ours may contain undetectedseralefects,
especially when first introduced or when new moaelgersions are released. Our products may néreleefrom errors or
defects at the time commercial shipments have heghich could result in the rejection of our prothjthe loss of an
existing or potential customer or the failure taadi one, damage to our reputation, lost revenivertegd development
resources, increased customer service and supsig, einanticipated warranty claims, and the paywiemonetary damagy
to our customers.

Our quarterly operating results may vary significtlg from quarter to quarter and may cause our stogkice to fluctuate.

Our future quarterly operating results may fluctusignificantly and may fall short of or exceed #xpectations of
securities analysts, investors or managementidfotcurs, the market price of our stock couldtilate, in some cases
materially. The following factors may cause fludtaas in our operating results:

» Decreases in revenue or increases in operating esg. We budget our operating expenses based on at#dip
sales, and a significant portion of our sales aadketing, research and development and generadmichistrative
costs are fixed, at least in the short term. Ierewe decreases, due to pricing pressures or odeerani does not
increase as planned and we are unable to redua®etating costs quickly and sufficiently, our agarg results
could be materially adversely affectt

» Product mix The product mix of our sales affects profit masgimany given quarter. As our business evolves and
the revenue from the product mix of our sales gafiem quarter to quarter, our operating resultslikely fluctuate
in ways that might not be directly proportionatahe fluctuation in revenu

» New product introduction As we introduce new products, the timing of thieseoductions within any given quarter
will affect our quarterly operating results. We nieve difficulty predicting the timing of new praztuntroductions
and the market acceptance of these new produgisodiucts and services are introduced earlierter than
anticipated, or if market acceptance is unexpegteidih or low, our quarterly operating results nflagtuate
unexpectedly

» Lengthy sales cycl The length of time between the date of initialtehwith a potential customer and the execu
of and product delivery under a contract may take=gl months or longer, and is subject to delaysterruptions
over which we have little or no control. The sal@or products is subject to delays from, amongpthings, our
customers’ budgeting, product testing and vendpraal mechanics, and competitive evaluation preegshat
typically accompany significant information techogy purchasing decisions. As a result, our abittgnticipate the
timing and volume of sales to specific custometsnged, and the delay or failure to complete @nenore large
transactions could cause our operating resultaip significantly from quarter to quart:
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» Foreign currenc. We are exposed to market risk from changes eidarcurrency exchange rates. In particular,
fluctuations in the Euro currency may have a matémpact on our future operating results and gmasgins. Our
attempts to minimize the effects of volatility ioréign currencies on cash flows may not be sucak:

Due to these and other factors, our results ofadjmers may fluctuate substantially in the future goarter-to-quarter
comparisons may not be reliable indicators of fitoperating or share price performance.

We may not be able to maintain and expand our biesia if we are not able to hire, retain and managiaional qualified
personnel.

Our success in the future depends in part on thémed contribution of our executive, technicalgmeering, sales,
marketing, operations and administrative persoriRetruiting and retaining skilled personnel in Wieeless communications
industry, including software and hardware engingerkighly competitive.

Although we may enter into employment agreementls members of our senior management and other ésppnel it
the future, currently only Peter Leparulo, the Camps Executive Chairman, is bound by an employnagnéement. If we
are not able to attract or retain qualified persdimthe future, or if we experience delays inrgrrequired personnel,
particularly qualified engineers, we may not besabl maintain and expand our business.

Any acquisitions we make could disrupt our busines®d harm our financial condition and results of @gpations.

As part of our business strategy, we review anehiditto continue to review, acquisition opportusitieat we believe
would be advantageous or complementary to the dprent of our business. Accordingly, we may acgbusinesses,
assets, or technologies in the future. If we makeacquisitions, we could take any or all of thdfeing actions, any one of
which could adversely affect our business, findnmadition, results of operations or share price:

* use a substantial portion of our available ci

» incur substantial debt, which may not be availables on favorable terms and may adversely affectiquidity;

» issue equity or equi-based securities that would dilute existing stotdéig’ percentage ownershi

» assume contingent liabilities; a

» take substantial charges in connection with acquasesets

Acquisitions also entail numerous other risks,udahg: difficulties in assimilating acquired opéoais, products,
technologies and personnel; unanticipated costsysibn of managemeistattention from existing operations; adverse &
on existing business relationships with suppliers eustomers; risks of entering markets in whichhaee limited or no prior
experience; and potential loss of key employeeas fedher our existing business or the acquiredrizgaion. We may not be

able to successfully integrate any businessespptsdtechnologies or personnel that we might aequoithe future, and our
failure to do so could harm our business and ojmeyaesults.

Any changes to existing accounting pronouncementgaxation rules or practices may cause adversecfluations in our
reported results of operations or affect how we doiet our business.

A change in accounting pronouncements or taxati@sror practices can have a significant effecvenreported resul
and may affect our reporting of transactions cotepldefore the change is effective. New accoungimegiouncements,
taxation rules and varying interpretations of acttimg pronouncements or taxation rules have ocdumréhe past and may
occur in the future. The change to existing ruletire changes, if any, or the need for us to myodi€urrent tax position may
adversely affect our reported financial resultsherway we conduct our business.
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We may not be able to develop products that comytis applicable government regulations.

Our products must comply with government regulatidfor example, in the United States, the FedesairGunications
Commission, or FCC, regulates many aspects of canwations devices, including radiation of electrgmetic energy,
biological safety and rules for devices to be cater to telephone networks. In addition to the fablgovernment, some
states have adopted regulations applicable to maugts. Radio frequency devices, which includeroadems, must be
approved by obtaining equipment authorization ftbenFCC prior to being offered for sale. Regulat@guirements in
Canada, Europe, Asia and other jurisdictions misstlae met. Additionally, we cannot anticipate #fiect that changes in
domestic or foreign government regulations may raveur ability to develop and sell products in filieire. Failure to
comply with existing or evolving government regidas or to obtain timely regulatory approvals ortifieates for our
products could materially adversely affect our bass, financial condition and results of operatimnsash flows.

A material weakness in our internal control ovemfncial reporting could result in a material misstament of our
financial statements

Our management is responsible for maintaining di&ale controls and procedures that are designeebtide
reasonable assurance that information require@ idrlosed in our reports to the SEC is recorgeatessed, summarized
and reported within the time periods specifiedhi@a 8EC’s rules and forms, and that such informaé@ccumulated and
communicated to our management, including our paiexecutive officer and our principal financéld accounting office
as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regardiguired disclosure. Our management assessedfé¢ltveness of the
design and operation of our disclosure controls@dedures as of March 31, 2008 and identifiechterial weakness in our
internal control over financial reporting relatedréevenue recognition cutoff in non-standard andlifiel sales transactions.
Our management has taken measures to remedidtietiidied material weakness and, as of Decembg2@a8, concluded
that our internal control over financial reportings effective.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or combinatibdeficiencies, in internal control over finariaieporting that
creates a reasonable possibility that a materisstaiement of our annual or interim financial steets will not be prevented
or detected on a timely basis. We cannot give asyrance that other material weaknesses will neg as a result of our
failure to maintain adequate disclosure controt$ piocedures or circumvention of those controls godedures.
Additionally, our controls and procedures may nalequate to prevent irregularities, identifydgrrarities or facilitate a
fair presentation of our financial statements qorés we file with the SEC. A material weaknessld@ause investors to lose
confidence in our reported financial information.

Failure to satisfy the listing requirements of tHéasdaq Global Select Market could result in our coron stock being
delisted, which may have an adverse effect on dock price.

Timely filing of annual and periodic reports withet SEC is one requirement for continued listingeuriie Nasdaq
Marketplace Rules. In 2008, we received two stafédmination letters from The Nasdaq Stock Markegirgy that our
common stock was subject to delisting from the Ngs@lobal Select Market as a result of our faitoréle with the SEC, by
the required deadlines, quarterly reports on FaBrQXor the periods ended March 31 and June 3(8.20@& appealed
Nasdaq’s determinations and were granted extengidiile these quarterly reports. During the extengeriods, our
common stock continued to be listed on the Nasdaqab Select Market. We filed our quarterly repartsForm 10Q for the
periods ended March 31 and June 30, 2008 duringxtension periods. In November 2008, we receiaita from the
Nasdag Stock Market confirming that we had regatwdpliance with all requirements for continueditig on the Nasdaq
Global Select Market.

If we fail to meet listing requirements again ie tluture, there can be no assurance that our constook will not be
delisted. If our common stock is delisted from Mesdaq Global Select Market, it would be traded-tke-counter, more
commonly known as OTC. OTC transactions involvksis addition to those associated
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with transactions in securities traded on the Ngs8mbal Select Market. Many OTC stocks trade fesguently and in
smaller volumes than securities traded on the Np&labal Select Market. Accordingly, our commonc&tavould be less
liquid than it would otherwise be, and the valu@of common stock could decrease.

We are currently party to litigation that could bepstly to defend and distracting to management.

As of the date of this report, two putative sedesitlass action lawsuits have been filed on bedfgiersons who
allegedly purchased our common stock between FebBj&2007 and August 19, 2008. One lawsuit nategompany and
certain of our current and former officers as ddéerts. The other lawsuit names the Company, cesfeonr current and
former officers and the members of our Audit Contegitas defendants. The complaints allege genehatywe issued
materially false and misleading statements dufiregrélevant time period regarding our financialtessand the nature and
extent of the accounting review conducted by thdif@ommittee of our Board of Directors into ther@many’s revenue cut-
off procedures, internal control and accountingtes] to certain customer contracts.

Also as of the date of this report, we have beenathas a nominal defendant in three purported khhter derivative
lawsuits filed in California state court. The comiplts also hame as defendants certain of our dusrehformer officers and
directors. The complaints allege claims for breafcfiduciary duties, unjust enrichment, abuse aftool and gross
mismanagement, in each case for the period fromuaep 2007 to the date on which each complaintfiles. The plaintiffs
allege that the Company misrepresented its finhnegalts by failing to disclose that it recognizegitain revenues in
violation of generally accepted accounting prinegphnd the Company’s revenue cut-off procedureditiddally, the
plaintiffs allege that the Company misrepresentedstatus of the accounting review conducted bytigit Committee.

Additional litigation may be initiated against ussed on the alleged false statements at issue ipetiding litigation.
We cannot predict the outcome of the existing latssar the likelihood that further proceedings vi# instituted against us.
The cost of defending against these lawsuits orfataye lawsuits may be high, and these legal prdteys may also result in
the diversion of our management'’s time and attaerdgiway from our business. In the event that treemiadverse ruling in
any legal proceeding, we may be required to malgenpats to third parties that could harm our busir@dinancial results.

The current global credit crisis may cause the sgtigs in our investment portfolio to decline in e or affect the liquidity
of these securities, which may have a material adegimpact on our ability to support our working péal needs.

Our ability to support our working capital needpeleds, in part, on our available cash, cash eqrit@land marketable
securities. We do not currently have a revolvinedarfacility or similar loan agreement. As a résahy significant decrease
in the value of the securities in our investmentfpdio or impairment in the liquidity of these sgties may materially
adversely impact our ability to support our workapital needs.

As of December 31, 2008, we held cash equivalerdsi@arketable securities aggregating $143.2 milliociuding
$68.7 million of money market funds and $65.5 miiliof asset-backed securities, commercial papegppcate debentures
and bonds, and government agency obligations. @aetion or a worsening of the current global creddis could cause the
securities in our investment portfolio to declinevalue or affect the liquidity of these investngent

Iltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Commen:
None
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ltem 2.  Properties

Our principal executive offices are located in $a@go, California where we lease approximately 8@,8quare feet
under an arrangement that expires in December 2010algary, Canada, we lease approximately 24sg@re feet for our
research and development organization under a thasexpires in September 2012. In Basingstok&edrKingdom, we
lease approximately 4,000 square feet for our Eeangstaff under a lease agreement that expiresdéerber 2011. In
Shanghai, China, we lease approximately 300 squaters for our Chinese staff under a lease agretimetrexpires in June
2010. We also lease space in various geograplatitos abroad primarily for sales and support persbor for temporary
facilities. We believe that our existing facilitiase adequate to meet our current needs and theamvesnew our existing
leases or obtain alternative space on terms thatdamt have a material impact on our financialditan.

ltem 3. Legal Proceeding:

On September 15, 2008, and September 18, 200§ utative securities class action lawsuits werelfitethe United
States District Court for the Southern DistrictG#lifornia on behalf of persons who allegedly pasgd our stock between
February 5, 2007 and August 19, 2008. On Decemhe2d08, these lawsuits were consolidated intmglsiaction entitled
Backe v. Novatel Wireless, Inc., e, Case No. 08-CV-01689-H (RBB) (Consolidated wi#s€ No. 08-CV-01714-H (RBB)
(U.S.D.C., S.D. Cal.). The plaintiffs filed the cmlidated complaint on behalf of persons who aliégpurchased our stock
between February 27, 2007 and November 10, 2008 cdhsolidated complaint names the Company andicest our
current and former officers as defendants. Theaaleted complaint alleges generally that we issmetkrially false and
misleading statements during the relevant timeogerégarding the strength of our products and mastkare, our financial
results and our internal controls. The plaintiffs aeeking an unspecified amount of damages artg. €os February 9, 2009,
all defendants filed a motion to dismiss the coidsdéd complaint. A hearing on the motion to dismsspresently scheduled
for March 30, 2009. The Company intends to defémllitigation vigorously.

On October 8, 2008, a purported shareholder, Jsenbaum, filed a derivative action in the SupeCiourt for the
State of California, County of San Diego, agaihst Company, as nominal defendant, and certain o€wuent and former
officers and directors, including the members af Audit Committee, as defendants. Two other pugzbghareholders, Ma
Campos and Chris Arnsdorf, separately filed subbistiiynsimilar lawsuits in the same court on OctoB8, 2008 and
November 5, 2008, respectively. The complaintgallelaims for breach of fiduciary duties for disgeamting false and
misleading statements and for failing to maintaieiinal controls, unjust enrichment, abuse of @bnénd gross
mismanagement, in each case for the period fromuaep 2007 to the date on which each complaintfiles. The plaintiffs
allege that the Company misrepresented its finhnegalts by failing to disclose that it recognizegtitain revenues in
violation of generally accepted accounting prinegpand the Company’s own internal revenue cuttaffgdures.
Additionally, the plaintiffs allege that the Compyamisrepresented the status of the accountingwes@nducted by the Aud
Committee. The plaintiffs are seeking an unspetifimount for damages sustained by the Companynejts' fees and
costs, and appropriate equitable relief. We ardieifiling a stipulation with plaintiffs that theedvative actions be
consolidated. The Company intends to defend ttiggtion vigorously.

Item 4.  Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holde
No matters were submitted to a vote of our stodldas during the fourth quarter of 2008.
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registran’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters andusr Purchases of Equit
Securities
Common Stock Data

Shares of our common stock are quoted and traddtheMasdaq Global Select Market under the symRMTL.” The
following table sets forth, for the periods indiedt the high and low sales prices per share ofommon stock as reported
The Nasdaq Global Select Market.

High Low

2007

First quarte $18.1f  $ 9.5t
Second quart: $26.4t  $15.7¢
Third quarte $29.1¢  $19.7(
Fourth quarte $27.2C  $14.7:
200¢

First quarte $16.8C  $ 8.3¢
Second quart: $12.6¢ $ 7.4z
Third quarte $11.1f  $ 5.6F
Fourth quarte $664 $281

Number of Stockholders of Record

Our outstanding capital stock consists of a sietdss of common stock. As of March 15, 2009 thezesvapproximatel
55 holders of record of our common stock. Becauaeynof the shares of our common stock are heldrbiess and other
institutions on behalf of stockholders, we are uaab estimate the total number of stockholdersesgnted by these record
holders.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid cash dividends pslaares of our capital stock. We currently intemdetain all
available funds for use in the operation and dewekent of our business and, therefore, do not gatieipaying any cash
dividends in the foreseeable future. Any futureed@ination relating to our dividend policy will Imeade at the discretion of
our board of directors and will depend on a nundféactors, including future earnings, capital regments, financial
condition and future prospects and other factaedthard of directors may deem relevant.
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Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative totatkholder return on the Company’s common stoclvbeh
December 31, 2003 and December 31, 2008 with theuladive total return of (i) the Nasdaqg Stock Madrie.S.) Index
(“Nasdaq Composite Index”) and (ii) the Nasdag ¢elemunications Index (the “Nasdaqg Telecom Indexgr the same
period. This graph assumes the investment of $00@Mecember 31, 2003 in the common stock of @ @any, the
Nasdag Composite Index and the Nasdaq Telecom lalgxassumes the reinvestment of any dividendssitio&holder
return shown on the graph below should not be densd indicative of future stockholder returns #relCompany will not
make or endorse any predictions as to future swidkh returns.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
Among Movatel Wireless, Inc., The NASDAQ Composite Index
And The NASDAQ Telecommunications Indax

5350 -

300 1

$250 -

5200

5150

100

550

12/03 12104 1205 12/06 1207 1208

—H&— Novatel Wireless, Inc. — 4— NASDAQ Composite Index -- O - - NASDAQ Telecom Index

Cumulative Total Return
12/02 12/0¢ 12/0¢F 12/0¢ 12/07 12/0¢

Novatel Wireless, In 100.0C 324.0¢ 202.17 161.4< 270.4t 77.4¢

NASDAQ Composite Inde 100.0C 110.0¢ 112.8¢ 126.5. 138.1: 80.41

NASDAQ Telecom Inde 100.0C 106.6¢ 103.0( 131.0! 134.97 78.2:
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ltem 6. Selected Financial Dat:

The following selected financial data should bedrgaconjunction with our Consolidated Financiat®8tments and the
related notes and “Management’s Discussion andy&isbf Financial Condition and Results of Operatioappearing
elsewhere in this report. The selected consolidst@ments of operations data presented beloeait of the years ended
December 31, 2008, 2007, and 2006, and the colasetidbalance sheet data at December 31, 2008 &7da?€ derived fror
our consolidated financial statements that have ieuded elsewhere in this report. The selectetbolidated statements of
operations data for the years ended December 85, &3d 2004 and consolidated balance sheet dBtecatmber 31, 2006,
2005, and 2004 are derived from audited consoliifibancial statements not included in this report.

Year Ended December 3:
200¢ 2007 200€ 200& 200
(in thousands, except per share dat

Consolidated Statements of Operations Dat

Revenu $320,970  $429,90¢ $217,97. $161,73¢ $103,72°
Cost of revent 252,23: 299,06: 162,74¢ 115,56¢ 69,78(
Gross margi 68,74: 130,84 55,22¢ 46,16¢ 33,945
Operating costs and expen:
Research and developm 34,74 37,55¢ 31,317 20,51¢ 10,62¢
Sales and marketil 18,19t 20,937 14,16¢ 7,611 4,73¢
General and administrati 21,55( 18,89¢ 16,30¢ 7,52¢ 5,13¢
Total operating costs and exper 74,48" 77,39¢ 61,79’ 35,65¢ 20,50:
Operating income (los (5,747 53,441 (6,56¢) 10,51« 13,44
Other incom 3,55¢ 6,071 4,30¢ 2,00¢ 728
Income (loss) before income ta (2,190 59,51¢ (2,267 12,52 14,16¢
Income tax expense (bene (947) 20,75¢ (2,706) 1,40¢ 34¢
Net income (los: (1,247 38,76 443 11,11¢ 13,81¢
Net income (loss) applicable to common stockho $ (1,249 $3876: $ 44 $ 11,11¢ $ 13,67«
Net income (loss) per common shi
Basic $ (00H $ 12 $ 001 $ 03t $ 0.57
Diluted $ (00H) $ 121 ¢ 001 $ 037 $ 04¢
Weighted average shares outstanc
Basic 31,15¢ 31,38¢ 29,58( 29,130 23,96¢
Diluted 31,15¢ 32,007 30,05¢ 30,31¢ 28,86:

December 31
200¢ 2007 200¢ 200¢ 200¢
(in thousands

Consolidated Balance Sheet Dat

Cash and cash equivalents and marketable sec $143,23:  $153,01: $ 84,16: $ 90,33¢ $ 81,22

Working capite 173,15: 200,69: 109,67" 95,05( 62,82¢

Total asse’ 260,73: 296,62¢ 191,64! 176,06 116,32:

Stockholder’ equity 197,96: 217,74 134,23t 121,05¢ 100,17¢

Long-term liabilities 18,91¢ 15,56¢ 1,69: — —
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Item 7. Managemen's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition drResults of Operation

The following discussion of our consolidated finahcondition and results of operations should kad in conjunction
with our Consolidated Financial Statements and tesflanotes included elsewhere in this report. Thjgort contains certain
forward-looking statements relating to future events arfoture financial performance. These statemengssarbject to risks
and uncertainties which could cause actual restatdiffer materially from those discussed in théport. You are cautioned
not to place undue reliance on this information eth$peaks only as of the date of this report. Véenat obligated to public
update this information, whether as a result of mefermation, future events or otherwise, excepghextent we are
required to do so in connection with our obligatirfile reports with the SEC. For a discussiorntaf important risks relate
to our business and future operating performanee,the discussion under the caption “ltem 1A. Ris&tors” and under thi
caption “Factors Which May Influence Future ReswlitOperations” below. In light of these risks, entinties and
assumptions, the forward-looking events discusseidis report might not occur.

Overview and Background

We are a provider of wireless broadband accessiaatufor the worldwide mobile communications markaur broad
range of products includes third generation, or8iEeless PC card and ExpressCard modems, embedoeéeims, USB and
other fixed-mobile convergence, or FMC, solutiond aommunications software for wireless networkrafmgs,
infrastructure providers, distributors, originauggment manufacturers, or OEMs, and vertical markeiridwide. Through
the integration of our hardware and firmware, owdpicts are designed to operate on a majorityefatbrld’s wireless
networks and provide mobile subscribers with seemconvenient high speed access to corporatéic puiad personal
information through the Internet and enterprisevoeks. We also offer firmware engineering, integmatand design services
to our customers to facilitate the use of our patslu

Our strong customer relationships provide us withdpportunity to expand our market reach and sklest of our
sales to wireless operators and OEMs are soldttjirecough our sales force. To a lesser degreegla® use an indirect sal
distribution model through the use of select distiors. We are continuing to drive widespread adoptf our products
through increased global marketing activities, exgian of our distribution networks and continuegei@ge of our strategic
relationships with wireless industry leaders.

We intend to continue to identify and respond to@ustomers’ needs by introducing new product desigith an
emphasis on supporting cutting edge Wide Area Netwar WAN, technology, ease-of-use, performanceight, cost and
power consumption. We manage our products throwituatured life cycle process, from identifyingfial customer
requirements through development and commerciaddattion to eventual phasest. During product development, emph
is placed on time-to-market, meeting industry séadsd and customer product specifications, easat@diation, cost
reduction, manufacturability, quality and reliatyili

We currently have agreements with LG Innotek anetitec Appliances Corporation, or IAC, for the outsed
manufacturing of our products. Under our manufaetuagreements, LG Innotek and IAC provide us w#hvices including
component procurement, product manufacturing, faisaembly, testing, quality control, fulfillmentdadelivery. In addition,
we have an agreement with Mobiltron for certaiririisition, fulfillment and repair services relatedour business in Europe,
the Middle East and Africa, or EMEA.

Factors Which May Influence Future Results of Operaibns

We have entered into and expect to continue ta émie new customer contracts for the developmedtsupply of our
products. This may place significant demands orreswurces.

The continuing global financial crisis and the tésg slowdown in the worldwide economy is causiagd we expect
may continue to cause, contraction in demand foipoaducts. In addition, the financial crisis may
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continue to have an impact on the value of ourstment portfolio, foreign currency exchange gairsg), and net investment
interest income (loss). We also believe that threectt contraction in demand for our products indper will substantially
reduce our revenues from this region in the fitstrter of 2009, as compared to prior periods.

RevenueWe believe that our revenue growth will be infloed largely by the strength and breadth of the denfiar
wireless access to data through the use of nexdrggéon networks including demand for 3G producid 3G data access
services, particularly in Europe, North America dsia; customer acceptance for our new productsatthdress these
markets; and our ability to meet customer demaadtdfs that could potentially affect customer dednfam our products
include the following:

* economic environment and related market conditi

* increased competition from other wireless data modeppliers as well as suppliers of emerging devibat contail
a wireless data access featt

» demand for broadband access services and netv
» use of the Interne
» rate of change to new produc

* loss of significant customers; including curremgttgp customers who transition to alternative embeddodule
platforms such as QUALCOM'’s Gobi platform

» timing of deployment of 3G networks by carrie
» decreased demand for -DO, HSDPA and HSUPA products; a
» changes in technologie

We anticipate introducing additional 3G productsimy 2009. We continue to develop and maintaintetyia
relationships with wireless and computing industigders like Alcatel-Lucent, Dell, QUALCOMM, Songprint PCS,
Verizon Wireless, Telefonica, and Vodafone andveafe vendors. Our strategic relationships alsaisheltechnology and
marketing relationships with wireless operatorsMDgartners that integrate our products into ottericks, distributors and
leading hardware and software technology providensough these strategic relationships, we have bb& to enhance our
market penetration by leveraging the resourcesiotbannel partners, including their access taitligion resources,
increased sales opportunities and market oppoigsnit

Cost of Revenu&Ve currently outsource our manufacturing operatimnlLG Innotek and IAC. In addition, we currently
outsource certain distribution, fulfilment and a@pservices related to our business in EMEA to Maimn. All costs
associated with these manufacturers and Mobiltrerirecluded in our cost of revenue. Cost of revesige includes warranty
costs, amortization of intangible licenses, rogaltbased on a percentage of revenue, operationg gkpenses, costs related
to outside services and costs related to inveradjystments, including write downs for excess adpsbtete inventory.
Inventory adjustments are impacted primarily by dathfor our products, which is influenced by thetdas discussed above.
During 2008, 2007 and 2006, we recorded inventaitevdowns of $8.2 million, $2.8 million and $2.9lkon, respectively,
primarily due to the decrease in demand for thecééid products.

Operating Costs and Expens&sany of our products target wireless operators@her customers in North America,
Europe, and Asia. We will likely develop new protiuto serve these markets, resulting in increassearch and
development expenses associated with such new girdduelopment. We have in the past and expearitirzie to incur
these expenses in future periods prior to recoggizevenue from sales of these products.
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Results of Operations

The following table sets forth our consolidatedestaents of operations expressed as a percentageesfue for the
periods indicated.

Year Ended December 3:

200¢ 2007 200¢€
(as a percent of revenue

Revenu 100.(% 100.(% 100.(%
Cost of revent 78.€ 69.€ 74
Gross margi 21.4 30.4 25.2

Operating costs and expen:

Research and developm 10.¢ 8.7 14.4
Sales and marketil 5.7 4.9 6.5
General and administrati 6.7 4.4 7.4
Total operating costs and exper 23.2 18.C 28.c
Operating income (los (1.8) 12.4 (3.0)
Interest income, n 1.3 1.3 1.3
Other income (expense), (0.2 0.1 0.7
Income (loss) before tax (0.7) 13.¢ (1.0)
Income tax expense (bene (0.3) 4.8 (1.2)

Net income (los: (0.9)% 9.C% 0.2%

Year Ended December 31, 2008 Compared to Year End&2ecember 31, 2007

RevenueRevenue for the year ended December 31, 2008 aksmie$108.9 million, or 25.3%, to $321.0 million
compared to $429.9 million for 2007. The decreasevenue was primarily attributable to decreasesales for our EV-DO
products partially offset by an increase in ourtH&peed Packet Access, or HSPA, products. Theateir EV-DO product
sales for the year ended December 31, 2008 compaD7 was approximately $126.6 million, primadue to lower unit
shipments of our Merlin Express and PC Cards, aration USB Modems and the effects of a lower aversales prices for
such products due to competitive pricing pressanesthe slowdown of global economies. Our HSPA peodales increased
by approximately $17.7 million during 2008 compate®007, primarily as a result of the increasanit shipments of our
Ovation USB Modems and Expedite Embedded Modulesral, EV-DO revenue, which consists primarilyMibrth
American products, represented approximately 58¥&w#nue in 2008 compared to 73% in 2007 while HSIBISUPA
products represented approximately 42% of revem2808 compared to 27% in 2007.

This trend of increasing HSDPA/HSUPA product sales percent of revenue is not expected to contintree near
term due to increased competitive pressures ifEtliepean market. This revenue decline is expect®ée pffset by increase
revenues from new embedded module product saesdatent delivery device customer. However, weeekguropean
sales to continue to be an important componentipfaial revenue.

Cost of revenueCost of revenue for the year ended December 318 2@s $252.2 million, or 78.6% of revenue, as
compared to $299.1 million, or 69.6% of revenu@@®@7. The increase in cost of revenue as a pegefaevenue in 2008
was primarily related to the rate of decrease énaberage per unit selling prices for products ediey the rate of decrease in
the average per unit cost of revenues and othetandriven factors. Cost of revenue included $8itHlan of inventory write
down to the lower of cost or market due to the@f®f lower than expected demand for certain prtejuhe effects of the
falling valuation of the Euro, and poor macro eaoimconditions. In addition, we recorded impairmeimarges of
approximately $830,000 related to technology lieshgroduction fixtures, and tooling equipment.mare fully discussed in
Note 3 in
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the accompanying notes to the Consolidated FinkStiements, management performed an impairmexysia of the
assets in accordance with SFAS No. 144 counting for the Impairment or Disposal of Longdd Assefs(“SFAS 144"),
and concluded that certain assets were not fullgwerable and an impairment loss was recognizéukityear ended
December 31, 2008.

The global economic crisis and related increasecpatitive pressures may continue to negatively chfize average
sales prices of our products. This may requirendsture periods to record additional inventorytenilowns to reflect lower
of cost or market adjustments and revalue certggeta that may become impaired.

Cost of revenue for the year ended December 38 R@fuded a $2.3 million benefit due to a changthe Company’s
assessment of its contingent liability relatednteliectual property claims. Based on developmentiate, the Company does
not believe that it is probable that the Companyintcur a loss relating to these intellectual pedy claims.

Cost of revenue for the year ended December 38 R@fluded share-based compensation expense abxdpyately
$600,000, compared to approximately $700,000 irv2A®st of revenue as a percentage of revenugered to fluctuate i
future quarters depending on the mix of producld, smmpetitive pricing, new product introductiomsts and other factors.

Gross margin.Gross margin for the year ended December 31, 2@38$68.7 million, or 21.4% of revenue, as comp
to $130.8 million, or 30.4% of revenue in 2007. Teerease was primarily attributable to the chamyesvenue and cost of
revenue as discussed above.

We currently believe that our gross margins casustained in the range of 21% to 22% of revendkémear term
based on the currently expected product and custorixe However, actual results may differ substalhtiif, among other
reasons, the economic environment and market gonditleteriorate further.

Research and development expendRssearch and development expenses for the yead @etember 31, 2008 were
$34.7 million, or 10.8% of revenue compared to $3fiillion, or 8.7% of revenue in 2007. This deceesexpenses
reflected a decrease of $3.6 million in consulémgl outside service fees and the favorable imgad#welopment cost
reimbursements from a vendor totaling $1.7 millidhis decline was partially offset by a $1.4 milimcrease in payroll
related expenditures for ongoing research and dpwednt activities. Research and development expen2008 included
share-based compensation of approximately $2.1omjlcompared to approximately $2.5 million in 20&&search and
development expenses as a percentage of revenagaeted to fluctuate in future quarters dependimghe amount of
revenue recognized, and potential variation incth&ts associated with the development of the Cogipgroducts, includin
the number and complexity of the products undeetiggment and the progress of the development teswvith respect to
those products. However, we expect to maintaimereiase our investment in research and developimeontinue to provid
innovative products and services.

Sales and marketing expenselales and marketing expenses for the year endeehieer 31, 2008 were $18.2 million,
or 5.7% of revenue, compared to $20.9 million, @%4 of revenue in 2007. The reduction in expensg pranarily
attributable to a decrease of approximately $1l0anirelated to marketing expenses. Sales and atiaik expenses in 2008
included share-based compensation of approxim&tely million, compared to approximately $1.9 milim 2007. While
managing sales and marketing expenses relativevémue, we expect to continue to make selectediments in sales and
marketing as we introduce new products, marketiagiproducts, expand our distribution channels facds on key
customers around the world.

We currently believe that our sales and marketigeases in the near term may trend higher as @ipeo€ revenue as
we introduce new products in 2009.

General and administrative expense&Seneral and administrative expenses for the yed@dDecember 31, 2008 were
$21.6 million, or 6.7% of revenue, compared to $18illion, or 4.4% of revenue in
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2007. During the year, the Company incurred appnaxély $4.0 million in professional fees and expsn®lated to an
internal review of the Company'’s revenue cut-offigadures, internal controls and accounting relaiexrtain customer
contracts. General and administrative expense808 thcluded share-based compensation of $2.6omjliompared to $4.7
million in 2007.

While we are closely monitoring and undertakingaotrol general and administrative costs, thestsaell be
negatively impacted by legal fees incurred by tbhenfany to defend claims described in Note 8 to@ansolidated Financi
Statements included elsewhere in this report.

Interest income (expenselnterest income, net decreased by approximately $illion for the year ended
December 31, 2008 compared to 2007 primarily dueedecrease in the average yields realized on atketable securities
and cash balances during the year, which resuitémhier income as compared to 2007.

Other income (expensePther income (expense) for the year ended DeceBihe#008 decreased by approximately
$1.2 million, to $729,000 of expense compared {63$300 of income in 2007. This decrease was priyndue to the foreign
exchange losses on our Euro denominated accoustivable and cash balances.

Income tax expense (benefit)Ve recorded an income tax benefit of approxima$87,000 for the year ended
December 31, 2008, which represents an effectivbeaefit rate of 43%. The difference between tdefal and state
statutory combined rate of 36% and our effectiweréde for 2008 is primarily due to the impact ofwkestic and foreign tax
credits for research and development expensesharithpact of accounting for share-based compemsdtio which certain
share-based awards are treated as permanent aifésre

During 2008, management evaluated our deferredahation allowance and determined that the vadmadilowance
related to our U.S. deferred tax assets shoulthe@asignificantly revised. Approximately $1.4 mili@f deferred tax valuatic
allowance relating to the Company’s Canadian sugnsidvas established based on the uncertainty etsedowith the
Canadian subsidiary’s ability to utilize the incsed deferred tax assets. This determination wasdhas available positive
and negative evidence, including scheduled reverdaleferred tax liabilities, projected futureahle income and recent
financial operations. This determination requirgghiicant judgment about the forecasts of futuaeatble income and is
consistent with the plans and estimates we argyusimanage the underlying business. The tax bdioefihe year ended
December 31, 2008 was $2.3 million excluding thieation allowance adjustment. The tax expenseheryear ended
December 31, 2007 was $21.6 million excluding takiation allowance adjustment in 2007.

In accordance with SFAS No. 123(Fhare Based PaymefiSFAS No. 123(R)”), we recognize a tax benefibop
expensing certain shab®sed awards granted under equity incentive conagiensplans, including nonqualified stock optir
and restricted stock, but cannot recognize a taefitecurrently for those share-based compensatiqenses associated with
incentive stock options and employee stock purchiseshares (qualified stock options). For quedifstock options that
vested after our adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), wmgaize a tax benefit in the period when disquaddydispositions of the
underlying stock occur, and for qualified stockiop$ that vested prior to our adoption of SFAS MeB(R), the tax benefit is
recorded directly to additional paid-capital. During 2008, we recorded a tax berafapproximately $1.1 million associa
with share-based compensation. The impact of shased compensation permanent items resulted ioraake of 38.5
percentage points in our annual effective tax berege. Because we cannot recognize the tax hiefoefshare-based
compensation expense associated with qualifiedk stptions until the occurrence of future disqualifydispositions of the
underlying stock and because a portion of thabtmnefit may be recorded directly to additional paidapital, our future
quarterly and annual effective tax rates will bbjsat to greater volatility and, consequently, ability to reasonably estime
our future quarterly and annual effective tax ragediminished.

Net income (loss)For the year ended December 31, 2008, we reponted lass of $1.2 million, as compared to net
income of approximately $38.8 million in 2007. Tdhecrease in net income was due to a decreasedénuewand overall
profitability of the Company as discussed above.
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Year Ended December 31, 2007 Compared to Year Endé2kecember 31, 2006

RevenueRevenue for the year ended December 31, 2007asede$211.9 million, or 97.2%, to $429.9 million
compared to $218.0 million for 2006. The overadlrgase in revenue was primarily attributable tinanease in demand for
our EV-DO, HSDPA, and HSUPA products, which inclsid®/-DO and HSDPA ExpressCards and Embedded Modares
EV-DO and HSUPA FMC products. The increase in EV{@duct sales for the year ended December 31, @0@ipared to
2006 was approximately $167.0 million, mostly catiag of FMC USB modems. Our HSDPA/HSUPA produt¢salso
increased by approximately $44.4 million during 2@@mpared to 2006, primarily as a result of treeéase in shipments of
Embedded Modules and FMC USB modems. Overall, EVe®@nue, which consists primarily of North Amerigaroducts,
represented approximately 73% of revenue in 2007peved to 66% in 2006 while HSDPA/HSUPA productsesented
approximately 27% of revenue in 2007 compared # 8%2006. The mix of revenue by technology is etee to continue
to depend primarily upon, among other things, theggaphic region of our sales efforts and demanalupycustomers.

Cost of revenueCost of revenue for the year ended December 317 2reased $136.4 million, or 83.8%, to $299.1
million compared to $162.7 million in 2006. Theliease in cost of revenue was primarily relatechttnarease in product
cost of $118.4 million due to the increase in paidiales. In addition, freight and distribution tsasicreased by
approximately $3.9 million due to the additionalwoe of products shipped in 2007 compared to 2086.remaining
increase in cost of revenue primarily consistsrofrgrease in royalty costs for intellectual prdapédicenses of $8.4 million,
an increase in manufacturing overhead costs ofoappately $2.9 million, and an increase of appraadety $2.1 million
related to depreciation expense of production egaig procured to increase manufacturing capacitypewed to 2006. Cost
of revenue in 2007 included share-based compensatiapproximately $700,000, compared to approxiyz500,000 in
2006.

Gross margin.Gross margin for the year ended December 31, R@d&ased by $75.6 million, or 137.0%, to $130.8
million compared to $55.2 million for 2006. The iimase was primarily attributable to the increaseirenue as discussed
above. Gross margin as a percent of revenue irenleéas30.4% for the year ended December 31, 200ipaced to 25.3% fc
2006. The increase in gross margin as a percenfageenue was primarily attributable to the addfiil revenue that
exceeded our fixed cost structure, and increaded séhigher margin EV-DO products in 2007 as careg to 2006.

Research and development expendessearch and development expenses for the yead &@egtember 31, 2007
increased $6.3 million, or 20.1%, to $37.6 millicompared to $31.3 million for 2006. The increass wamarily attributable
to an increase of $4.7 million in salary and relatgpenses due to increased headcount to suppareauproduct
development. Other increases consist of equipmehbaerhead costs of approximately $700,000, détien expenses of
approximately $700,000 due to capital equipmentipases, an increase in outside consulting serefcagproximately
$200,000 mainly related to product certificatiorstsp and an increase of approximately $100,00fairet and related
expenses in 2007 compared to 2006. Research artbgement expenses in 2007 included share-basedertation of
approximately $2.5 million, compared to approxinha®&?.3 million in 2006.

Sales and marketing expenseSales and marketing expenses for the year endeehiieer 31, 2007 increased $6.7
million, or 47.2%, to $20.9 million compared to $24million for 2006. The increase was primarilyristitable to an increase
in sales and marketing efforts during 2007 resglimincreased salary and related expenses ofrfiflidn as our salesforce
increased. In addition to the increases in perdaspenses, product marketing and advertising esgeimcreased by
approximately $1.6 million which consisted primguif programs entered into with certain carrierptomote our products,
and travel and related expenditures increased 8600n 2007 compared to 2006. Sales and markekpgreses in 2007
included share-based compensation of approxim&te million, compared to approximately $2.0 miflim 2006.

General and administrative expens&Seneral and administrative expenses for the yededDecember 31, 2007
increased $2.6 million, or 16.0%, to $18.9 millimompared to $16.3 million in 2006. The
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increase was primarily attributable to an increéasgalary and related expenses of approximatel§ #illion, building and
utility expenses of approximately $1.4 million rteld to additional office spaces leased due to noat company growth.
General and administrative expenses in 2007 indstiare-based compensation of $4.7 million, contpar&5.3 million in
2006.

Interest income (expensenterest income, net increased by approximately $#llion for the year ended December
2007 compared to 2006 primarily due to the incréageir average cash and marketable securitieabedan 2007, as well
as an increase in the average yields realized omatketable securities and cash balances, whaliteel in higher income
2006.

Other income (expensePther income (expense) for the year ended DeceBihet007 decreased by approximately
$900,000, or 64.3%, to approximately $479,000 caengpio $1.4 million in 2006. This decrease was prity due to the
decrease in our foreign exchange gains on our 8emominated receivable and cash balances.

Income tax expense (benefit)Ve recorded income tax expense of approximately8aiillion for the year ended
December 31, 2007, which represents an effectiveatizz of 35%. The difference between the federdlstate statutory
combined rate of 37% and our effective tax rate2fa®7 is primarily due to the impact of accountiogshare-based
compensation, for which certain share-based avarelreated as permanent differences, and the tropéax credits for
increased research and development expenses.

During 2007, management evaluated our deferredahation allowance and determined that the vadmadilowance
related to our U.S. deferred tax assets shoultv@aignificantly revised. Approximately $900,000deferred tax valuation
allowance relating to the Company’s Canadian signgidvas released based on capital gains realiaedg2007, and due to
higher future taxable income projections. This dateation was based on 2005, 2006 and 2007 opgredsults and in
anticipation of using net operating losses baseduorent projections of future taxable income. Tdreexpense for the year
ended December 31, 2007 was $21.6 million, excluttie valuation allowance adjustment. The incoméenefit was $2.7
million for the year ended December 31, 2006, whigls primarily due to an adjustment to our valuagtiowance on
specific Canadian and U.S. deferred tax assetpbaimately $2.8 million.

In accordance with SFAS No. 123(R), we recognitxaenefit upon expensing certain share-baseddswaanted
under our equity incentive compensation plans pidiclg nonqualified stock options and restricteclstdut we cannot
recognize a tax benefit currently for those shagedd compensation expenses associated with ineesttick options and
employee stock purchase plan shares (qualifiedk stptions). For qualified stock options that vesaétér our adoption of
SFAS No. 123(R), we recognize a tax benefit ingbeod when disqualifying dispositions of the uriag stock occur, and
for qualified stock options that vested prior ta adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), the tax benefitdsarded directly to
additional paid-in capital. During 2007, we recatdetax benefit of approximately $2.7 million asated with share-based
compensation. The impact of share-based compengagionanent items resulted in an increase of I&péage points in
our annual effective tax rate. Because we canmaoigrgize the tax benefit for share-based compemsatipense associated
with qualified stock options until the occurrenddwure disqualifying dispositions of the underlgistock and because a
portion of that tax benefit may be recorded disettl additional paid-in capital, our future qualyeand annual effective tax
rates will be subject to greater volatility andnsequently, our ability to reasonably estimatefature quarterly and annual
effective tax rates is diminished.

Net income For the year ended December 31, 2007, we repogeiticome of $38.8 million, as compared to net meo

of $443,000 in 2006. The increase in net income dueesto the growth in revenue and overall profitabof the Company as
discussed above.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our principal sources of liquidity are our existioash, cash equivalents and marketable securitebsash generated
from operations. We do not currently have a reva\redit facility or similar loan agreement. As@décember 31, 2008, we
had working capital of $173.2 million and $143.2lion in cash and cash equivalents, short-term etatde securities and
long-term marketable securities, which is a de@ed$9.8 million from $153.0 million at Decembelr,2007. The decrease
is primarily related to the Company’s repurchas§2$.0 million of our common stock during 2008 puast to a stock
repurchase program approved by our Board of DirsdgtoMarch 2008 providing for the repurchase ota$25.0 million of
the Company’s common stock on the open market tir@eptember 5, 2008 (the “Repurchase Program”).

For the year ended December 31, 2008, we recordetilass of approximately $1.2 million and recatdet income of
$38.8 million, as of December 31, 2007. As of DelbenB1, 2008, we had an accumulated deficit of $L8&4llion compare:
to an accumulated deficit of $183.1 million at Deder 31, 2007.

Historical Cash Flows
The following table summarizes our consolidatetesteents of cash flows for the periods indicated.

Year Ended December 3:

200¢ 2007 200¢

(in thousands
Net cash provided by operating activi 25,80( 49,98(  8,65(
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activ (6,987) (35,08%Y (4,15¢)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activ (24,58) 34,22¢ (6,507)
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equig (1,099 864 (34)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis (6,867) 49,98t (2,04))
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of 84,60( 34,61: 36,65:
Cash and cash equivalents, end of 77,73: 84,60( 34,61:

Operating activitiesNet cash provided by operating activities decredse$24.2 million to $25.8 million for 2008
compared to $50.0 million for 2007. During 2008 #25.8 million in cash provided by operations wamarily attributable
to our net loss of approximately $1.2 million bewféset by non-cash charges, including depreciadioth amortization,
charges for inventory losses, and share-based awatien. Net cash provided by operating activitig2007 was
approximately $50.0 million. This was primarilyrédttutable to our net income of approximately $3®i8ion, an increase in
our accrued expenses and income taxes and of mbnsbaredsased compensation expense and depreciation expésseby
increases in our accounts receivable and invenéog,a non-cash increase in deferred taxes.

Investing activitiesNet cash used in investing activities for 2008 aagroximately $7.0 million compared to $35.1
million provided by investing activities in 2007h@& cash used in investing activities in 2008 wanarily related to
purchases of property and equipment, offset bysalets of marketable securities. The cash usedvagtimg activities in 200
was related to net purchases of marketable sexsugfid net purchases of property and equipment.

Financing activities.Net cash used in financing activities for 2008 $%24.6 million, compared to net cash provided by
financing activities of $34.2 million for 2007. Neash used in financing activities in 2008 was priiy related to the
Company'’s repurchase of $25.0 million of its outsliag common stock on the open market pursuaitedepurchase
Program. Proceeds from the exercise of stock optmnl share purchases from the Company made puteuthe employee
stock purchase plan, including related excess eaefits,
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were lower in 2008 compared to 2007 due to leskstption exercise activity. Net cash provided imahcing activities in
2007 was primarily related to $25.0 million of peeds received from the exercise of common stodkmmpand warrants, al
stock purchases under the employee stock purchaseThe Company also realized excess tax beredf#8.3 million from
stock option exercises.

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

The following table summarizes our contractual gditions and commercial commitments at Decembe?2@®13, and th
effect such obligations could have on our liquidityd cash flow in future periods (in thousands):

Payments Due by Fiscal Ye¢
200¢ 201C 2011 201z  201: Total

Operating leases —
$ 2,74¢ $2,78¢ $531 $35C $ $ 6,40¢

Capital lease —
22( 114 114 56 504

Committed purchase orders
73,68:

73,68 — — —

Total contractual obligatio! —
$76,64f $2,89¢ $64f $40€ $  $80,59¢

Our liability for uncertain tax benefits, includimgterest, as of December 31, 2008 was approxim&ts.6 million. Ou
tax liability for uncertain tax benefits is not lnded in our table of contractual obligations anthmercial commitments. We
do not believe that we will pay such amount withire year from December 31, 2008; however, we camasonably
estimate the timing of future payments with respechis liability.

Other Liquidity Needs

The Company expects to incur professional feeseapdnses to defend litigation filed against the Gany or related to
its products, which litigation is discussed in N8t& our Consolidated Financial Statements inaludehis report. These
costs cannot be estimated at this time.

During the next twelve months we plan to incur appnately $15.0 million to $18.0 million for capitexpenditures ar
the acquisition of additional licenses.

We believe that our available cash and investméoggther with our operating cash flows, will béfisient to fund
operations, including the further development af mew products and to satisfy our working capiegjuirements and
anticipated capital expenditures for the next t@ehonths. Our future revenue is dependent on €ilifigf our commitments
under agreements with a small number of major ecoste. Our liquidity could be impaired if there sydnterruption in our
business operations, a material failure to sattsfge contractual commitments or a failure to geteenevenue from new or
existing products.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith accounting principles generally acceptedhi@ United States
of America requires management to make estimatgsaissumptions. These estimates and assumptiois tfereported
amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues, expeaisdslisclosures of contingent assets and lialslitetual results could differ
from these estimates. Critical accounting polieéiadsignificant estimates include revenue recognitidloveance for doubtft
accounts receivable, provision for excess and ebsatventory, valuation of intangible and longelivassets, provision for
warranty costs, royalty costs, income taxes, foreigchange forward contracts, and share-based cwmatien expense.

Revenue Recognitio@ur revenue is generated from the sale of wiretesdems to wireless operators, OEMs and
distributors. Revenue from product sales is recaghupon the later of transfer of title or shipmeinthe product to the
customer. For product sales with acceptance comditbased upon the passage of
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contractually specified time periods, revenue &gnized upon the earlier of such time that theptance period expires or
is waived by our customers upon request. We gnace protection provisions to certain customers taack pricing and othe
terms offered to customers buying similar prodtetassess compliance with these provisions. Wdlkestaallowances for
estimated product returns and price protectiomépteriod in which revenue is recognized. In ediimgefuture product
returns, we consider various relevant factors uidiclg our stated return policies and practices,tastbrical trends. We
recognize revenue in accordance with Staff AccagnBulletin, or SAB, No. 101, Revenue RecognitinrFrinancial
Statements, as amended by SAB No. 104, which pes\wgdiidance on the application of U.S. generaltgpied accounting
principles to selected revenue recognition issues.

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts Receivalil¢e provide an allowance for our accounts recew#n estimated losses
that may result from our customers’ inability toypslVe determine the amount of the allowance byyarirad) known
uncollectible accounts, aged receivables, econenniditions, historical losses, and changes in custgayment cycles and
our customers’ credit-worthiness. Amounts lateedweined and specifically identified to be uncoliblet are charged or
written off against this allowance. To minimize theslihood of uncollectibility, we review our cushers’ credit-worthiness
periodically based on credit scores generated thgiandent credit reporting services, our experigitteour customers and
the economic condition of our customers’ industridaterial differences may result in the amount amihg of expense for
any period if we were to make different judgmentsitilize different estimates. If the financial abtion of our customers
deteriorates resulting in an impairment of theifighto make payments, additional allowances mayéquired. We have not
experienced significant variances in the past betwsrir estimated and actual allowance for doulatfabunts and anticipate
that we will be able to continue to make reasonabtamates in the future.

Provision for Excess and Obsolete Inventdnyentories are stated at the lower of cost (imsfirst-out method) or
market. We review the components of our inventony eur inventory purchase commitments on a redhdars for excess
and obsolete inventory based on estimated futlageuand sales. Write-downs in inventory value démemvarious items,
including factors related to customer demand, esbo@nd competitive conditions, technological advemnor new product
introductions by us or our customers that vary fiaum current expectations. Whenever inventory igtem down, a new cost
basis is established and the inventory is not spbesgly written up if market conditions improve.

We believe that, when made, the estimates we usaldéalating the inventory provision are reasonavie properly
reflect the risk of excess and obsolete inventdfg.have not experienced significant variancesénpiést between our
estimated and actual inventory write-downs. If oostr demand for our inventory is substantially ks our estimates,
inventory write-downs may be required, which couéle a material adverse effect on our consolidittedcial statements.

Valuation of Intangible and Long-Lived Assétée periodically assess the valuation of intangébid long-lived assets,
which requires us to make assumptions and judgmeggsding the carrying value of these assets. dveider assets to be
impaired if the carrying value may not be recovérddased upon our assessment of the following sxanthanges in
circumstances: the asset’s ability to continueginegate income from operations and positive cash ifh future periods; loss
of legal ownership or title to the asset; significahanges in our strategic business objectivesititizhtion of the asset; or
significant negative industry or economic trends.

Our assessment includes comparing the carrying ata@i intangible and long-lived assets to their¥alues, which
are determined using a discounted cash flow mddes. model requires estimates of our future revenpmofits, capital
expenditures, working capital and other relevaatdies. We estimate these amounts by evaluatinfpistorical trends,
current budgets, operating plans and other indukits. If the assets are considered to be impahlmedmpairment charge
recognized is the amount by which the asset’s tagryalue exceeds its estimated fair value.

The timing and frequency of our impairment tedtased on an ongoing assessment of triggering etraattsould reduc
the fair value of our long-lived assets below ttegirrying value. We monitor our intangible and
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long-lived asset balances and conduct formal tastst least an annual basis or earlier when impaitrimdicators are
present. We believe that the assumptions and dasma used to value intangible and long-lived tassere appropriate
based on the information available to managemerd.majority of our long-lived assets are being dimed or depreciated
over relatively short periods, typically two to diyears. This reduces the risk of large impairng@atges in any given peric
However, most of these assets are associatedegitimology that may change rapidly and such chaomas have an
immediate impact on our impairment analysis.

Provision for Warranty Cost&\e accrue warranty costs based on estimatesw&futarranty related replacement,
repairs or rework of products. Our warranty polignerally provides one to three years of coveragerbducts following
the date of purchase. Our policy is to accrue tienated cost of warranty coverage as a comporferdsh of revenue in the
consolidated statements of operations at the téwmenue is recognized. In estimating our future aratyr obligations we
consider various relevant factors, including tretdrical frequency and volume of claims, and thet to replace or repair
products under warranty. The warranty provisiondiar products is determined by using a financiatleldo estimate future
warranty costs. Our financial model takes into adermtion actual product failure rates; estimaggalacement over the
contractual warranty period, repair or rework exgeen and potential risks associated with our difieproducts. The risk
levels, warranty cost information, and failure satsed within this model are reviewed throughoetythar and updated, if a
when, these inputs change.

We actively engage in product improvement progrants processes to limit our warranty costs, butwamranty
obligation is affected by the complexity of our guet, product failure rates and costs incurredioect those product
failures. The industry in which we operate is sabje rapid technological change, and as a reseltperiodically introduce
newer, more complex products. Depending on theitguafl our product design and manufacturing, acpraduct failure rate
or actual warranty costs could be materially gretiten our estimates, which could harm our findnmiadition and results «
operations.

Royalty CostsWe have intellectual property license agreemetisiwgenerally require us to make royalty payments
based on a percentage of the revenue generateddsycaf products incorporating the licensed teabgyl We recognize
royalty obligations in accordance with the termshef respective royalty agreements. We have alswed for estimated
royalty costs in situations where we do not have@gents based upon our current best estimate obyalty obligation.
These estimates are based on various market datenation and other relevant information. If weerinto such
agreements, or when additional market data becawedkable, we will revise our estimates if necegsar

Income TaxeOn January 1, 2007 we adopted FASB Interpretalion48, ‘Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes—An Interpretation of FASB Statement No” (83N 48"). FIN 48 clarifies the accounting fomgertainty in income
taxes recognized in an entity’s financial stateraémtaccordance with FASB Statement No. 109, Actingrfor Income
Taxes, and prescribes a recognition threshold asasarement attributes for financial statement d&ok of tax positions
taken or expected to be taken on a tax return. R 48, the impact of an uncertain income taxitims on the income tax
return must be recognized at the largest amounidtmaore-likely-than-not to be sustained upon abgithe relevant taxing
authority. An uncertain income tax position willtriz® recognized if it has less than a 50% likelthobbeing sustained.
Additionally, FIN 48 provides guidance on derecaigni, classification, interest and penalties, actimg in interim periods,
disclosure and transition.

We recognize federal, state and foreign currentigdmlities or assets based on our estimate adggayable to or
refundable by tax authorities in the current fisgedr. We also recognize federal, state and forééjarred tax liabilities or
assets based on our estimate of future tax efégtbutable to temporary differences and carryids and record a
valuation allowance to reduce any deferred taxtadsethe amount of any tax benefits that, baseavailable evidence and
judgment, are not expected to be realized. We aglyuleview our deferred tax assets for recoveitgtaind assess tt
valuation allowance based on historical taxableine, projected future taxable income, the expetiteidg of the reversals
of existing temporary differences and the
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implementation of tax-planning strategies. If we anable to generate sufficient future taxableimedn certain tax
jurisdictions, or if there is a material changehia actual effective tax rates or time period withihich the underlyin
temporary differences become taxable or deductitdecould be required to increase our valuatioomadhce against our
deferred tax assets which could result in a deeragur effective tax rate and an adverse impaaiperating results. During
2008, 2007 and 2006, we recorded non-cash defercedhe tax benefits (expense) of $(1.4) million,Gsthillion and $2.8
million, respectively, for the changes in the véilia allowances on certain deferred tax assetswieontinue to evaluate
the necessity of the valuation allowance basedemagmaining deferred tax assets.

Foreign Exchange Forward Contractd/e use foreign exchange forward contracts to hétugeconomic exposure
associated with cash and accounts receivable datenominated in Euros. Our forward contractsad@nalify as
accounting hedges. We mark+tmarket the forward contracts and include unrealgaids and losses in the current period
component of other income (expense). During 200872and 2006, we recorded unrealized losses abzjppately
$671,000, $100,000, and $1.4 million, respectivetypur forward contracts. These unrealized loggs offset by realized
foreign currency gains on Eudenominated transactions of approximately $211,8600,000, and $2.8 million during 20(
2007, and 2006, respectively. Realized gains asgk®on foreign exchange transactions are recordgter income
(expense). As of December 31, 2008, the total amafunutstanding forward contracts amounted to ll0an Euros.

Share-based Compensation ExpeNge.grant stock options, restricted stock and iastt stock units to our employees
and non-employee directors under our equity ingergian. The benefits provided under this planshige-based payments
subject to the provisions of SFAS No. 123(R). Camsvlidated financial statements for the years @mdkrember 31, 2008,
2007 and 2006 include compensation expense adat@ldun accordance with the provisions of SFAS N28(R). Share-
based compensation expense was $6.2 million, $Bli&nrand $10.0 million for the years ended Decem81, 2008, 2007
and 2006, respectively.

Under SFAS No. 123(R), we elected to value ourestnased payment option awards using the Black-8shaption-
pricing model. The determination of fair value base-based awards on the date of grant is affégtedir stock price as well
as assumptions regarding a number of complex dnjédtive variables. These significant assumptioctude our expected
stock price volatility over the expected term of tiwards and the expected term of stock options.

We determine our expected volatility by using a boration of historical and implied volatility, otdnded volatility, to
derive our expected volatility assumption as alldweder SFAS No. 123(R) and SAB No. 18Fare-Based
Paymer” (“SAB 107"). Implied volatility is based on the nkat prices of third-party traded options of our ¢oan stock.
We calculate volatility using a blend of impliedlatility and our historical volatility as we believthat it is more reflective of
expected volatility than using only historical vility. The expected term of stock options représehe weighted-average
period the stock options are expected to remaistanding. The expected term of options grantedtimated using the
average of the vesting date, the contractual teminhéstorical experience.

Other assumptions required for estimating fair galader the Black-Scholes option-pricing modeltheeexpected risk-
free interest rate and expected dividend yieldusfatock. Our risk-free interest rate assumptidoeised upon currently
available rates on zero coupon U.S. Governmengssfr the expected term of our stock options. &pected dividend rate
is not applicable to us as we have not historicddiglared or paid dividends nor do we currentlycipdte paying cash
dividends in the foreseeable future.

SFAS No. 123(R) also requires forfeitures to béested at the time of grant and we have estimatedarfeitures

based on historical experience. We will revise &smate, if necessary, in subsequent periodsuihforfeiture rates differ
from our estimates.
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If we change any of the critical assumptions thatuse in the Black-Scholes option-pricing modehsag expected
volatility or expected term or if we decide to wsdifferent valuation model in the future, the cemgation expense that we
record under SFAS No. 123(R) may differ signifidam the future from what we have recorded in therent period. In
addition, as the guidance by regulators for SFAST®3(R) is relatively new, the application of tagsinciples may be
subject to further interpretation and refinemergraime.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the Financial Accounting Statel8oard (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial duating
Standard (“SFAS”) No. 157 (“SFAS 157'Fair Value Measurementsvhich is effective for fiscal years beginningeaft
November 15, 2007. SFAS 157 defines fair valuglgisthes a framework for measuring fair value ugjagerally accepted
accounting principles, and expands disclosureset® fair value measurements. This standard egpplider other
accounting pronouncements that require or perrnivédue measurements, the FASB having previoushctuded in those
accounting pronouncements that fair value is theveat measurement attribute. Accordingly, SFAS d&&s not require any
new fair value measurements. However, for somdiesitthe application of SFAS 157 will change caotneractice. SFAS
157 is applied prospectively and is effective fibfinancial statements issued for fiscal yearsibeigpg after November 15,
2007, and for interim periods within those yeanskFébruary 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff PasitieSP”) FAS 1572,
Effective Date of FASB Statement No., which delays the effective date of SFAS 157 fon4financial assets and liabilities
to fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2088 ctober 2008, the FASB issued FSP FAS 157-3R‘ES57-3"),
Determining the Fair Value of a Financial Asset \Wiiee Market for That Asset is Not Ac, which clarifies the application
of SFAS 157 in a market that is not active and ey an example to illustrate key consideratiordeitermining the fair
value of a financial asset when the market for fimatncial asset is not active. The guidance predidy FSP 157-3, which
was effective upon issuance, and did not have amahimpact on our consolidated financial stateteefihe adoption of
SFAS 157 related to financial assets and liabdlidel not have a material impact on our consoliifiteancial statements. \
are currently evaluating the impact, if any, thBAS 157 may have on our future consolidated firg@rstatements related to
non-financial assets and liabilities.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159 ASE59"), The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities—including an Amendment of FASB Statement No.THiS standard permits an entity to choose to
measure many financial instruments and certainrdthi@s at fair value. Most of the provisions inA5-159 are elective;
however the amendment to SFAS No. 115 (“SFAS 1¥&Cgounting for Certain Investments in Debt and BgBecurities
applies to all entities with available-for-sale séites. The fair value option established by SF&S permits all entities to
choose to measure eligible items at fair valugatified election dates. A business entity willogpinrealized gains and
losses on items for which the fair value option basn elected in earnings at each subsequentiregpddte. The fair value
option: (a) may be applied instrument by instrumeiith a few exceptions, such as investments otiseraccounted for by
the equity method; (b) is irrevocable (unless a efagtion date occurs); and (c) is applied onlgrntre instruments and not
to portions of instruments. The Company has elestédo apply the fair value option to any of itsancial instruments that
are not currently required to be measured at fdires The amendment to SFAS 115 did not have dfisigmt impact to the
Company'’s consolidated financial statements.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141{JAS 141R"),Business CombinationSFAS 141R establishes
principles and requirements for how the acquirea bfisiness recognizes and measures in its fiatataments the
identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assdyrand any noncontrolling interest in the acquiféee statement also
provides guidance for recognizing and measuringyteawill acquired in the business combination detkrmines what
information to disclose to enable users of therfaial statement to evaluate the nature and finheffiects of the business
combination. SFAS 141R is effective for financigtements issued for fiscal years beginning afeszdinber 15, 2008. The
impact on the Compang’'consolidated financial statements of SFAS 141iRgdepend on whether it engages in such acti
and also upon the nature, terms and size of th@isitigns it may consummate after the effectiveedat
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In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161 (“SHA&3"), Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedgin
Activities, an amendment of FASB Statement Nc¢. This new standard requires enhanced disclosaregefivative
instruments, including those used in hedging aatiwi It is effective for fiscal years and intenrariods beginning after
November 15, 2008, and will be applicable to thenPany in the first quarter of 2009. The impact o €Company’s
consolidated financial statements of SFAS 161, wdféactive, will depend on whether the Company gegan such activity
and also upon the nature, terms and size of tltgcs of and after the effective date.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MakRisk
Interest Rate Risk

Our investment portfolio is maintained in accordamgth our investment policy that defines allowalnleestments,
specifies credit quality standards and limits a@dd exposure to any single issuer. The fair vaiueur cash equivalents and
marketable securities is subject to change asudt ifschanges in market interest rates and investrrisk related to the
issuers’ credit worthiness. We do not utilize fin@h contracts to manage our exposure to changieserest rates in our
investment portfolio. At December 31, 2008, we $4d3.2 million in cash, cash equivalents and matKetsecurities, all of
which are stated at fair value. Changes in marketést rates would not be expected to have a iakitapact on the fair
value of $77.7 million of our cash and cash eqentd at December 31, 2008, as these consistedwfities with maturities
of less than three months. A 100 basis point ireerea decrease in interest rates would, howeveredse or increase,
respectively, the remaining $65.5 million of ouvéstments by approximately $239,000. While chamgésterest rates may
affect the fair value of our investment portfolamy gains or losses will not be recognized in amsolidated statements of
operations until the investment is sold or if teduction in fair value was determined to be othanttemporary.

Global Credit Risk

We maintain our cash and cash equivalents and atkeatable securities of various security holdingges, and
maturities with a number of financial institutio¥e place our cash, cash equivalents, and marlkesaiurities in
instruments and with institutions that meet creditlity standards specified in our investment gogjaidelines at the time tl
investments are made. These guidelines also lieiitnount of credit exposure to any one issuesoeisand to any one type
of instrument. Our ability to support our workingpital needs depends, in part, on our available, cash equivalents, and
marketable securities. As a result, any significketrease in the value of our investments may imajeadversely impact ol
ability to support our working capital needs.

We maintain cash, cash equivalents, and markesalolarities with institutions in amounts that, #dit insurance is
available, may exceed depository or investmentrarste coverage available for such balances. Asudtyéhe Company is
subject to market valuation risk and counterpagly that exposes it to losses should significamingfes occur. The recent
global credit crisis has exacerbated the creditagsociated with certain financial instrumentgdominantly those
instruments issued by certain financial institutiohhe Company currently believes that its exposutbese issuers, through
its investment in individual securities, is notrdfgcant. However, the Company maintains investraémtcertain money
market funds that have positions in financial instents of impacted financial institutions. The Camys money market
investments were approximately $68.7 million at &aber 31, 2008. These money market funds attempaiotain a net
asset value (NAV) of $1 per unit of investment. @ldahe underlying investments held by these managket funds suffer
significant losses to market value due to interatst changes or perceived counterparty risk, th¥ Athese money market
funds may suffer declines below the targeted $1 NAMe Company holds money market funds that taaxdetiance of
investment return and preservation of investedtabghirough diversified holdings. As such, the Camypdoes not believe it
currently has significant exposure to NAV declifiesits money market holdings.
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Foreign Currency Exchange Rate Risk

The Company generates significant Euro-denominaeehues, with resulting Euro-denominated accowausivable,
from sales to customers that are members of thep&an Union. During the year ended December 313,2b0ro-
denominated revenue was approximately $75.0 mill@mr Company purchases products, and incurs tizoiéties, from
our contract manufacturers under contracts based3nDollars. As a result, we lack significant &udtenominated purchases
and trade liabilities to offset our exposure tod&denominated sales activity and accounts recesdvalde are therefore subji
to market risk arising from changes in foreign enny exchange rates, principally change in theevafuithe Euro versus the
U.S. Dollar. As a result, changes in Euro to U.8l& foreign currency exchange rates may haveuifgiant impact on the
Company'’s operating results. To mitigate this risk, enter into foreign exchange contracts, priribigarward currency
foreign exchange contracts. These forward curréo@ign exchange contracts cover a portion, gelye8Ps to 80%, but
may cover up to 100%, of the Company’s Euro-baswhtial assets.

At December 31, 2008, we had approximately $1512ami(€10.9 million) of Euro-denominated financadsets, as
compared to $13.2 million (©.0 million) in forward currency foreign exchangmntracts with expiration dates of 125 day
less. At December 31, 2008, we recorded an uneghlass of approximately $671,000 on our outstanéiimward contracts.
In addition, at December 31, 2008, we recorded@pprately $211,000 in unrealized foreign currenayng related to our
outstanding Eura@lenominated accounts receivable balances. Bothritealized loss on the outstanding forward congrant
the unrealized gains on outstanding Euro-denomin@gecivables were recorded in other income andresin our
consolidated statement of operations.

Assuming a translation of our Euro-denominated mereefor the year ended December 31, 2008 at aagw&uro-to-
U.S. Dollar exchange rate of $1.4892 and a unifemmpercent strengthening or weakening of this amgk rate, we estimate
that income before income taxes for the year efEmbmber 31, 2008 would increase or decrease bypx@pmately $7.5
million. This analysis does not give effect to dagward currency foreign exchange contracts that beaused to hedge
foreign currency risk.

Actual gains and losses in the future may diffetemially from the hypothetical gains and lossesaésed above based
on fluctuations in interest and foreign currencgheange rates and our actual exposure and hedginggirtions.

Revenues generated outside the United StatesdingliEuropean Union and other countries, as a p&ge of total
revenues, were approximately 36% for the year efxmber 31, 2008 and 25% for 2007. The Compasyanues
generated by sales to non-European Union courgreetypically denominated in U.S. Dollars. Competittonditions in the
markets in which we operate may limit our abilityincrease prices in the event of adverse chamgasriency exchange
rates. Sales of these products are affected byatlie of the U.S. Dollar relative to other curressiand in particular, the
Euro. Any long-term strengthening of the U.S. dotlauld depress the demand for these U.S. manuétproducts, reduce
sales, or cause the Company to reduce per uringgltices.

Item 8.  Financial Statements and Supplementary De

The index to our consolidated financial statements the Report of Independent Registered Publioating Firm
appears in Part |V of this report.

ltem 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants orcégnting and Financial Disclosure
There have been no disagreements with our IndepéRimyistered Public Accounting Firm on accounting financial

disclosures.
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Iltem 9A. Controls and Procedure
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and proceduresgléfiaed in Rule 13d5(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1
as amended) that are designed to provide reasoasdlieance that information required to be disdaseur reports to the
SEC is recorded, processed, summarized and repwittgid the time periods specified in the SEC’sesiand forms, and that
such information is accumulated and communicatezitananagement, including our principal executiffecer and our
principal financial and accounting officer, as ajpiate, to allow timely decisions regarding regdidisclosure.

As required by SEC rules, we carried out an evadnatinder the supervision and with the participaf our
management, including our principal executive @ffiand our principal financial and accounting dafioof the effectiveness
of the design and operation of our disclosure @&@nd procedures as of December 31, 2008, thefehé period covered
by this report. Based on the foregoing, our priatgxecutive officer and principal financial andagnting officer concluded
that our disclosure controls and procedures wdeetdfe as of December 31, 2008.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

An evaluation was also performed under the supervisnd with the participation of our managemamtjuding our
principal executive officer and our principal firgal and accounting officer, of any change in aiteinal control over
financial reporting that occurred during our lastél quarter and that has materially affecteds oeasonably likely to
materially affect, our internal control over findaareporting.

Except for changes described below under the hgd&emedial Efforts to Address Prior Material Weeks,” that
evaluation did not identify any change in our intrcontrol over financial reporting that occurdaging our latest fiscal
guarter and that has materially affected, or isseably likely to materially affect, our internargrol over financial
reporting.

Remedial Efforts to Address Prior Material Weakness

In our Quarterly Reports on Form {for the periods ended March 31, 2008, June 308 2Bd September 30, 2008,
reported that the Company’s monitoring controls hatlidentified and adequately responded to changgks facing the
organization during the quarter ended March 31820@ese risks included changes in key personnghaease in sales
activity through international distributor channalsd other changes in the business environmera.rasult, necessary
enhancements to the Company’s internal control fimancial reporting were not made to sufficienttjtigate these risks.
This deficiency in our monitoring controls led tetfollowing control deficiencies which, when catesied in the aggregate,
resulted in a material weakness in our internatrobover financial reporting as of March 31, J@teand September 30,
2008:

1. The Company'’s policies and procedures did notige sufficient detail regarding revenue recogmiti
requirements related to cutoff periods across tiores, continuing performance obligations and shipterms for such
transactions resulting from a design deficiencgun internal control.

2. The Company did not have effective processetaice to ensure that all relevant contractual aheks
information was communicated in a timely manner agntihe sales, operations and accounting organiwafar non-
standard and modified sales transactions resuitimy a design and operating deficiency in our inéticontrol.

3. The Company did not provide adequate trainimgéotain personnel regarding the Company’s revenue
recognition cutoff policies and procedures to eaghat revenues from these transactions were rezjim the proper
period resulting from an operating deficiency i auernal control.
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A material weakness is a deficiency, or combinatibdeficiencies, in internal control over finarlaieporting that
creates a reasonable possibility that a materisstaiement of our annual or interim financial steets will not be prevented
or detected on a timely basis.

During the quarter ended June 30, 2008, our Audih@ittee initiated a review of our revenue cutafigedures,
internal control and accounting related to certaistomer contracts.

During the quarters ended June 30, 2008, SepteBih@008 and December 31, 2008, the Company enthdtsce
monitoring controls to more promptly identify andiegjuately respond to changing risks facing the Gampln order to
monitor the evolving business and better anticipiates that pertain to our Company and our indystrgnagement has
implemented entity-level controls around the cdreérovironment and more specific monitoring contrisund the operation
of the daily business operations. These contrdfs déresure that management is aware of the evolafidihne Company’s
business and industry, and is able to anticipatieaaldlress issues that could affect our financiadnting. The following is a
summary of these controls.

» The Company formalized the monitoring of finangi&nning, reconciliation and communication with extéve
management under a new Senior Manager of FinaRtdaahing and Analysis who reports directly to theet
Financial Officer and coordinates montr

*  Budget reviews with the investigation of materiaftiances
* Review meetings and project reviews attended nfiral management, ai
e Margin analysis with investigation of varianc

» The Board and management established an indepeintemtal audit function staffed with skilled, qified
individuals.

* Monthly inventory review meetings are held with thperations and finance organizations to moniteeiory
issues

* Quarterly product quality and warranty meetingstaetel with the operations and finance organizationsonitor
quality and warranty issue

* The review of significant contracts and customerchase orders by the Corporate Controller is momnaélly
documented

* The sales questionnaire to be completed quartgrthdsales organization has been redesigned &r eowider
variety of topics and activities that could affém financial statement

* Three new questionnaires have been developed émuéixe management, key line management, finarmepp,
and stock administration staff to complete and sigoh quartel

» The Corporate Controll's review of all significant, nc-routine transactions is more formally documen
During the fourth quarter of 2008, the Company iempénted a written policy regarding revenue recagnitelated to

sales of inventory which automates the processlighwthe sales organization submits reports t@atiedunting organization
that identify non-standard or modified sales tratisas. This policy:

» implements a training program for sales, accoundimg) operations employees related to our reveroggnition
policies and procedure

» enhances our existing internal controls to regséles employees to complete more comprehensivenated report
designed to promptly identify any n-standard or modified sales transactic

» addresses non-standard and modified sales tramsscgiarticularly with respect to internationaksafransactions, to
better ensure appropriate accounting for salesaeions in accordance with GAA

» establishes a formalized policy whereby the finaaio@ accounting organization approves transactiomgving
rebates
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» requires the sales organization to complete reveseagnition forms in a timely manner, a

» establishes a formal policy to require sales andparations employees to promptly notify the firmaad accountir
organization of

» sales transactions involving special discountsbates

* modifications made to shipping terms of sales &atisns within the last five days of a quar
» nor-conforming products shipped to customers,

» transactions requiring the creation and/or useaifers.

Our management believes that these efforts haveoired our internal control over financial reportiaigd remediated
the material weakness. However, any system of alsntno matter how well designed and operated, agmovide absolute
assurance that the objectives of the system ofalcente or will be met, and no evaluation of colgtrean provide absolute
assurance that all control issues within a comgeawe been detected or will be detected under &ingial future conditions.

Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The management of Novatel Wireless, Inc. is resptmfor establishing and maintaining adequateriraecontrol over
financial reporting. Internal control over finanlcigporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and fpdiider the Exchange Act)
is a process designed to provide reasonable assuragarding the reliability of financial reportiagd the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in ataoce with generally accepted accounting principléie United States of
America (“GAAP”). Internal control over financia¢porting includes those policies and procedures(#)aertain to the
maintenance of records that in reasonable detailrately and fairly reflect the transactions argpdsitions of assets,

(b) provide reasonable assurance that transadienecorded as necessary to permit preparatifinasfcial statements in
accordance with GAAP, (c) provide reasonable asegrghat receipts and expenditures are being magléroaccordance
with authorizations of management and the boawdirettors, and (d) provide reasonable assuran@edizg prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, uselisposition of assets that could have a mateffatt on the financial
statements.

In connection with the preparation of this reporty management, under the supervision and witipaéngcipation of our
principal executive officer and our principal fir@gal and accounting officer, conducted an evalumatibthe effectiveness of
our internal control over financial reporting asDE¥cember 31, 2008 based on the criteria establishthe Internal Control—
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSpong Organizations of the Treadway Commissi@(SQO”). As a
result of that evaluation, management has concltitgdour internal control over financial reportiwgs effective as of
December 31, 2008.

KPMG LLP, the independent registered public accaognfirm that audited the consolidated financialtesments of
Novatel Wireless, Inc. included in this report, esmied an audit report on the effectiveness ofdielwVireless Incs interna
control over financial reporting as of December3108. The report, which expresses an unqualifigdion on the
effectiveness of Novatel Wireless Inc.’s internahtrol over financial reporting as of December 3008, is included in this
Item under the heading “Report of Independent Rexgid Public Accounting Firm.”
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Novatel Wireless, Inc.:

We have audited Novatel Wireless, Inc.’s intermaitool over financial reporting as of December 3108, based on
criteria established imternal Control—Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatafrthe
Treadway Commission (COSO). Novatel Wireless, ;xmanagement is responsible for maintaining effedtiternal contra
over financial reporting and for its assessmeihefeffectiveness of internal control over finahecggporting, included in the
accompanying Item 9(AYlanagement’s Annual Report on Internal Control oWarancial ReportingOur responsibility is to
express an opinion on the Company’s internal cdotrer financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedgdof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8d&nited
States). Those standards require that we plan erfidrp the audit to obtain reasonable assurancetatitether effective
internal control over financial reporting was mained in all material respects. Our audit includbthining an understandil
of internal control over financial reporting, assiag the risk that a material weakness exists testihg and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internalrcbibased on the assessed risk. Our audit alsaeded| performing such otf
procedures as we considered necessary in the dtanoes. We believe that our audit provides a redde basis for our
opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed to provide reasonableasssuregarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the prepacet of financial statements for external purposeadcordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s inteeoatrol over financial reporting includes thosdigies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records thatasonable detail, accurately and fairly etftbe transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) ideoreasonable assurance that transactions anelescas necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in adaace with generally accepted accounting princjzled that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made ordg@ordance with authorizations of management amedtors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurancediaggrevention or timely detection of unauthorizedjuisition, use, or
disposition of the company'’s assets that could lzareaterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or d¢t@isstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectivemés future periods are subject to the risk thatms may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, pthtealegree of compliance with the policies orcprures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Novatel Wireless, Inc. maintainadall material respects, effective internal cohtreer financial
reporting as of December 31, 2008, based on @itsiablished internal Control—Integrated Framewoiksued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tread@ommission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Ro@snited
States), the consolidated balance sheets of Nowételess, Inc. and subsidiaries as of Decembe2308 and 2007, and the
related consolidated statements of operationskstdders’ equity and comprehensive income (logs, @ash flows for each
of the years in the three-year period ended DeceBhe2008, and our report dated March 15, 2009esged an unqualified
opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

/sl KPMG LLP

San Diego, California
March 15, 2009
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PART Il

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governce

(a) Identification of DirectorsThe information under the caption “Election of &itors” appearing in the Proxy
Statement to be filed for the 2009 Annual Meetih@tckholders is incorporated herein by reference.

(b) Identification of Executive Officer§he information under the caption “Certain Infation with Respect to
Executive Officers” appearing in the Proxy Statetrerbe filed for the 2009 Annual Meeting of Stoolders is incorporated
herein by reference.

(c) Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Au¢ information under the caption “CompliancehwStection 16
(a) of the Exchange Act” appearing in the Proxyté&teent to be filed for the 2009 Annual Meeting tdckholders is
incorporated herein by reference.

(d) Code of EthicsThe Company has adopteade of Business Conduct and Ethidsich, together with the policies
referred to therein, is applicable to all directafficers and employees of the Company. The Cdédusiness Conduct and
Ethics is intended to cover all areas of professieonduct, including conflicts of interest, disslwe obligations, insider
trading and confidential information, as well asngdiance with all laws, rules and regulations aggdble to our business. The
Company encourages all employees, officers andtdirgto promptly report any violations of any bétCompany’s policies.
The Code of Business Conduct and Ethics is postealiowebsite avvww.novatelwireless.coin the Investor tab under
“Corporate Governance.” In the event that a suliseaamendment to, or a waiver from, a provisiothaf Code of Business
Conduct and Ethics that applies to our princip&ceive officer or principal financial and accoungtiofficer is necessary, tl
Company intends to post such information on itssiteb

(e) Audit CommitteeThe information under the caption “Information Refjag the Board and its Standing Committees
appearing in the Proxy Statement to be filed fer2b09 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorpedaterein by reference.

ltem 11. Executive Compensatio

The information under the heading “Executive Congagiion and Other Information” appearing in the pr8katement
to be filed for the 2009 Annual Meeting of Stoclkdls is incorporated herein by reference.

ltem 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners aitianagement and Related Stockholder Matt:

The information under the heading “Security Owngrsi Certain Beneficial Owners and Management Ratated
Stockholder Matters” appearing in the Proxy Statene be filed for the 2009 Annual Meeting of Stholders is
incorporated herein by reference.

ltem 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, abgtector Independenct

The information under the heading “Certain Relathips and Related Transactions and Director Indégrere”
appearing in the Proxy Statement to be filed fer2b09 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is incorpedaterein by reference.

ltem 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Servic

The information under the heading “Principal Acctaum Fees and Serviceappearing in the Proxy Statement to be -
for the 2009 Annual Meeting of Stockholders is iq@yated herein by reference.
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PART IV

ltem 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedul
(@) 1. Index to consolidated financial statements

See Index to consolidated financial statementsage f--1.
2. Index to financial statement schedules

The following financial statement schedules forykars ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006dsheukad in
conjunction with the consolidated financial statatseand related notes thereto.

Schedule Page
Schedule H—Valuation and Qualifying Accounts F-
30

Schedules not listed above have been omitted be¢heg are not applicable or are not required eiitformation
required to be set forth therein is included in¢basolidated financial statements or related nitteeto.

(b) Exhibits

The following Exhibits are filed as part of, or orporated by reference into this report:

Exhibit

Number Description

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatinoaofporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to
Compan’s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2000, filed M&¢h2001)

3.2 Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restatetifi€ate of Incorporation (incorporated by refecertc

Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report omird.0-Q for the period ended September 30, 2002 fi
November 14, 200z

3.3 Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restatetifi€ate of Incorporation (incorporated by refecertc
Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Amendment No. 1 torrdi0-K on Form 10-K/A for the year ended
December 31, 2003, filed March 31, 20!

34 Amended and Restated Certificate of DesignaticBesfes A Convertible Preferred Stock (incorpordtg
reference to Exhibit 3.4 to the Company’s Amendnidmt 1 to Form 10-K on Form 10-K/A for the year
ended December 31, 2003, filed March 31, 2(

35 Certificate of Designation of Series B ConvertiBieeferred Stock (incorporated by reference to EkBib tc
the Company’s Amendment No. 1 to Form 10-K on F&f¥K/A for the year ended December 31, 2003,
filed March 31, 2004

3.6 Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2He Compan’'s Annual Report on Form -K for the yeal
ended December 31, 2000, filed on March 27, 2
4.1 Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreerdated as of June 15, 1999, by and among the

Company and certain of its stockholders (incorpatdty reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s
Registration Statement on Forr-1 (No. 33:-42570), filed July 28, 2000, as amend

4.2 Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreemat¢ddas of June 30, 2000, by and among the Company
and certain of its stockholders (incorporated bgnence to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Registrati
Statement on Form-1 (No. 33:-42570), filed July 28, 2000, as amend
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Exhibit
Number Description
4.3 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of Septetthe?002, by and among the Company and certaits

stockholders (incorporated by reference to ExHitiitto the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-kedfi
October 21, 200z

4.4 Form of Securities Purchase Agreement enterednintonnection with the Company’s 2003 Series B
Convertible Preferred Stock Financing (incorpordigdeference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Cuirre
Report on Form-K, filed March 28, 2003

4.5 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of March20R3, entered into in connection with the Com|'s
2003 Series B Convertible Preferred Stock Finan@imgprporated by reference to Exhibit 4.8 to the
Compan'’s Current Report on Forn-K, filed March 28, 2003

4.6 Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of JahBaB004, entered into in connection with the Conyfma
January 2004 Common Stock and Warrant Financingsketion (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 0G@®
the Compan’s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2003, filed Mdrsh2004;

4.7 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of Janliar2004, entered into in connection with the Cony’'s
January 2004 Common Stock and Warrant Financingsketion (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1G&®
the Compan’s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2003, filed Mdrsh2004;

10.1* Amended and Restated 1997 Employee Stock Optian(P1897 Plan”) (incorporated by reference to Exthib
10.1 to the Compar' s Registration Statement on For-1 (No. 33:-42570), filed July 28, 2000, as amend
10.2* Amended and Restated Novatel Wireless, Inc. 2000k3Ihcentive Plan (2000 Plan”) (incorporated by

reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s QuaytB&port on Form 1@ for the quarter ended June 30, 2(
filed August 9, 2007

10.3* Form of Executive Officer Stock Option Agreementlanthe 2000 Plan (incorporated by reference tatiixh
10.3 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-Ktlie year ended December 31, 2005, filed March 16,
2006)

10.4* Form of Director Stock Option Agreement under tB8@Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.the
Compan’s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2005, filed Mda¢h2006]

10.5* Form of Amendment of Stock Option Agreements, daidg 20, 2006, by and between the Company

Optionee with respect to the 1997 Plan (incorparatereference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s iQaréy
Report on Form 1-Q for the period ended September 30, 2006, filedexter 9, 200€

10.6* Form of Amendment of Stock Option Agreements, daitdg 20, 2006, by and between the Company and
Optionee with respect to the 2000 Plan (incorparatereference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s iQaréy
Report on Form 1-Q for the period ended September 30, 2006, filedexter 9, 200€

10.7* Form of Amendment of Stock Option Agreements, daidg 20, 2006, by and between the Company
Optionee with respect to the 2000 Plan and graatenpursuant thereto in 2004 and subsequentlyrfincatec
by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s QardytReport on Form 10-Q for the period ended Saptr
30, 2006, filed November 9, 200

10.8* Amended and Restated Novatel Wireless, Inc. 200pl&ree Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by referen
to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Repartfmrm 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2004 fil
August 9, 2007
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Exhibit
Number Description
10.9* Form of Restricted Share Award Agreement for retd stock granted to n-employee directors (incorporat

by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s @rar Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended RMhe
2006, filed August 9, 200¢

10.10* Form of Restricted Share Award Agreement for retd stock granted to executive officers (incorpetdy
reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Company’s Quérteeport on Form 1@ for the period ended June 30, 2(
filed August 9, 2006

10.11* Form of 2006 Management Bonus Plan (incorporatecefgrence to Exhibit 10.12 to the Comp’s Quarterly
Report on Form 1-Q for the period ended June 30, 2006, filed Augu&006)
10.12* Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between@ompany and each of its executive officers and

directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibitt1. the Company’s Registration Statement on Forin([So.
33:-42570), filed September 14, 2000, as amen

10.13* Form of Change of Control Letter Agreement by aathWieen the Company and certain of its executivieerf
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to tf@pany’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the qeri
ended June 30, 2004, filed August 16, 2C

10.14* Form of 2007 Executive Officer Bonus Plan (incogied by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the period ended March 31, 2007, filed May 2@07)
10.16* Employment Agreement, dated November 2, 2007, loybatween Peter V. Leparulo and the Company

(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to tr@pany’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the tgrar
ended September 30, 2007, filed November 9, 2

10.17* Separation Agreement, dated December 8, 2008, dpaiveen George B. Weinert and the Comg
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to tr@pany’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed Decemb@r
2008)

10.18** Consulting Agreement, dated Decembley Z008, by and between John R. Ross and the Company

21 Subsidiaries of Novatel Wireless, Inc. (incorpodatg reference to Exhibit 21 to the Comp’s Annual Repor
on Form 1-K for the year ended December 31, 2005, filed Ma¢h2006]

23.1% Consent of KPMG LLP, Independent Registered Pukticounting Firm

24 Power of Attorney (See signature pa

31.1 Certification of our Principal Executive Officer@gted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sark-Oxley Act of
2002.**

31.2 Certification of our Principal Financial Officer @pted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-G\d¢pf
2002.**

32.1 Certification of Principal Executive Officer andiftipal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. &t 1350,

as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sar-Oxley Act of 2002.*

*  Management contract, compensatory plan or arrange
**  Filed herewitl
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Regidthas duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf bytidersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: March 16, 20( NovATEL WIRELESS INC.

By: /s| RETERLEPARULO
Peter Leparulo
Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Office
(Principal Executive Officer)

POWER OF ATTORNEY

Know all men by these presents, that each persaseviignature appears below constitutes and agge#ter Leparulo
and Kenneth Leddon, or either of them, as hisandlawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with fidwer of substitution, for
him and in his name, place and stead, in any drdpacities, to sign any and all amendments ®Ahinual Report on Form
10-K, and to file the same, with all exhibits thereand other documents in connection therewithh tie Securities and
Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneyfaét and agents, full power and authority to dd perform each and
every act and thing requisite and necessary twhe @h connection therewith as fully to all inteatsd purposes as he might
or could do in person, hereby ratifying and confirgnall that said attorneys-in-fact and agentgheir substitute or
substitutes may lawfully do or cause to be dongitiye hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Examge Act of 1934, this Annual Report on Form 10-K &s been
signed below by the following persons on behalf ¢ifie Registrant and in the capacities and on the das indicated.

Signature Title Date
/s/ RETERLEPARULO Executive Chairman and Chief Executive March 16, 2009
Peter Leparulo Officer (Principal Executive Office
/s/ KENNETH LEDDON Senior Vice President and Chief Financial March 16, 2009
Kenneth Leddon Officer (Principal Financial and
Accounting Officer
/s REG LORENZETTI Director March 16, 2009
Greg Lorenzetti
/s/ HorsTJ. RIDWILL Director March 16, 2009
Horst J. Pudwill
/s/ ®HN Ross Director March 16, 2009
John Ros:!
/s/ Davip A. WERNER Director March 16, 2009
David A. Werner
Director
James Ledwith
s-1
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NOVATEL WIRELESS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands)

ASSETS
Current asset
Cash and cash equivale
Marketable securitit
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubdfttounts of $1,010 in 2008 and $¢
in 2007
Inventorie:
Deferred tax assets, |
Prepaid expenses and of
Total current asse
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depieciaf $33,417 in 2008 and $27,452 in
2007
Marketable securitit
Intangible assets, net of accumulated amortizaifds8,568 in 2008 and $8,150 in 2(
Deferred tax assets, |
Other asse
Total asse’
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY
Current liabilities
Accounts payab
Accrued expens
Accrued income tax
Total current liabilitie
Capital lease obligations, lo-terrr
Other lon¢-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingenc
Stockholder’ equity
Series A and B preferred stock, par value $0.000®shares authorized and none
outstandin
Common stock, par value $0.001; 50,000 shares anélah 30,327 and 32,602 shares
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2008 and 2&pectivel
Additional paic-in capita
Accumulated other comprehensive ince
Accumulated defic

Treasury stock at cost; 2,436 and 0 common shaf@saember 31, 2008 and 2007,
respectivel

Total stockholder equity
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financgdistents

F-2
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As of December 3!
200¢ 2007

$ 77,730 $ 84,60(

58,53¢ 68,41:
40,07 71,94:
23,22¢ 25,87¢
7,518 8,71
9,92¢ 4,461
217,00¢ 264,00¢
20,22t 22,15
6,96: —
1,86( 1,53¢
14,40: 8,61¢
27¢ 31E

$ 260,73: $ 296,62¢

$ 23,22¢ $ 38,54%

20,62¢ 24,47
— 29€
43,85: 63,31
26¢ 362
18,64 15,20
62,76 78,88
30 33
407,25 400,78¢
62 65
(184,38)  (183,13Y)
222,96 217,74
(25,000 —
197,96 217,74

$ 260,73: $ 296,62¢

5/5/201(



Form 1(-K

Table of Contents

Page55 of 85

NOVATEL WIRELESS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 3:

200¢ 2007 200¢
Revenu $320,970  $429,900 $217,97.
Cost of revent 252,23: 299,06: 162,74¢
Gross margi 68,74: 130,84 55,22:

Operating costs and expen:

Research and developm 34,74 37,55¢ 31,317

Sales and marketil 18,19t 20,937 14,16¢

General and administrati 21,55( 18,89¢ 16,30¢

Total operating costs and exper 74,48" 77,39¢ 61,79’

Operating income (los (5,74%) 53,441 (6,56¢)
Other income (expens

Interest income, n 4,28: 5,592 2,89¢

Other income (expense), (729) 47¢ 1,407
Income (loss) before tax (2,190 59,51¢ (2,267)
Income tax expense (bene (947) 20,75¢ (2,706
Net income (los: $ (1,247 $38,76: $  44:
Per share dal
Net income (loss) per sha

Basic $ (0.0H) $ 12z § 0.01

Diluted $ (00H) $ 121 §$& 0.01
Weighted average shares used in computation of basi diluted net income (loss)

per share
Basic 31,15¢ 31,38¢ 29,58(
Diluted 31,15¢ 32,007 30,05¢
See accompanying notes to consolidated financdistents
F-3
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NOVATEL WIRELESS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(in thousands)

Accumulated

Additional Other Total Total
_Common Stock Paid-in Treasury  Accumulated Comprehensive Stockholders’ Comprehensive
Shares  Amount Capital Stock Deficit Income (Loss) Equity Income (Loss)
Balance, December 31, 2C 29,32¢ $ 29 $343,73( $ — $(222,349) $ (364) $ 121,05¢ $ —
Exercise of stock options and
warrants and shares issued
under employee stock
purchase ple 417 1 1,67: — — — 1,67¢ —
Excess tax benefits from stc
options exercise — — 71€ — — — 71€ —
Shar«-based compensati — — 10,01 — — — 10,01 —
Net incom¢ — — — — 442 — 445 442
Other comprehensive incon
Unrealized gain ol
marketable securiti — — — — — 33< 33< 33¢
Total comprehensive incor $ 77¢€
Balance, December 31, 2 29,74: 30 356,13 — (221,90) (31) 134,23t
Exercise of stock options and
warrants and shares issued
under employee stock
purchase ple 2,85¢ 3 24,987 — — — 24,990 $ —
Excess tax benefits from stc
options exercise — — 9,81( — — — 9,81( —
Shar«-based compensati — — 9,851 — — — 9,851 —
Net incom¢ — — — — 38,76: — 38,76 38,76:
Other comprehensive incon
Unrealized gain on
marketable securiti — — — — — 96 96 96
Total comprehensive incor $  38,85¢
Balance, December 31, 2( 32,60: 33 400,78¢ — (183,139 65 217,74
Exercise of stock options,
vesting of restricted stock
units and awards, and
shares issued under
employee stock purchase
plar 161 — 43t — — — 43t $ —
Excess tax benefits from stc
options exercise — — (155) — — — (155) —
Shar«-based compensati — — 6,18 — — — 6,18% —
Repurchase of common stc  (2,43€) (3) 3 (25,000 — — (25,000 —
Net los: — — — — (1,247) — (1,247) (1,243)
Other comprehensive incon
Unrealized loss on
marketable securiti — — — — — (3 (3) (3)
Total comprehensive lo $ (1,246
Balance, December 31, 2 30,327 $ 30 $407,25! $(25,000 $(184,38) $ 62 $ 197,96:

See accompanying notes to consolidated financdistents

F-4
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NOVATEL WIRELESS, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Page57 of 85

Year Ended December 3:

200¢ 2007 200€
Cash flows from operating activitit
Net (loss) incom $ (1,24Y)  $ 38,76 $ 44:
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to rehgprovided by operating
activities
Depreciation and amortizati 11,56: 10,95: 8,03’
Loss (gain) on disposal of fixed as: (12) 10z —
Impairment loss on equipment and intangible a 84C — —
Provision for bad dek 1,25¢ 30¢ 63t
Inventory provisiol 8,19¢ 2,79¢ 2,92¢
Shar«-based compensation expe 6,18 9,851 10,01
Excess tax benefits from equity based aw (117) (9,290 (71€)
Non-cash income tax bene (4,579 (4,849 (5,45¢)
Changes in assets and liabilit
Accounts receivab 30,61¢ (24,479 (20,28¢)
Inventorie: (6,857) (3,012 (5,452
Prepaid expenses and other a: (5,109 (1,202) 6,47
Accounts payab (15,55) (799) 5,12(
Accrued expenses, income taxes, and 60z 30,83( 6,92¢
Net cash provided by operating activi 25,80( 49,98( 8,65(
Cash flows from investing activitie
Purchases of property and equipn (8,609) (16,209 (8,125)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipi — 12t —
Purchases of intangible as: (1,28¢9) (24C) (50C)
Purchases of securit (85,099 (88,33¢) (60,75%)
Securities maturities/sal 88,00¢ 69,57( 65,22’
Net cash used in investing activil (6,987) (35,085 (4,156
Cash flows from financing activitie
Payments on line of cre — — (5,000
Principal payments under capital lease obliga (133) (51 (3,89])
Repurchase of common st (25,000 — —
Proceeds from exercise of stock options and emplsyack purchase pl 43¢ 24.,99( 1,67¢
Excess tax benefits from stock options exer« 117 9,29( 71€
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activ (24,58)) 34,22¢ (6,501)
Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equie (1,099 864 (34)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis (6,867) 49,98t¢ (2,041
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of 84,60( 34,61: 36,65:
Cash and cash equivalents, end of $77,73: $ 84,60( $ 34,61:
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow informa
Cash paid during the year f
Interes $ 20 $ 60 $ 134
Income taxe $ 5,34( $ 2,87( $ 38t
Supplemental disclosures of r-cash financing activitie
Capital lease obligatio $ 15C $ 51C $ —
See accompanying notes to consolidated financdistents
F-5
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NOVATEL WIRELESS, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Nature of Business and Significant Accounting Polies

Novatel Wireless, Inc. (the “Companyitlas incorporated in 1996 under the laws of theeSihDelaware. The Compa
is a provider of wireless broadband access solsifionthe worldwide mobile communications markdte TTCompany’s broad
range of products includes 3G wireless PC cardexpaessCard modems, embedded modems, communicatifimare and
Fixed-Mobile Convergence (“FMC”) solutions for wiees network operators, infrastructure provideistriutors, original
equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”), and vertical nedskworldwide. Through the integration of its haadevand firmware,
the Company'’s products are designed to operatenoajarity of wireless networks in the world and yide mobile
subscribers with secure and convenient high speagka to corporate, public and personal informatioough the Internet
and enterprise networks. The Company also offdte/ate engineering, integration and design servigéts customers to
facilitate the use of its products.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include to@ants of the Company and its wholly-owned subsids. All
intercompany transactions and balances have beeimaled in consolidation.

Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts in the consolidatedrfgia statements have been reclassified to confortihe current year
presentation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith accounting principles generally acceptedhi@ United States
of America (“GAAP”) requires management to makeneates and assumptions. These estimates and assnsngffect the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revennelsexpenses and disclosure of contingent assetiéadiidies. Actual results
could differ materially from these estimates. Siigaint estimates include allowance for doubtfulaats receivable,
provision for excess and obsolete inventory, vabmadf intangible and long-lived assets, provisionwarranty costs,
estimated royalty costs, income taxes, and shaseebeompensation expense.

Adverse global economic conditions, illiquid credliarkets, volatile equity, foreign currency andrggamarkets and
declines in consumer spending have combined te#&ser the uncertainty inherent in such estimatesissuinptions. As
future events and their effects cannot be deterdnivigh precision, actual results could differ siipantly from these
estimates, particularly those related to the comdivf the economy.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquicegtinents with original maturities of three month¢egs at the time «
acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents consistoofay market and mutual funds, U.S. government déimer @orporate debt
securities and are recorded at market value, wdpginoximates cost.

Marketable Securities

The Company accounts for its marketable secuiitie€cordance with Statement of Financial Accounttandards
(“SFAS”) No. 115 (“SFAS 115")Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and BgSecuritiesAll of the Company’s
cash equivalents and marketable securities areettes “available-for-sale” under
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SFAS 115. Marketable securities consist of highgjyitl investments with a maturity of greater tharee months when
purchased. While it is the Company’s intent to h&ldh securities until maturity, the Company mdlycsstain securities for
cash flow purposes. Thus, the Company’s marketdiarities are classified as available-for-saleaedcarried on the
balance sheet at fair value with the related uiredlgains and losses included in accumulated attraprehensive income
(loss), a component of stockholders’ equity. Realigains and losses on the sale of marketableiSesare determined
using the specific-identification method.

The Company classifies its marketable securitissuagnt or non-current in accordance with ARB R8statement and
Revision of Accounting Research Bulle((*ARB 43"). All securities whose maturity or sake éxpected within 1 year are
classified as “current” on the consolidated balastoeet. All other securities are classified asglogarm” on the consolidated
balance sheet.

On January 1, 2008, the first day of fiscal 2008, Company adopted Statement of Financial Accogr8tandards
No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS No. 1578 financial assets and liabilities. The SFAS. W67 fair value
hierarchy consists of three levels: Level 1 failuea are valuations based on quoted market pricastive markets for
identical assets or liabilities that the entity taes ability to access; Level 2 fair values aresthwaluations based on quoted
prices for similar assets or liabilities, quotettes in markets that are not active, or other isipliat are observable or can be
corroborated by observable data for substantia#yfull term of the assets or liabilities; and, eE8 fair values are valuatio
based on inputs that are supported by little omaoket activity and that are significant to the failue of the assets or
liabilities.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (fimsfirst-out method) or market. Shipping and hamglcosts are classified
as a component of cost of revenue in the conseliistatements of income.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost and defwé using the straight-line method. Test equiptmesmputer
equipment and purchased software, furniture artdrids and product tooling are depreciated oveslra@ging from two to
five years and leasehold improvements are depestiater the shorter of the related lease periadseful life. Amortization
of assets held under capital leases is includel@meciation expense.

Expenditures for repairs and maintenance are erpess incurred. Expenditures for major renewalstaetterments th:
extend the useful lives of existing property andipment are capitalized and depreciated. Uponeragnt or disposition of
property and equipment, any resulting gain or issscognized in the consolidated statements ofatioas.

Intangible Assets

Intangible assets include the costs of non-excéuaivd perpetual worldwide software technology keen License costs
are amortized on a straight-line basis over thienes¢d useful lives of the assets, which is estahat three years.

Long-Lived Assets

The Company periodically evaluates the carryingiealf the unamortized balances of its long-livesets including
property and equipment and intangible assets,termdne whether impairment of these assets hasm@etor whether a
revision to the related amortization periods shdaddnade. When the carrying value of an asset dsdbe associated
undiscounted expected future cash flows, it is iclemed to be impaired and is written down to faitue. Fair value is
determined based on an evaluation of the undisedunture cash flows or appraised value in accarelavith SFAS No. 144
(“SFAS 144™),Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal
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of Long-Lived Asset3his evaluation is based on management’s projestidhe undiscounted future cash flows associated
with each class of asset. If management’s evalvétidicates that the carrying values of these asmetimpaired, such
impairment is recognized by a reduction of the igaple asset carrying value to its estimated falue and is expensed as a
part of continuing operations.

Revenue Recognition

The Company’s revenue is generated from the salrefess modems to wireless operators, OEM custeored value
added resellers (“VARs") and distributors. Revefroen product sales is recognized upon the lateraoisfer of title or
shipment of the product to the customer. For prodales with acceptance conditions based uponabsage of contractually
specified time periods, revenue is recognized uperearlier of such time that the acceptance pempires or is waived by
our customers upon request. The Company recoresrddfrevenue for cash payments received from mestin advance «
when revenue recognition criteria are met. The Camgghas granted price protection to certain custsiimeaccordance with
the provisions of the respective contracts anckg@cicing and other terms offered to customersrggimilar products to
assess compliance with these provisions. To daéeCbmpany has not incurred material price prateatbligations.
Revenues from sales to certain customers are dubjeooperative advertising allowances. Such aloves are provided for
upon revenue recognition. Such amounts are rec@sl@dreduction of revenue or operating expenaedordance with
Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”), Egiag Issues Task Force (“EITF”), Issue No. 01AB¢counting for
Consideration Given by a Vendor to a Customer (Iditlg a Reseller of the Vendor’'s Products) EITF Issue No. 01-9. The
Company establishes reserves for estimated proeuwosns allowances in the period in which reversueecognized. In
estimating future product returns, the Company iclems various factors, including the Company’sestaeturn policies and
practices and historical trends. The Company reizegrrevenue in accordance with Staff AccountintieBin (“SAB”)

No. 101, “Revenue Recognition in Financial Statetsiéms amended by SAB No. 104, which provides amie on the
application of generally accepted accounting pples to selected revenue recognition issues.

Research and Development Costs
Research and development costs are expensed agthcu

Warranty Costs

The Company accrues warranty costs based on essirohfuture warranty related replacement, repairework of
products. Our warranty policy generally provides oo three years of coverage for products followtmegydate of purchase.
The Company’s policy is to accrue the estimated abwarranty coverage as a component of costwdmree in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operatibtie time revenue is recognized. In estimatigduiture warranty
obligations the Company considers various factacduding the historical frequency and volume dicis, and the cost to
replace or repair products under warranty. The avdyrprovision for its products is determined bingsa financial model to
estimate future warranty costs. The Company'’s firelrmodel takes into consideration actual prodaittire rates; estimated
replacement, repair or rework expenses; and patargks associated with our different productse Tisk levels, warranty
cost information, and failure rates used withirs tmodel are reviewed throughout the year and ugdidtend when, these
inputs change.

Royalty Costs

The Company has intellectual property license ageges which generally require the Company to makalty
payments based on a percentage of the revenueateshéry sales of products incorporating the license
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technology. The Company recognizes royalty oblayediin accordance with the terms of the respectiyalty agreements.
The Company also accrues for estimated royaltysdostituations where it does not have agreemsntsing its current best
estimate of the royalty obligation. These estimatesbased on various market data information aimer oelevant
information. If the Company subsequently enters sch agreements, or when additional market datarbes available, the
Company will revise its estimates if necessary.dgycosts are recorded as a component of cogvehues in the period
when incurred.

Income Taxes

The Company recognizes federal, state and foraigmiet tax liabilities or assets based on its estiinof taxes payable
to or refundable by tax authorities in the curifgsttal year. The Company also recognizes fedetate &nd foreign deferred
tax liabilities or assets based on the Companyimese of future tax effects attributable to temggrdifferences and carry
forwards and records a valuation allowance to reduty deferred tax assets by the amount of anlyeagfits that, based on
available evidence and judgment, are not expectbe realized.

On January 1, 2007, the Company adopted FASB Ireterion (“FIN”) No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes—An Interpretation of FASB Statement No.(1I® 48”). FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for certainty in income
taxes recognized in an entity’s financial stateraémtaccordance with SFAS No. 1@9;counting for Income Taxeand
prescribes a recognition threshold and measureatgiftutes for financial statement disclosure af pasitions taken or
expected to be taken on a tax return. Under FINREimpact of an uncertain income tax positiortt@nincome tax return
must be recognized at the largest amount that ig4tikeely-than-not to be sustained upon audit by devant taxing
authority. An uncertain income tax position willtri® recognized if it has less than a 50% likelthobbeing sustained.
Additionally, FIN 48 provides guidance on derecaigni, classification, interest and penalties, actimg in interim periods,
disclosure and transition.

Derivatives and Hedging

The Company enters into derivative financial instemt contracts only for hedging purposes and adsdanthem in
accordance with SFAS No. 133 and its amendmentsSS¥@\ 137 Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities-Deferral of the Effective Date of FASB Statememt 183 SFAS No. 138Accounting for Certain Derivative
Instruments and Certain Hedging Activitand SFAS No. 14%mendment of Statement 133 on Derivative Instrusreamd
Hedging Activitie. These derivative financial instruments consistlgmf foreign currency forward exchange contragise
purpose of these derivative instruments is to heldg&ompanys economic exposure associated with sales andlzsece
denominated in Euros. The Company'’s forward cotdgrdo not qualify as accounting hedges as presthieSFAS No. 133.
The Company marks-to-market the forward contragtsiacludes unrealized gains and losses in theentiperiod as a
component of other income (expense) in the conataitistatements of operations.

As of December 31, 2008, the total amount of ontlitag forward contracts amounted to $13.2 milliaf (nillion
Euros). For the years ended December 31, 2008, 20@72006, the Company recorded losses of $671§10®,000, and a
gain of $1.4 million on its foreign currency forwlagxchange contracts, respectively.

Litigation
The Company is currently involved in certain legadceedings. In accordance with SFAS NoA&counting for
Contingencieg“SFAS 5”), the Company will record a loss wher ttompany determines information available priahto

issuance of the financial statements indicateso$eis both probable and estimable. Where a iiglid probable and there is
a range of estimated loss with no best estimatiednmange,
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the Company records the minimum estimated liabitpted to the claim. As additional informatiorcbmes available, the
Company assesses the potential liability relatetiédCompanys pending litigation and revises its estimatesgifessary. Tt
Company'’s policy is to expense litigation costsrasirred.

Share-Based Compensation Information under SFA® 123

The Company has granted incentive stock optiomsrployees, restricted stock (both shares and wanithonqualified
stock options to employees and non-employee menuf¢inge Board of Directors. The Company also hasraployee stock
purchase plan (ESPP) for all eligible employeegirigu2006, the Company adopted SFAS No. 1238RareBased Payme
(“SFAS 123(R)"), which requires the measurement r@odgnition of compensation expense for all st@ged payment
awards made to employees and directors includimzkstption grants, non-vested stock grants, andhases of Company
stock on employees’ behalf made pursuant to thepaoyis ESPP based on estimated fair values. SFA3 28{R)
superseded the Company'’s previous accounting ukctErunting Principles Board Opinion (“APB”) No. 2id
SFAS No. 123Accounting for Stock-Based Compensafit8FAS 123").

SFAS No. 123(R) requires companies to estimatéaih&alue of share-based payment option awardbhewate of
grant using an option-pricing model. The valuehaf &wards that are ultimately expected to vestearegnized as
compensation expense over the requisite serviéedseusing the straight-line method for awards ity service
conditions. Prior to the adoption of SFAS No. 123@Re Company accounted for share-based awaminpioyees and
directors using the intrinsic value method in ademice with APB No. 25 as allowed under SFAS No. 1#8ler the intrinsic
value method, share-based compensation expenseemmized by the Company only if the exerciseguatthe grant was
less than the fair market value of the underlyitagls at the date of grant.

As of December 31, 2008, total unrecognized shasedb compensation cost related to unvested stdihepvas $6.6
million, which is expected to be recognized ovareaghted average period of approximately 29 monlssof December 31,
2008, total unrecognized share-based compensaigirmrelated to restricted stock was $1.3 milliohjal is expected to be
recognized over a weighted average period of apmately 17 months. As of December 31, 2008, toteeaognized ESPP
compensation cost related to ESPP share purchaseapproximately $1.0 million, which is expectedbéorecognized over
weighted average period of approximately 14 morithe. Company has included the following amountssfare-based
compensation expense, including the cost relatstbitk options, restricted stock, and the ESPEdrconsolidated
statements of operations for the years ended Dese8ih 2008, 2007 and 2006 (in thousands, excephzee data):

Years Ended December 3

200¢ 2007 200¢
Cost of revent $ 57€ $ 71¢ $ 487
Research and developm 2,06 2,49: 2,26¢
Sales and marketil 954 1,90¢ 1,997
General and administrati 2,59( 4,73¢ 5,25¢
Totals 6,18: 9,857 10,01
Tax effect on sha-based compensati (1,10%) (2,718 (2,607)
Net effect on net income (lo: $ 5,07¢ $7,13¢ $ 7,40/
Effect on net income (loss) per shi
Basic $ 0.1¢€ $ 0.2t $ 0.2t
Diluted $ 0.1€ $ 0.2Z $ 0.2F
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Share-based compensation expense recognized dieiygars ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 26Qaiéd
(1) compensation expense for awards granted prjdout not yet fully vested as of January 1, 2@0®] (2) compensation
expense for the share-based payment awards grsultedquent to December 31, 2005, based on thedgsntair values
estimated in accordance with the provisions of SRES123 and SFAS No. 123(R), respectively. The Gamy has
historically disclosed and currently recognizesrsHased compensation expense using the straightrdethod for awards
that contain only service conditions. For awardg tfontain performance conditions, the Companygeizes the share-based
compensation expense on a straight-line basisafdn gesting tranche as required by SFAS No. 12ZRAS No. 123(R)
requires forfeitures to be estimated at the timgraht and revised, if necessary, in subsequeidgseif actual forfeitures
differ from those estimates. The Company has hgsilly and continues to estimate the fair valusiudire based option
awards using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model

To estimate compensation expense that was recabnimer SFAS No. 123(R) for the years ended DeceB8the2008,
2007 and 2006, the Company used the Black-Schptésnepricing model with the following weighted-aege assumptions
for equity awards granted:

Year Ended December 3:

200¢ 2007 200€

Expected dividend yie 0% 0% 0%
Risk-free interest rat

Stock Option 2.5% 4.6% 4.7%

ESPF 0.5% 4.7% 4.7%
Volatility:

Stock Option 70% 59% 71%

ESPF 71% 47% 51%
Expected Tern

Stock Option 5.29 year 4.76 year 5.50 year

ESPF 14 month 15 month 15 month

The risk-free interest rate is based on the impliettl available on U.S. Treasury issues with amedent remaining
term. The Company has not paid dividends and ctiyrdoes not plan to pay dividends in the foreséeéliure. The
expected volatility is based on an average of hicgband implied volatility of the Company’s stofde the related expected
life. The expected term of options granted is estéd using the average of the vesting date, theaminal term and historic
experience.

Computation of Net Income (Loss) Per Share

SFAS No. 128Earnings Per Shargequires companies to compute basic and diluedipare data for all periods for
which a statement of operations is presented. Begilmcome (loss) per share excludes dilutioniarmdmputed by dividing
the net income (loss) by the weighted-average nuwibsghares that were outstanding during the peiidted EPS reflects
the potential dilution that could occur if secweggtior other contracts to acquire common stock exeeecised or converted ir
common stock. Potential dilutive securities arelwked from the diluted EPS computation in lossgsias their effect
would be anti-dilutive.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amounts of the Company'’s cash and egslvalents, accounts receivable, accounts payatuleccrued
expenses approximate their fair value due to #teirt-term nature. The Company performs credituatains of key
customers and management believes it is not exgosgdnificant credit risk on its accounts recéieain excess of
established reserves.
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Comprehensive Income

SFAS No. 130Comprehensive Incomeequires that all items recognized under accagrgtandards as components of
comprehensive income be reported in a financidé¢stant that is displayed with the same prominesaatizer financial
statements. Comprehensive income consists of neihga and unrealized gains and losses on avaifabigale securities.

Segment Information

SFAS No. 131Disclosures About Segments of an Enterprise andt&elnformationrequires public companies to
report financial and descriptive information abtheir reportable operating segments. The Compaatiiies its operating
segments based on how management internally eealsaparate financial information, business aws/iind management
responsibility. The Company operates in a singkin®ess segment consisting of the development, matwré and sale of
wireless access products.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 15FASS157"),Fair Value Measurementsvhich is effective for
fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. SRA7 defines fair value, establishes a framewarkrfeasuring fair
value using generally accepted accounting prinsjied expands disclosures related to fair valuesarements. SFAS 157
applies under other accounting pronouncementgélaire or permit fair value measurements, the FAS®ng previously
concluded in those accounting pronouncements #diratdlue is the relevant measurement attributeofdingly, SFAS 157
does not require any new fair value measurememtaeider, for some entities, the application of ®iatement will change
current practice. SFAS 157 is applied prospectiaalg is effective for all financial statements Eddior fiscal years
beginning after November 15, 2007, and for intgpeniods within those years. In February 2008, tA8E issued Staff
Position (“FSP”) FAS No. 157-Effective Date of FASB Statement No.,Mffich delays the effective date of SFAS 157 for
non-financial assets and liabilities to fiscal yeheginning after November 15, 2008. In Octobet82@ie FASB issued FSP
FAS 157-3 (“FSP 157-3"Determining the Fair Value of a Financial Asset \Witlee Market for That Asset is Not Active
which clarifies the application of SFAS 157 in arket that is not active and provides an exampi#ustrate key
considerations in determining the fair value oirafficial asset when the market for that financiaktis not active. The
guidance provided by FSP 157-3, which was effeafjyen issuance, and did not have a material impacur consolidated
financial statements. The adoption of SFAS 157edl#o financial assets and liabilities did notdavmaterial impact on our
consolidated financial statements. We are currentdfuating the impact, if any, that SFAS 157 mayehon our future
consolidated financial statements related to noartial assets and liabilities.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159 ASE59"), The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and
Financial Liabilities—including an Amendment of FASB Statement No.THiS standard permits an entity to choose to
measure many financial instruments and certainrdthi@s at fair value. Most of the provisions inA5-159 are elective;
however the amendment to SFAS 115, applies tméities with available-fossale securities. The fair value option establi
by SFAS 159 permits all entities to choose to messligible items at fair value at specified eleotdates. A business entity
will report unrealized gains and losses on itermsioich the fair value option has been electedaimimgs at each subsequent
reporting date. The fair value option: (a) may pplied instrument by instrument, with a few exceps$, such as investments
otherwise accounted for by the equity method; ghjrevocable (unless a new election date occarsj;(c) is applied only to
entire instruments and not to portions of instrutaefhe Company has elected not to apply the &iresoption to any of its
financial instruments that are not currently regdito be measured at fair value. The amendmerfAS315 did not have a
significant impact to the Company’s consolidatetaficial statements.
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In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141{JAS 141R"),Business CombinationSFAS 141R establishes
principles and requirements for how the acquirea bfisiness recognizes and measures in its filatataments the
identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities assdyrand any noncontrolling interest in the acquifése statement also
provides guidance for recognizing and measuringyteawill acquired in the business combination detkrmines what
information to disclose to enable users of therfaial statement to evaluate the nature and finhetfiects of the business
combination. SFAS 141R is effective for financitements issued for fiscal years beginning afeszdinber 15, 2008. The
impact on the Compang’'consolidated financial statements of SFAS 141iRgdepend on whether it engages in such acti
and also upon the nature, terms and size of th@isitigns it may consummate after the effectiveedat

In March 2008, the FASB issued SFAS No. 161 (“SH&3"), Disclosures about Derivative Instruments and Hedgin
Activities, an amendment of FASB Statement Nc¢. This new standard requires enhanced disclosaregefivative
instruments, including those used in hedging aatiwi It is effective for fiscal years and intenrariods beginning after
November 15, 2008, and will be applicable to thenBany in the first quarter of fiscal 2009. The irmpan the Company’s
consolidated financial statements of SFAS 161, wdféactive, will depend on whether it engages iohsactivity, and also
upon the nature, terms and size of the activityfasd after the effective date.

2. Fair Value Measurement of Assets and Liabilities

Pursuant to SFAS 157, the Company’s cash equiwband investments are generally classified witkirel 1 or level 2
of the fair value hierarchy because they are valis#dg quoted market prices, broker or dealer dioots, or alternative
pricing sources with reasonable levels of pricegparency. We maintain an investment portfolioariaus security holding
types and maturities. We place our cash equivalmsnvestments in instruments that meet creditityustandards, as
specified in our investment policy guidelines. Tdgsidelines also limit the amount of credit expeso any one issue, iss|
or type of instrument. Our foreign exchange forwemdtracts are valued using pricing models that tato account the
currency rates as of the balance sheet date.

Our investment in financial instruments valued loasie quoted market prices in active markets arérogstments in
money market securities. Such instruments are ghyetassified within level 1 of the fair valuednarchy.

The types of financial instruments valued baseduted prices in markets that are not active, brokelealer
guotations, or alternative pricing sources witrsggeable levels of price transparency include moststmengrade corporat
bonds, commercial paper, timed deposits, governarahtagency securities, asset backed securitiddpegign exchange
forward contracts. Such instruments are generédlysdied within level 2 of the fair value hieraych

As of December 31, 2008, we did not have any assdiabilities without observable market valueattivould require a
high level of judgment to determine fair value @&8 assets).
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The following table summarizes our financial asse¢msured at fair value on a recurring basis ioraance with

SFAS 157 as of December 31, 2008 (in thousands):

Description
Assets
Cash equivalent
Money market func
Total cash equivaler
Shor-term marketable securitit
Asset backed securiti
Commercial papt
Corporate debentures/boi
Government agency obligatic
Total shor-term marketable securiti
Long-term marketable securiti¢
Corporate debentures/boi
Government agency obligatic
Total lon¢-term marketable securiti
Total financial asse
Liabilities:
Foreign exchange forward contre

3. Financial Statement Details
Marketable Securitie

Balance as o

December 31, 2008 Level 1 Level 2
$ 68,67 $68,67- $ —
68,67 68,67 —

2,48: — 2,48:

7,152 — 7,152

26,88¢ — 26,88¢

22,017 — 22,017

58,53¢ — 58,53¢

2,32¢ — 2,32¢

4,63¢ — 4,63¢

6,96 — 6,96

$ 134,17( $68,67- $65,49¢

$ 671 $ — $ 671

The Company'’s portfolio of available-for-sale sétieis by contractual maturity consists of the fallng (in thousands):

Gross

Gross

Maturity in Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated
December 31, 20C Years Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Asset backed securiti lorles $ 2,511 $ — $ (29 $ 2,48:
Commercial papt lorles 7,15¢ — (7) 7,152
Corporate debenture/bor lorles 26,90: — (18) 26,88¢
Government agency obligatic lorles 21,96¢ 52 — 22,011
Total shor-term marketable securiti 58,531 52 (53) 58,53¢
Corporate debenture/bor 1to: 2,32t — Q) 2,32¢
Government agency obligatic 1to: 4,54( 98 — 4,63¢
Total lon¢-term marketable securiti 6,86¢ 98 (@) 6,96:
$65,40: $ 15C $ (B9 $65,49¢
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Gross Gross

Maturity in Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Estimated

December 31, 20C Years Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Asset backe 1lorles $ 9,337 $ 31 $ — $ 9,36¢
Certificate of deposi lorles 1,70( — — 1,70(
Commercial papt lorles 27,581 8 — 27,59t
Corporate debenture/bor lorles 29,70¢ 44 — 29,74¢
Total shor-term marketable securiti $68,32¢ $ 83 $ — $68,41:

The net unrealized gains for the years ended DegeB1 2008, 2007, and 2006, of $96,000, or $62r@A®f taxes,
and $83,000, or $65,000 net of taxes, and unreblasses of $48,000, or $31,000 net of taxes, otisedy, are the result of
market conditions affecting fixed-income securiéesl are included in accumulated other comprehenssome in the
consolidated balance sheets.

At December 31, 2008, the Company did not haveimgstments in individual securities that have bieea continuous
unrealized loss position deemed to be temporarynfme than 12 months. Because the Company’s geingzat is to hold its
investment securities to maturity, and considetivgghigh quality of the investment securities, @@mpany believes that the
unrealized losses at December 31, 2008 repregentgorary condition and will not result in realizedses on sale or
maturity of the securities.

Inventories
Inventories consist of the following (in thousands)

December 31

200¢ 2007
Finished gooc $22,51¢  $25,36¢
Raw materials and compone 714 50¢

$23,22¢ $25,87¢

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment consists of the followimgtfiousands):

December 31

200¢ 2007
Test equipmel 34,95( $ 31,18t
Computer equipment and purchased soft 8,98¢ 9,511
Product toolini 4,99: 3,78
Furniture and fixture 1,73t 2,31¢
Leasehold improvemer 2,97t 2,811
53,64 49,60:
Les—accumulated depreciation and amortize (33,41)) (27,457

$ 20,22¢ $ 22,15!

The carrying values of long-lived assets are regfor impairment whenever events or changes aquuistances
indicate that the recorded value cannot be recdvieoen the undiscounted future cash flows.
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When the carrying value of an asset exceeds tloeiassd undiscounted expected future cash flows dbnsidered to be
impaired and is written down to fair value, whishdietermined based on either undiscounted futiste ft@ws or appraised
values in accordance with SFAS 18uring the fourth quarter of 2008, the Company aeieed that certain product test
equipment and product tooling had been impaireddas the Company’s projected cash flow for cenpmoducts associated
with those assets. The Company recorded an impafriogs of approximately $638,000 in its cost afereue as a result of
this analysis. There was no impairment loss reabfdethe years ended December 31, 2007 and Deae3tb2006.

We monitor our intangible and long-lived asset haés and conduct formal tests on at least an afasé# or earlier
when impairment indicators are present.

Depreciation and amortization expense relatingop@rty and equipment was $10.6 million, $9.9 miilliand $6.5
million for the years ended December 31, 2008, 260d 2006, respectively. At December 31, 2008201¥, assets held
under capital leases had a net book value of $89%6d $462,000, respectively, net of accumulateorzation of
$161,000 and $48,000, respectively.

Intangible Asset
Intangible assets consist of the following (in thands):

December 31

200¢ 2007

HSUPA, HSDPA, UMTS, and GPRS licen $ 5,97 $ 5,097
EV-DO and CDMA license 4,45¢ 4,59:
10,42¢ 9,68t

Les—accumulated amortizati (8,56¢) 8,150
$ 1,86( $1,53¢

In accordance with SFAS No. 144SFAS 144"),Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Longdd Assetdn
the fourth quarter of 2008, the Company identifiéggering events for impairment for certain acediintangible assets. The
Company determined that certain technology licehselsbeen impaired due to the end of commercalriforoducts that
utilized those software licenses. As a result,Gbenpany recorded an impairment loss of approxim#&202,000 in cost of
revenue for the year ended December 31, 2008. Wesero impairment loss recorded for the yearsaidgember 31,
2007 and December 31, 2006.

Amortization expense relating to intangible licenhseas $1.0 million, $1.1 million and $1.5 millicorfthe years ended
December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Future estimated amortization expense is as fol(@wthousands):

Amount
200¢ $1,39:
201C 30z
2011 and thereaft 16E&

$1,86(
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Accrued Expense
Accrued expenses consist of the following (in trends):

December 31

200¢ 2007
Royaltie: $ 3,651 $ 8,37
Payroll and relate 3,47¢ 7,05¢
Product warrant 3,471 3,07
Market development fund and price protec 2,96: 1,89¢
Deferred rer 74C 982
Professional fet 1,00z 1,332
Othel 5,31 1,75¢

$20,62¢ $24,47¢

4. Income (Loss) Per Share

Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) excludes diluéind is computed by dividing net income or lossh®/weighted-
average number of common shares outstanding fquetied. Diluted EPS reflects the potential dilatibhat could occur if
securities or other contracts to issue common steie exercised or converted into common stock.

Potentially dilutive securities (currently consigfiof options, warrants, restricted stock and egg#cstock purchase
plan withholdings using the treasury stock methard)excluded from the diluted EPS computation §s fperiods and when
their exercise price is greater than the markegepsis their effect would be anti-dilutive.

The following table sets forth the computation dfittd weighted average common and potential comshames
outstanding for the years ended December 31, Z®, and 2006, respectively (in thousands).

Years Ended December 3

200¢ 2007 200¢
Basic weighted average common shares outsta 31,15¢ 31,38¢ 29,58(
Effect of dilutive securitie!
Warrant: — 89 22
Options — 461 39¢
Employee Stock Purchase F — 13 —
Unvested Restricted Stock (including Restricteccstanits’ — 55 58
Diluted weighted average common and potential comsf@res outstandi 31,15¢ 32,000 30,05¢

Weighted average options, warrants, RSUs and EB&sto purchase a total of 3,833,226 shares]1833hares, and
4,503,911 shares of common stock for the yearsceBeeember 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 respectivelse watstanding but
not included in the computation of diluted earnipgs share as their effect was anti-dilutive.
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5. Stockholders Equity
Preferred Stock

The Company has a total of 2,000,000 shares oéSdriand Series B preferred stock authorized Buwance at a par
value of $0.001 per share. No preferred sharesuarently issued or outstanding.

Common Shares Reserved for Future Issuance

The Company has reserved shares of common stogo$sible future issuance as of December 31, 28@8&llaws (in
thousands):

Amount

Stock options outstandi 3,48t
Restricted stock units outstand 27C
Stock incentives available for future grant under 2000 Stock Incentive Pl 2,24¢
Stock warrants outstandi 17z
Shares available under the Employee Stock Purdblas 17¢
Total shares of common stock reserved for isst 6,34¢

Treasury Stock

In March 2008, the Company announced that its Bo&mirectors had approved a stock repurchase prodthe
“Repurchase Program”) providing for the repurchafsep to $25.0 million of the Company’s common $ton the open
market through September 5, 2008. The Repurchaggd™n did not require the Company to repurchasespagific number
of shares. During the year ended December 31, 2088 ompany repurchased a total of 2,435,853 slwdiri¢s outstanding
common stock for $25.0 million under the RepurcHaigram. The Repurchase Program was completée ithird quarter
of 2008. The Company currently holds these repsmthahares as treasury stock.

6. Stock Incentive and Employee Stock Purchase Plau
Stock Incentive Plan

In July 2000, the Company’s Board of Directors awped, and in September 2000, the Company’s stodks!
approved the 2000 Stock Incentive Plan (the “20@0'). The Compensation Committee of the CompaBgard of
Directors administers the 2000 Plan. Awards madkeuthe 2000 Plan have historically vested ovéreeit three or a four
year period but the plan permits the granting cdr@s with alternative vesting schedules includiagting based o
performance criteria.

Under the 2000 Plan, the Company may issue restritbck awards that, upon satisfaction of vestorglitions, allow

for employees and noemployee directors to receive common stock. Issemnésuch awards reduce common stock ava
under the 2000 Plan for stock incentive awards.
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A summary of stock option activity is as follows thousands, except per share data):

Weighted Average

Stock Weighted Average Remaining Aggregate
Options Exercise Price Per Contractual Term Intrinsic
Outstanding Option (Years) Value
Options outstanding January 1, 2 5,44¢ $ 13.5¢
Grante( 79¢ 10.51
Exercise: (301) 2.8¢
Cancelle (481) 15.9¢
Options outstanding December 31, 2 5,46( 13.57
Grante( 784 15.3¢
Exercise: (2,600 9.8¢
Cancelle (320 15.8¢
Options outstanding December 31, 2 3,32¢ 16.5¢
Grante( 407 6.5t
Exercise: (6) 7.7¢
Cancelle (240 15.6¢
Balance December 31, 2( 3,48¢ $ 15.4¢ 6.3 $ 481
Options Exercisable, December 31, 2 2,54¢ $ 17.1¢ 5.52 $ 171

During the year ended December 31, 2008, the itttahsic value of options exercised to purchaseammn stock was
approximately $26,000, and the weighted averagesédile of options to purchase common stock thaieweanted was
$3.82. During the year ended December 31, 200#pthéintrinsic value of options exercised to fhase common stock was
$30.2 million, and the weighted average fair vadfieptions to purchase common stock that were gthwias $8.37 per
share. During the year ended December 31, 200@pthkintrinsic value of options exercised to gwase common stock was
$2.3 million, and the weighted average fair valfieftions to purchase common stock that were gdawees $6.48 per share.

The total fair value of option awards recognize@gsense during the years ended December 31, 2008,and 2006
was approximately $3.5 million, $5.9 million andpapximately $8.1 million, respectively.

Restricted Stock Uni

During 2008, the Compensation Committee of the BadiDirectors, pursuant to the 2000 Plan, awaad&atal of
83,595 restricted stock units (RSUs) to employeésiavalues ranging from $3.00 per share to $@&0share. One-third of
the shares underlying each grant becomes issuallarmary 16, 2009, 2010, and 2011, assuming esttiamployment or
other qualifying service to the Company throughhsdate. The Company estimated the aggregate fiaie wd these awards
to the employees at approximately $263,000, basetiefair value of the Company’s common stockedtthe grant date.
The estimated fair value of these awards is befngréized to compensation expense for each graatsiraight-line basis
over the three-year service period.

During 2007, the Compensation Committee of the BadiDirectors, pursuant to the 2000 Plan, awaad&atal of
106,773 RSUs to employees and six non-employeetdieat fair values ranging $10.40 per share ®2Z2per share. The
shares underlying the RSUs become issuable in #fqeal annual installments beginning on the firstigersary of the grant
date, assuming continued employment or other giradjfservice to the Company through each vesting.dde Company
estimated the aggregate fair value of these awarthe
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employees and non-employee directors at approxiyndie3 million, based on the fair value of the Guany’s common stoc
price at the grant date. Compensation cost is kegimgrtized to compensation expense for each grastraight-line basis
over the three-year service period.

In January 2007 and October 2007, the Compens@tiommittee of the Board of Directors, pursuant ®2000 Plan,
also awarded a total of 100,000 RSUs and 150,008sR&@&spectively, to certain executives and toGbmpany’s Executive
Chairman, respectively, at fair values of $10.40 $R5.49 per share, respectively. One-third ofstheres underlying each
grant becomes issuable annually each January, coaimgein 2008, subject to achievement of specifierating metrics in
fiscal 2007 and continued employment through eadsting date. As of December 31, 2007, all of theraging metrics had
been achieved resulting in satisfaction of thegrenince conditions for the awards. The Companyneséid the aggregate
fair value of these awards to executives at appraiely $4.8 million, which is being amortized toygmensation expense ol
straight-line basis for each vesting tranche. Naitgepr equity based awards were made to executlueag 2008.

Restricted stock unit activity for the year endegtBmber 31, 2008 is presented below (in thous@xdept per share
data):

Weighted

Average
Grant Date

Shares Fair Value

Non-vested at January 1, 2( — $ —
Grantel 357 17.2:

Veste( —

Forfeitec ES) 10.4¢
Non-vested at December 31, 2( 324 17.9:2
Grantel 83 3.1t
Veste( (107) 14.0¢
Forfeitec _(30 10.27
Non-vested at December 31, 2( 27C $ 15.7¢

The total fair value of RSUs recognized as expelusing the years ended December 31, 2008, 20072@06 was
approximately $2.2 million, $2.3 million, and $Gpectively.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

The Company’s 2000 Employee Stock Purchase PIaBRFE) permits eligible employees of the Compangurchase
newly issued shares of common stock, at a pricaleéquB5% of the lower of the fair market value(9rthe first day of the
offering period or (ii) the last day of each six#mtio purchase period, through payroll deductiongpofo 10% of their annual
cash compensation. During 2008, the Company isg8dib0 shares under this plan and received $72670€8sh through
employee withholdings. During 2007, the Companyesk113,433 shares under this plan and receiv@dnillion in cash.
During 2006, the Company issued 78,808 shares uhidgpolan and received $683,000 in cash. The fatavalue of ESPP
awards recognized as expense during the years &eteinber 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was $494,003,33d9 and
$535,000, respectively.
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7. Income Taxes
Total income taxes for the years ended Decembe2®18, 2007 and 2006 were allocated as followsh@usands):

Year Ended December 3:

200¢ 2007 200€
To income $(947)  $20,75¢ $(2,70€)
To stockholder equity 18t (9,772) (733)
Total income taxe $(762)  $10,98¢ $(3,439)

Income (loss) before taxes for the years endedibeee31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 is comprised of theving (in
thousands):

Year Ended December 3:

200¢ 2007 200€
Domestit $(3.48()  $57,86! $(3,490)
Foreigr 1,29( 1,65¢ 1,22

$(2,190)  $59,51¢ $(2,267)

The provision (benefit) for income taxes for thargeended December 31, 2008, 2007 and 2006 is sedmf the
following (in thousands):

Year Ended December 3:

200¢ 2007 200€
Current
Feders $ 3,23( $23,61( $ 4,54¢
State 34z 1,98¢ 42
Foreigr 60 4 29
Total Curren $ 3,63¢ $25,60( $ 4,617
Deferred
Federz $(3,299  $(2,340)  $(4,98¢)
State (1,299 (2,26¢) (67)
Foreigr 19 (23€) (2,270
Total Deferre: $(4,579 $(4,849)  $(7,32%)
Provision (benefit) for income tax $ (947  $20,75¢ $(2,706)
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The Company’s deferred tax assets and liabiliteassist of the following (in thousands):

December 31

200¢ 2007

Deferred tax asse
Accrued expens $ 4,31« $ 3,871
Inventory obsolescence provis 2,49: 1,11¢
Depreciation and amortizati 4,58¢ 4,257
Deferred rer 254 33¢
Net operating loss and credit carryforwi 4,68 2,78
Stoclk-based compensati 4,201 3,91¢
Unrecognized tax benet 4,13: 2,43¢
Deferred tax asse 24,66 18,73(
Valuation allowanc (2,746 (1,399
Net deferred tax ass: $21,91¢ $17,33¢

The provision (benefit) for income taxes reconcitethe amount computed by applying the statutedefal income tax
rate of 34% in 2008, 35% in 2007, and 34% in 2@0®tome before provision for income taxes as fefidin thousands):

Year Ended December 3:

200¢ 2007 200€
Federal tax provision, at statutory | $ (745 $20,83: $ (769
State tax, net of federal ben 47 1,19( (45)
Change in valuation allowar 1,352 (9849) (2,78])
Research and development cre (3,259 (951 (635)
Shar«-based compensati 1,08: 92¢ 997
FIN 48 Interes 36& — —
Othel 304 (25€) 527

$ (947)  $20,75¢ $(2,706)

At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company provédealuation allowance for its deferred tax asketsvhich
significant uncertainty exists regarding the ultimeealization. At December 31, 2008, the allowarmesisted of $1.4 millic
relating to certain of the Company net operatirgs loarryforwards and $1.4 million related to thenpany’s Canadian
deferred tax assets. At December 31, 2007, thevafloe consisted of $1.4 million relating to certafrthe Company’s net
operating loss carryforwards. The Company evalugteteferred tax assets for future realization mattlices it by a valuation
allowance to the extent significant uncertaintysexi Many factors are considered when assessiriétdood of future
realization of deferred tax assets including recemtulative earnings experience, expectationstoféutaxable income, the
carryforward periods available for tax reportinggmses, and other relevant factors. Managemeravelithat it is more
likely than not that the results of future operatiavill generate sufficient future taxable incoroedalize deferred tax assets,
net of the valuation allowance.

At December 31, 2008, the Company has U.S. fedetabperating loss carryforwards of approximately/$million.
Federal net operating loss carryforwards expineadbus dates from 2011 through 2024. The CompasyCalifornia net
operating loss carryforwards of approximately $&ilion, which expire at various
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dates from 2009 through 2014. On September 23,,208&tate of California passed tax legislatiat,tamong other things,
placed a moratorium on the use of net operating dasryforwards and limited the use of certaindsedits to reduce state
income tax liability in 2008 and 2009. The Compéiag a California research and development taxtocadiyforward of
approximately $2.2 million. The Company also hatefal research and development tax credit carrndotes of
approximately $50,000. The tax credits have norexipin date.

It is the Company’s intention to reinvest undigttiéd earnings of its foreign subsidiaries and tmeiedefinitely
postpone their remittance. Accordingly, no provisias been made for foreign withholding taxes oitddrStates income
taxes which may become payable if undistributediags of the foreign subsidiary were paid as dinitketo the Company.

On January 1, 2007, the Company adopted the pomgsif FIN 48. The Company’s adoption of the stasdld not
have a material impact on retained earnings. Tta liability for unrecognized tax benefits as bétdate of adoption was
$3.7 million. As of December 31, 2008 and 2007 tttal liability for unrecognized tax benefits wsE3.6 million and
$15.2 million, respectively.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amauwiftunrecognized tax benefits is as follows (ioutands):

Amount
Unrecognized tax benefits balance at January 17 $40,66:
Increases related to current and prior year takipos 67¢€
Settlement —
Lapse in statute of limitatio —
Unrecognized tax benefits balance at December®I; 41,33¢
Increases related to current and prior year takipos 96
Settlement —
Lapse in statute of limitatio —
Unrecognized tax benefits balance at December®lg $41,43¢

Included in the balance of unrecognized tax bemetiDecember 31, 2008 and 2007 are $36.5 millah$38.8 million,
respectively, of tax benefits that, if recognizeduld affect the effective tax rate.

The Company recognizes interest and penaltieserktatunrecognized tax benefits in the provisianoome taxes. As
of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company recappobximately $572,000 and $100,000, respectilgccrued
interest related to uncertain tax positions.

It is reasonably possible that a decrease of ajpaizly $3.2 million to the gross unrecognized tbexefits may be
required within the next twelve months. This adjustt relates to the possible settlement of InteéRealenue Service audits
for the Company’s 2006 tax year that are curreintiyrocess and expected to be completed withinvievelonths, and the
expiration of the statue of limitations in varicaging jurisdictions.

The Company and its subsidiaries file U.S., statd, foreign income tax returns in jurisdictionshwirious statutes of
limitations. The Internal Revenue Service is cutlyeconducting an examination of the Company’s UnSome tax return for
2006. The Company is also subject to various inctaxexaminations for the 1996 through 2008 calegdars due to the
availability of net operating loss carryforward®ieTCompany believes appropriate provisions fooat$tanding issues have
been made for all jurisdictions and all
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open years. However, because audit outcomes aniiimg of audit settlements are subject to siguaifit uncertainty, the
Company'’s current estimate of the total amountsnoécognized tax benefits could increase or deerfasall open years.

8. Commitments and Contingencie:
Capital Leases
During the years ended December 31, 2008, 20072@0@, the Company purchased equipment under tégzites for
$150,000, $510,000, and $0, respectively.

The following is a schedule by year of future minimlease payments under capital leases togethethégtpresent
value of the net minimum lease payments as of Dbeeil, 2008 (in thousands):

For the Period Ending December 3: Amount
200¢ $ 22C
201C 114
2011 114
201z 56

Total minimum lease payme! 504
Less: amounts representing inte (28
Present value of net minimum lease payn 47¢€
Less: current portic (207)
Long-term portiot $ 26¢

Operating Leases

The Company leases its office space and certaiipegut under non-cancelable operating leases witiows terms
through 2012. The minimum annual rent on the Comisasffice space is subject to increases basedaiadsrental
adjustment terms, property taxes and operatingcantl contains rent concessions. For financialrteyy purposes, rent
expense is recognized on a straitiie- basis over the term of the lease. Accordingint expense recognized in excess of
paid is reflected as deferred rent. Rental expanger operating leases in 2008, 2007 and 2006 p@a®ximately $3.0
million, $4.1 million and $3.3 million, respectiyelThe Company'’s office space lease contains imnvesin the form of
reimbursement from the landlord for a portion af ttosts of leasehold improvements incurred by thagany which are
recorded to rent expense on a straight-line bags the term of the lease.

The minimum future lease payments under non-cablgetaperating leases as of December 31, 2008 dodl@ss (in
thousands):

For the Period Ending December 3: Amount

200¢ $2,74¢

201C 2,78¢

2011 531

201z 35C

Thereafte —
Total minimum lease payme! $6,40¢
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Royalties

The Company has license agreements which requivenibke royalty payments generally based on aepéaige of the
sales price of its products using certain techriekgrhe Company will also accrue for contingerygity costs in cases whe
it does not have agreements by using its curresttdstimate of its potential obligation. Thesereates are based on various
market data information and other relevant infoioratlf the Company enters into such agreementah@n additional
market data becomes available, it will revise g#sneates accordingly. During the year ended Decerdbe2008, the
Company revised its estimate of its contingentilitgifor royalty costs and reduced its liability 1$2.3 million based on its
assessment of current data. In 2008, 2007 and #0®@&ompany incurred royalty expense of $14.8iom)I$22.0 million,
and $13.6 million, respectively.

Management Retention Agreements

During 2005 and 2004, the Company entered into gemant retention agreements with certain of the izmy's
executive officers. The agreements entitle thospl@yees to enumerated severance benefits if, witiérone year period
immediately following a change of control (as defirin the agreement) or at the direction of an &eqin anticipation of
such an event, the Company terminates the empleyseployment other than for cause or disabilittheremployee
terminates his or her employment for good reasties& severance benefits would include a lump symmeat of three time
the sum of the employee’s annual base salary thefféct and the applicable targeted annual barargjnued employee
benefits, accelerated vesting of the employee'sksitacentive awards, a tax equalization paymemditoinate the effects of
any applicable excise tax, and financial plannind autplacement services.

In November 2007, the Company entered into an eymmdait agreement with the Company’s Chief Execubiicer,
with an initial term of three years. Under the @agnent, Mr. Leparulo will continue to serve as ExeeuChairman of the
Board and as the Company’s most senior officer. ddreement entitles Mr. Leparulo to enumeratedrsece benefits under
various circumstances if Mr. Leparulo’s employmeith the Company is terminated. These enumerategetaece benefits
vary according to whether (a) Mr. Leparulo’s empt@nt with the Company is terminated within the gaar period
immediately following a change in control (as defirin the agreement) or at the direction of an meqgin anticipation of
such an event; (b) the Company terminates his gmm#at other than for cause or he terminates hidamyent for good
reason; or (c) the Company terminates his employfieertause or he terminates his employment foeiothan good reason.
Depending on the cause of the employment terminatice enumerated severance benefits include a summppayment
ranging from one to three years annual base stieryin effect, an additional lump sum bonus paymepresenting certain
multiples of his targeted bonus, and varying perioflongoing employee benefits including healttecard outplacement
services.

Legal Matters

The Company is, from time to time, party to varideal proceedings arising in the ordinary courfdeusiness. Based
on evaluation of these matters and discussions@athpany’s counsel, the Company believes thatliliigsi arising from or
sums paid in settlement of these existing mattensldvnot have a material adverse effect on its alihsted results of
operations or financial condition.

On September 15, 2008, and September 18, 200§ utative securities class action lawsuits werelfitethe United
States District Court for the Southern DistrictG#lifornia on behalf of persons who allegedly pasgd our stock between
February 5, 2007 and August 19, 2008. On Decemhe2d08, these lawsuits were consolidated intmglsiaction entitled
Backe v. Novatel Wireless, Inc., e, Case No. 08-CV-01689-H (RBB)
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(Consolidated with Case No. 08-CV-01714-H (RBB)JID.C., S.D. Cal.). The plaintiffs filed the coridated complaint on
behalf of persons who allegedly purchased our sbetween February 27, 2007 and November 10, 2008 consolidated
complaint names the Company and certain of oueatiand former officers as defendants. The coregdicomplaint
alleges generally that we issued materially fate® misleading statements during the relevant tieréod regarding the
strength of our products and market share, ounéi@results and our internal controls. The plffisire seeking an
unspecified amount of damages and costs. On Fgh®u&009, all defendants filed a motion to disnties consolidated
complaint. A hearing on the motion to dismiss isgantly scheduled for March 30, 2009. The Compatanis to defend this
litigation vigorously. Due to the preliminary naguof this litigation, the Company is unable to mstie the range of exposure
associated with this litigation.

On October 8, 2008, a purported shareholder, J&senbaum, filed a derivative action in the SupeCiourt for the
State of California, County of San Diego, agaihst Company, as nominal defendant, and certain ofwuent and former
officers and directors, including the members af Audit Committee, as defendants. Two other pugzbghareholders, Ma
Campos and Chris Arnsdorf, separately filed subbistiynsimilar lawsuits in the same court on OctoB8, 2008 and
November 5, 2008, respectively. The complaintgallelaims for breach of fiduciary duties for disgeamting false and
misleading statements and for failing to maintaieiinal controls, unjust enrichment, abuse of @bnénd gross
mismanagement, in each case for the period fromuaep 2007 to the date on which each complaintfileds. The plaintiffs
allege that the Company misrepresented its finhnegalts by failing to disclose that it recognizegitain revenues in
violation of generally accepted accounting prinegpand the Company’s own internal revenue cuttaffgdures.
Additionally, the plaintiffs allege that the Compyamisrepresented the status of the accountingwes@nducted by the Aud
Committee. The plaintiffs are seeking an unspetifimount for damages sustained by the Companynejts' fees and
costs, and appropriate equitable relief. We ardieifiling a stipulation with plaintiffs that theedvative actions be
consolidated. The Company intends to defend thggation vigorously. Due to the preliminary natwafethis litigation, the
Company is unable to estimate the range of expaageciated with this litigation.

Indemnification

In the normal course of business, the Company gieadly enters into agreements that require the oy to
indemnify and defend its customers for, among othieigs, claims alleging that the Company’s prodiictringe third-party
patents or other intellectual property rights. TQwmpanys maximum exposure under these indemnificationipiavs cannc
be estimated.

On January 9, 2009, DNT, LLC filed a putative paiafringement lawsuit in the United States Digt@ourt for the
Eastern District of Virginia against several wisdecarriers, including Sprint Nextel Corporatio &ferizon Wireless, Inc.,
as defendants. The complaint alleges, among dtiregg, that the defendants’ use, sale and impontatf specified wireless
modem cards for computers designed to be usedchinmetion with the defendants’ cellular networksistitutes direct
infringement of U.S. Patent No. RE 37,660, which phaintiff allegedly owns. The complaint also ghs that customer use
of the products sold by the defendants constitinidisect infringement of the patent allegedly owtgdthe plaintiff. The
plaintiff is seeking an amount of damages equalottess than a reasonable royalty for the saladf énfringing product, an
injunction, costs and other relief as appropriitee Company is currently evaluating this mattedetermine the nature and
extent of its obligation to indemnify and/or defeéBgrint Nextel and Verizon Wireless in this lawsiite to the preliminary
nature of this action, the Company is unable tomege the range of exposure associated with thitema
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On January 16, 2009, Datascape, Inc. filed a metgtatent infringement lawsuit in the United Stdbéstrict Court for
the Northern District of Georgia against Sprint 8pem, L.P. and Sprint Solutions, Inc. as defenslafihe complaint alleges
generally that the defendants have engaged in #meifacture, sale, import and/or use of productgaarpfocesses that
constitutes infringement of U.S. Patent Nos. 5,842, 5,905,908, 6,366,967, 6,684,269 and 6,745\@bkh the plaintiff
allegedly owns. The plaintiff is seeking an amooinlamages no less than a reasonable royaltyetdashages, an injunctic
attorney’s fees and costs and additional reliefgsropriate. The Company is currently evaluating thatter to determine the
nature and extent of its obligation to indemnifylaom defend the defendants in this lawsuit. Duthéopreliminary nature of
this matter, the Company is unable to estimateahge of exposure associated with this matter.

9. Segment Information and Concentrations of Risk
Segment Information

The Company operates in the wireless data modemaémgy industry and all sales of the Company’dprts and
services are made in this segment. Management naaloesions about allocating resources based omtiEperating
segment.

The Company has operations in the United Statesadzg Europe and Asia. The book values of the Cayipassets in
the United States, Canada, Europe and Asia asadrbeer 31, 2008 were $253.5 million, $6.3 milli&892,000 and
$59,000, respectively, and as of December 31, 268 $288.8 million, $6.3 million, $1.5 million a®d, respectively.

For the year ended December 31, 2008, approxima&ty of revenues were derived from internationat@mers
(Europe/Middle East/Africa 36%, Asia/Australia 0%s compared to approximately 25% of revenues difizen
international customers (Europe/Middle East/Afi23%b6, Asia/Australia 2%), for the year ended Decan®ie 2007. For the
year ended December 31, 2006, approximately 37féveinues were derived from international custortteusope/Middle
East/Africa 27%, Asia/Australia 10%).

Concentrations of Risk

Substantially all of the Company’s revenue is dedifrom sales of wireless access products. Anyifgignt decline in
market acceptance of the Company’s products drdrfihancial condition of the Company’s customecaile have an
adverse effect on the Company’s results of operatamd financial condition.

A significant portion of the Company’s revenue cerfrem a small number of customers. Four customersunted for
26.2%, 16.1%, 15.4%, and 12.6% of 2008 revenuageltustomers accounted for 34.9%, 25.9%, and 16207
revenues. Two customers accounted for 38.2% arnid 6f 2006 revenues.

The Company outsources its manufacturing to twaltharty manufacturers. If one or both of them werexperience
delays, disruptions, capacity constraints or qualintrol problems in its manufacturing operatigm®duct shipments to the
Company’s customers could be delayed or its custoeruld consequently elect to cancel the undeglgier, which would
negatively impact the Company’s revenues and esfilbperations.

10. Retirement Savings Plar

The Company has a defined contribution 401 (k) eaint savings plan (the “Plan”). SubstantiallyoAllhe Company’s
U.S. employees are eligible to participate in treRfter meeting certain minimum age and senecgiirements. Employees
may make discretionary contributions to the Pldsjext to Internal Revenue Service limitations. Eoypl matching
contributions amounted to $803,000, $653,000 aray $OO0 for the years ended December 31, 2008, 2082006,
respectively. Employer matching contributions \@str a two-year period.
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The Company has a registered retirement savingsfptats Canadian employees. Substantially athefCompany’s
Canadian employees are eligible to participatdimplan. Employees make discretionary contribitinthe plan subject to
local limitations. Employer contributions amounteds223,000, $205,000 and $77,000 for the yearscebe:cember 31,
2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

11. Related Party Transactions

On December 5, 2008, the Board of Directors (thedifl”) ofthe Company authorized the Company to engage NMn
Ross as a consultant to the Company, effective iIdbee 8, 2008 (the “Engagement”). Mr. Ross is cutyeammember of the
Board and was employed by the Company from Augd802intil February 2007. Pursuant to the EngagenvmtRoss will
receive a monthly fee of $15,000 in exchange ferpnoviding consulting services to the Company wétspect to certain
strategic initiatives. The Engagement has an In#ian of three months; thereafter it automaticatkgends for additional thr
month terms unless either party provides at leestteeks prior written notice of its election tontgénate the Engagement at
the end of the applicable term. Total payments mtadiér. Ross during fiscal 2008 under the agreememe $0. At
December 31, 2008, the Company’s total indebtedteelss. Ross for unpaid services rendered is $1(5,00

12. Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)

The following is a summary of unaudited quartedgults of operations for the years ended Decenthe2(®8 and
2007.

Quarter
First Secont Third Fourth
(in thousands, except per share amount

2008

Total revenu $ 87,83( $89,63( $ 78,39¢ $ 65,11¢
Gross margi 21,711 22,67¢ 16,66 7,69(
Net income (loss) applicable to common stockho 1,83: 952 (1,04¢) (2,982)
Basic net earnings (loss) per common s 0.0¢ 0.0z (0.0%) (0.10)
Diluted net earnings (loss) per common s 0.0¢ 0.0z (0.09) (0.10)
2007

Total revenu $109,84¢ $97,427 $104,61¢  $118,01:
Gross margi 33,99/ 30,61¢ 31,01Z 35,21¢
Net income applicable to common stockholi 10,10¢ 7,961 9,19t 11,50(
Basic net earnings per common sl 0.34 0.2¢ 0.2¢ 0.3t
Diluted net earnings per common st 0.34 0.2t 0.2¢ 0.3t
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Novatel Wireless, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balgineets of Novatel Wireless, Inc. and subsidiaxteof
December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the related coiasetl statements of operations, stockholders’ yaquitl comprehensive
income (loss), and cash flows for each of the yeatise three-year period ended December 31, 200&nnection with our
audits of the consolidated financial statementsalse have audited financial statement SchedulEhkse consolidated
financial statements and financial statement sdeeghe the responsibility of the Company’s manag@meur responsibility
is to express an opinion on these consolidatea iahstatements and financial statement Schedblasied on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstais of the Public Company Accounting OversighamlioUnited
States). Those standards require that we plan arfidrm the audit to obtain reasonable assurancetatirether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement. Alit acludes examining, on a test basis, evidengparting the amounts
and disclosures in the financial statements. Aritalsb includes assessing the accounting pringipged and significant
estimates made by management, as well as evalubgrgyerall financial statement presentation. \&elkie that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetaerferred to above present fairly, in all mategapects, the financial
position of Novatel Wireless, Inc. and subsidiaaeof December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the resut®ir operations and
their cash flows for each of the years in the tiyear period ended December 31, 2008, in conformitly U.S. generally
accepted accounting principles. Also in our opinitee related financial statement Schedule Il, wtamsidered in relation to
the basic consolidated financial statements takemwahole, presents fairly, in all material respgetite information set forth
therein.

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated findrst&tements, the Company adopted the disclosordgions of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No, E&it Value Measurementin 2008, and changed its method of
accounting for uncertainty in income taxes in 2602 to the adoption of Financial Accounting Stadddoard Interpretatic
48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes-an iptetation of FASB Statement No. 109

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Ro@snited
States), Novatel Wireless, Inc.’s internal contreér financial reporting as of December 31, 20@&dul on criteria
established imnternal Control—Integrated Framewoiksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatifrthe
Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report datectMa5, 2009 expressed an unqualified opinion ereffectiveness
the Company'’s internal control over financial rep.

/sl KPMG LLP

San Diego, California
March 15, 2009
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SCHEDULE I
NOVATEL WIRELESS, INC.

Valuation and Qualifying Accounts
For the Years Ended December 31, 2008, 2007 and B8Q(h thousands):

Balance Al Additions Deductions Balance
Beginning Charged to From At End
of Year Operations Reserves of Year
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts:
December 31, 20( $ 37¢ $ 1,25¢ $ 624 $1,01(C
December 31, 20( 631 38¢ 63¢ 37¢
December 31, 20( 96 63t 10C 631
Warranty:
December 31, 20( 3,077 2,281 1,887 3,471
December 31, 20( 1,46¢ 3,03¢ 1,42: 3,077
December 31, 20( 641 2,08¢ 1,26: 1,46¢
Deferred Tax Asset Valuation Allowance
December 31, 20( 1,39¢ 1,352 — 2,74¢
December 31, 20( 2,37¢ — 984 1,39¢
December 31, 20( 5,207 — 2,82¢ 2,37¢
Sales Returns Allowance
December 31, 20( 174 74¢ 43¢ 47¢
December 31, 20( 95 80¢ 73C 174
December 31, 20( 24 364 29¢ 95
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EXHIBIT INDEX

The following Exhibits are filed as part of, or orporated by reference into, this Report on ForaiK10

Exhibit

Number Description

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatinoofporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the @any’s
Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2000, filed M&€¢h2001)

3.2 Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restatetifi€ate of Incorporation (incorporated by refecerto

Exhibit 3.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report omird.0-Q for the period ended September 30, 2002 fi
November 14, 200z

3.3 Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restatetifi€ate of Incorporation (incorporated by refecerto
Exhibit 3.2 to the Company’s Amendment No. 1 torrdi0-K on Form 10-K/A for the year ended
December 31, 2003, filed March 31, 20!

3.4 Amended and Restated Certificate of DesignaticBesfes A Convertible Preferred Stock (incorporatgd
reference to Exhibit 3.4 to the Company’s Amendniémit1 to Form 10-K on Form 10-K/A for the year edd
December 31, 2003, filed March 31, 20

35 Certificate of Designation of Series B ConvertiBieeferred Stock (incorporated by reference to EkBib to
the Company’s Amendment No. 1 to Form 10-K on F&f¥K/A for the year ended December 31, 2003, filed
March 31, 2004

3.6 Bylaws (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2He Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for tleary
ended December 31, 2000, filed on March 27, 2i
4.1 Amended and Restated Registration Rights Agreerdated as of June 15, 1999, by and among the Compan

and certain of its stockholders (incorporated bgnence to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Registirati
Statement on Form-1 (No. 33:-42570), filed July 28, 2000, as amend

4.2 Amended and Restated Investors’ Rights Agreemat¢ddas of June 30, 2000, by and among the Company
and certain of its stockholders (incorporated bgnence to Exhibit 10.5 to the Company’s Registrati
Statement on Form-1 (No. 33:-42570), filed July 28, 2000, as amend

4.3 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of Septethe2002, by and among the Company and certaits of
stockholders (incorporated by reference to ExHitiitto the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-kedfi
October 21, 200z

4.4 Form of Securities Purchase Agreement enterednintonnection with the Company’s 2003 Series B
Convertible Preferred Stock Financing (incorpordigdeference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Company’s Cuitrre
Report on Form-K, filed March 28, 2003

4.5 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of March2023, entered into in connection with the Compgmny
2003 Series B Convertible Preferred Stock Finan@imgprporated by reference to Exhibit 4.8 to the
Compan'’s Current Report on Forn-K, filed March 28, 2003

4.6 Securities Purchase Agreement, dated as of JahBaB004, entered into in connection with the Conyfma
January 2004 Common Stock and Warrant Financingsketion (incorporated by reference to Exhibit QG@®
the Compan’s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2003, filed Mdrgh2004;

4.7 Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of Janliar2004, entered into in connection with the Conyfma
January 2004 Common Stock and Warrant Financingsketion (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1G®
the Compan’s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2003, filed Mdrgh2004;

10.1* Amended and Restated 1997 Employee Stock Optian(P1897 Plan”) (incorporated by reference to Exthib
10.1 to the Compar' s Registration Statement on For-1 (No. 33:-42570), filed July 28, 2000, as amend
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Exhibit

Number

10.2*

10.3*

10.4*

10.5*

10.6*

10.7*

10.8*

10.9*

10.10*

10.11*

10.12*

10.13*

10.14*

10.16*

Description

Amended and Restated Novatel Wireless, Inc. 2000k3hcentive Plan*2000 Pla’") (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s QuaytBport on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended Jun@@07,
filed August 9, 2007

Form of Executive Officer Stock Option Agreementlanthe 2000 Plan (incorporated by reference tatiixh
10.3 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-Ktlie year ended December 31, 2005, filed March 16,
2006)

Form of Director Stock Option Agreement under tB8@Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.the
Compan’s Annual Report on Form -K for the year ended December 31, 2005, filed Mda¢h2006]

Form of Amendment of Stock Option Agreements, daitdg 20, 2006, by and between the Company and
Optionee with respect to the 1997 Plan (incorparatereference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Qaréy
Report on Form 1-Q for the period ended September 30, 2006, filedexter 9, 200€

Form of Amendment of Stock Option Agreements, daidg 20, 2006, by and between the Company and
Optionee with respect to the 2000 Plan (incorparatereference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Qaréy
Report on Form 1-Q for the period ended September 30, 2006, filedexter 9, 200€

Form of Amendment of Stock Option Agreements, daidg 20, 2006, by and between the Company and
Optionee with respect to the 2000 Plan and graatenpursuant thereto in 2004 and subsequentlyrfincated
by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s QardytReport on Form 10-Q for the period ended Saptr
30, 2006, filed November 9, 200

Amended and Restated Novatel Wireless, Inc. 200pl&me Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by refer&y
Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report amrfr 10-Q for the period ended June 30, 2007, filed
August 9, 2007

Form of Restricted Share Award Agreement for retd stock granted to non-employee directors (poa@ted
by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s @rar Report on Form 10-Q for the period ended RMhe
2006, filed August 9, 200¢

Form of Restricted Share Award Agreement for retd stock granted to executive officers (incorpeatdy
reference to Exhibit 10.11 to the Company’s Quérteeport on Form 10-Q for the period ended June2806,
filed August 9, 2006

Form of 2006 Management Bonus Plan (incorporatecefgrence to Exhibit 10.12 to the Company’s Qufyte
Report on Form 1-Q for the period ended June 30, 2006, filed Au§u&006)

Form of Indemnification Agreement by and between@ompany and each of its executive officers anetthrs
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to thwrpany’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (N8- 33
42570), filed September 14, 2000, as amen

Form of Change of Control Letter Agreement by aathieen the Company and certain of its executivieerf
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to tr@pany’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the getended
June 30, 2004, filed August 16, 20(

Form of 2007 Executive Officer Bonus Plan (incogied by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form -Q for the period ended March 31, 2007, filed May 2@07)

Employment Agreement, dated November 2, 2007, bybetween Peter V. Leparulo and the Comg
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to tr@pany’s Quarterly Report on Form @@for the quarter end:
September 30, 2007, filed November 9, 2C
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Exhibit
Number

10.17*

10.18**
21

23.1%
24
311

31.2

32.1

Description

Separation Agreement, dated December 8, 2008, dpaiveen George B. Weinert and the Comg
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to tr@pany’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed Decemb@r
2008)

Consulting Agreement, dated Decemb&rZ008, by and between John R. Ross and the Company

Subsidiaries of Novatel Wireless, Inc. (incorpodaltg reference to Exhibit 21 to the Company’s ArnrReport
on Form 1K for the year ended December 31, 2005, filed Ma¢h2006]

Consent of KPMG LLP, Independent Registered Pukticounting Firm
Power of Attorney (See signature pa

Certification of our Principal Executive Officer@pted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-G)dtpf
2002.**

Certification of our Principal Financial Officer @pted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-G)d¢pf
2002.**

Certification of Principal Executive Officer andiftipal Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. &t 1350,
as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sar-Oxley Act of 2002.*

*  Management contract, compensatory plan, or arraegt
**  Filed herewitl
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